
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Approval of minutes from the September 2, 2015 Landmark Board Meeting  

 
3. Public Participation for Items not on the Agenda 

 
4. Discussion of Landmark Alteration, Demolition Applications issued and pending 

• Statistical Report 
 

5. Public Hearings 
  

A. Public hearing and consideration of an application for the on-site relocation of a 
contributing accessory building at 410 Highland Avenue per Section 9-11-18 of the 
Boulder Revised Code, 1981 (HIS2015-00229). Applicant: Joel Smiley, Owner: David 
Wurtz 
 

B. Public hearing and consideration of a Landmark Alteration Certificate to construct a 
405 sq. ft. addition to the main house, modify the fenestration on the south 
elevation, and construct a new 280 sq. ft. free-standing, one-car garage, at 800 
Arapahoe Avenue per section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code (HIS2015-
00232). Applicant: Steve Dodd, Owner: Historic Boulder 
 

C. Public hearing and consideration of an application for the removal of outdoor 
seating at 1236 Canyon Boulevard, the Glen Huntington Bandshell in Central Park, 
per Section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code, 1981 (HIS2015-00237). 
Applicant/Owner: Parks and Recreation Department, City of Boulder   

 
6. Matters from the Landmarks Board, Planning Department, and City Attorney  

A. Chautauqua sidewalk at Baseline Rd., Melanie Sloan & Brian Wiltshire 
Transportation engineering 

B. Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan update, Caitlin Zacharias 
C. Update Memo 
D. Subcommittee Update 

1) Design Guidelines and Code Revisions 
2) Outreach and Engagement 
3) Potential Resources 

 
7. Debrief Meeting/Calendar Check 

 
8. Adjournment 

 

 
  

CITY OF BOULDER  
LANDMARKS BOARD MEETING 

 
            DATE:    Wednesday, October 7, 2015 
            TIME:     6:00 pm 
            PLACE:  1777 Broadway, Municipal Building, City Council Chambers 
 
 
 
 
 



For more information contact James Hewat at hewatj@bouldercolorado.gov or (303) 441-3207. 
You can also access this agenda via the website at:  

https://bouldercolorado.gov/historic-preservation then select “Next Landmarks Board Meeting”. 
 

PUBLIC HEARING PROCEDURES 
 
Board members who will be present are:  
  

Kate Remley, Acting Chair 
 Fran Sheets 
 Deborah Yin  

George Clements 
Briana Butler 

 
John Gerstle*Planning Board representative without a vote 

    
The Landmarks Board is constituted under the Landmarks Presentation Ordinance 
(Ordinance No. 4721; Title 9, Chapter 11, Boulder Revised Code, 1981) to designate 
landmarks and historic districts, and to review and approve applications for Landmark 
Alteration Certificates on such buildings or in such districts.   
 
Public hearing items will be conducted in the following manner: 

 
1. Board members will explain all ex-parte contacts they may have had regarding the 

item.*  
2. Those who wish to address the issue (including the applicant, staff members and 

public) are sworn in. 
3. A historic preservation staff person will present a recommendation to the board. 
4. Board members will ask any questions to historic preservation staff. 
5. The applicant will have a maximum of 10 minutes to make a presentation or 

comments to the board.  
6. The public hearing provides any member of the public three minutes within which 

to make comments and ask questions of the applicant, staff and board members. 
7. After the public hearing is closed, there is discussion by board members, during 

which the chair of the meeting may permit board questions to and answers from 
the staff, the applicant, or the public. 

8. Board members will vote on the matter; an affirmative vote of at least three 
members of the board is required for approval. The motion will state: Findings and 
Conclusions. 

  
* Ex-parte contacts are communications regarding the item under consideration that a board 
member may have had with someone prior to the meeting. 
 
All City of Boulder board meetings are digitally recorded and are available from the Central 
Records office at (303) 441-3043. A full audio transcript of the Landmarks Board meeting becomes 
available on the city of Boulder website approximately ten days after a meeting. Action minutes 
are also prepared by a staff person and are available approximately one month after a meeting. 
        
 

mailto:hewatj@bouldercolorado.gov
https://bouldercolorado.gov/historic-preservation


DRA
 

 

CITY OF BOULDER  
LANDMARKS BOARD  

September 2, 2015 
900 Baseline Road, Chautauqua Community House 

6:00 p.m. 
 
The following are the action minutes of the September 2, 2015 City of Boulder Landmarks 
Board meeting. A digital recording and a permanent set of these minutes (maintained for a period 
of seven years) are retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-441-3043). You may also listen 
to the recording on-line at: www.boulderplandevelop.net. 
 
BOARD MEMBERS:   
Kate Remley, Acting Chair 
Mike Schreiner 
Fran Sheets 
Deborah Yin 
*John Gerstle *Planning Board representative without a vote 
  
STAFF MEMBERS: 
Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 
Angela Smelker, Historic Preservation Intern 
Holly Opansky, Landmarks Board Secretary 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 The roll having been called, Acting Chair K. Remley declared a quorum at 6:02 p.m. and the 
 following business was conducted.  
 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

On a motion by M. Schreiner, seconded by, F. Sheets the Landmarks Board approved (4-0) 
the minutes as amended of the August 5, 2015 board meeting.  
 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
Susan Connelly, Executive Director of the Chautauqua Association, welcomed and offered 
herself and fellow colleague, Deb Vandenhoner, as resources. 
 
Mike Boyers, 2784 Mapleton Avenue, spoke in support of a proposal to relocate two 
buildings and landmark five properties on the 1000 block of 14th Street.  
 
Abby Daniels, 1123 Spruce Street, Executive Director of Historic Boulder, addressed the 
board, voicing concern that the relocation of two buildings on the 1000 block of 14th Street 
was advertised as demolition of the two buildings when it should have indicated that the 
applications were for relocations and that the applications should have been referred to the 
full Landmarks Board for a public hearing.  

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/


DRA
 

 

Dan Corson, 757 8th Street, former chairman of the Landmarks Board, voiced concern 
regarding a lack of transparency in the decision to relocate two buildings on the 1000 block 
of 14th Street suggesting that board members should not be swayed by staff influencing such 
decisions.  
 
Karl Anuta, 4840 Thunderbird Drive, former chairman of the Landmarks Board, voiced 
concern regarding the Chautauqua lease, and requested the Landmarks Board review his 
memo about terms and historic preservation concerns.  

 
4. DISCUSSION OF LANDMARK ALTERATION AND DEMOLITION 

APPLICATIONS ISSUED AND PENDING 
• Statistical Report — D. Yin inquired about the permits regarding three partial 

demolitions approved since the new rule change in August 2015; M. Cameron clarified 
the data. F. Sheets inquired about the property at 2245 Arapahoe Avenue; M. Cameron 
replied that this application was withdrawn since the report was run and shared. 

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Public hearing and consideration of an application to designate the building and property 
at 2322 23rd Street as a local historic landmark per Section 9-11-5 of the Boulder Revised 
Code, 1981 (HIS2015-00077). Applicant / Owner: Douglas Johnson and Theresa 
Hernandez. 

 
Staff Presentation  
Angela Smelker, Historic Preservation Intern, presented the item to the board.  
 
Applicant’s Presentation 
Douglas Johnson, 2303 Mapleton Avenue, owner of the 2322 23rd Street property, 
spoke in support of landmark designation.  
 
Public Hearing  
Abby Daniels, 1123 Spruce Street, Director of Historic Boulder, spoke in support of 
landmark designation.  
Kathryn Barth, 2940 20th Street, spoke in support of landmark designation.  
 
Motion  
On a motion by M. Schreiner, and seconded by F. Sheets, the Landmarks Board voted 
(4-0) to recommend to the City Council designation of the property at 2322 23rd Street as 
a local historic landmark, to be known as the Herkert-Glasser Cottage, finding that it 
meets the standards for individual landmark designation in Sections 9-11-1 and 9-11-2, 
B.R.C. 1981, and adopts the staff memorandum dated September 2, 2015, including the 
following as the findings of the Board: 
 
FINDINGS 
The Landmarks Board finds that, based upon the application and evidence presented and 
subject to the conditions of approval, the proposed designation application will be 
consistent with the purposes and standards of the Historic Preservation Ordinance, and: 



DRA
 

 

1. The proposed designation will protect, enhance, and perpetuate a building 
reminiscent of past eras and persons important in local and state history and 
provide a significant example of architecture from the past. Sec. 9-11-1(a), B.R.C. 
1981. 

2. The proposed designation will maintain an appropriate setting and environment 
and will enhance property values, stabilize the neighborhood, promote tourist 
trade and interest, and foster knowledge of the city’s living heritage. 9-11-1(a), 
B.R.C. 1981. 

3. The proposed designation draws a reasonable balance between private property 
rights and the public interest in preserving the city’s cultural, historic, and 
architectural heritage by ensuring that demolition of buildings important to that 
heritage will be carefully weighed with other alternatives. 9-11-1(b), B.R.C. 1981. 

4. The proposed designation is consistent with the criteria specified in Section 9-11-
5(c), B.R.C. 1981. 

    
 
6. MATTERS FROM THE LANDMARKS BOARD, PLANNING DEPARTMENT AND 

CITY ATTORNEY 
A. Tom Carr, City Attorney, offered a presentation on the Chautauqua lease negotiations. 

 
T. Carr provided a background about the facility stating that in 1898 the City of Boulder 
and the Colorado Chautauqua Association (CCA) created this public / private partnership 
where the City owns the land (80 acres) and some buildings and leases 26 acres to CCA, 
whom maintains the buildings. CCA is an independent 501c3.  
 
The basic points of the existing lease are for a 20 years term; the rent is $2,500 moth plus 
$2,000 in lieu of taxes = $4,500 total CCA pays to the City; and the responsibilities of the 
City is to maintain the streets while the CCA maintains the alleys, and the City handles 
the major utility upgrades (part of the capital investment plan); bylaws and articles of 
incorporation, use of facilities, traffic control and parking, and limitation on subleases.  
 
T. Carr proceeded to share the proposed new lease terms and the Board asked questions 
on some of the following topics: 
 
Responsibilities: The Board expressed an interest in detailing how the streets could be 
upgraded, in an effort to maintain the original character per the Guiding Principals (and 
not change the overall feeling of a “mall”). 
 
By-Law and Articles of Incorporation: The Board expressed an interest in finding out 
if there would be an enhanced commitment from the City in the new lease, and if there is 
interest in having more City representation on the CCA board. However, there was 
reservation about making this mandatory to signing the lease, especially if there is 
another way to be more involved; one suggestion would be to consider having City 
representation on the CCA executive committee, instead of on their board, because the 
executive committee helps design the agenda.  
 



DRA
 

 

Use of Facilities and Privately Owned Cottages: The Board expressed support of 
removal of language from the lease that encouraged the CCA to maximize use. It also 
expressed an interest in better understanding the financial operations of Chautauqua 
(perhaps a balance sheet?) in an effort to analyze the potential need(s) for subsidizing or 
increased revenue through events or rent, etc.  The Board expressed an interest in 
supporting “the widest practicable use in terms of scope and time”, as well as in 
supporting “sensitivity to all users”. A concern was expressed about the intent of the 
primary function of the Chautauqua — protecting the site and spirit and guiding 
principals, facility access program, and to support exchange of ideas. To address this, 
there was a suggestion to incorporating some language / intent about “Chautauqua 
historic principals, general design guidelines, and subject to review” to govern CCA 
property. There was also a concern about the current / original level of events being 
curtailed 
 
The Board requested to meet in a timely fashion to create a thoughtful list of 
recommendations above and beyond the above (before the September 10 Joint meeting). 

 
B. Update Memo  

 
C. BDAB Design Guidelines 

1) Kalani Pohao, City of Boulder Urban Designer, presented an update and status of 
the Downtown Urban Design Guidelines draft dated August 28, 2015. 
 

D.  Subcommittee Update 
1) Design Guidelines and Code Revisions 
2) Outreach and Engagement 
3) Potential Resources 

 
7. DEBRIEF MEETING / CALENDAR CHECK 
   
8. ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting adjourned at 9:33 p.m. 
 
 
 
Approved on   , 2015 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Chairperson 



CITY OF BOULDER
Planning and Development Services

1739 Broadway, Third Floor  •  P.O. Box 791, Boulder, CO  80306-0791

phone  303-441-1880  •  fax  303-441-4241  •  web  boulderplandevelop.net

Historic Preservation Reviews 
Between August 21, 2015 and September 21, 2015

This report shows all historic preservation cases on which the application was approved, denied or withdrawn within the 

stated date range. This is based on the last action and the date shown on the main screen of the case.

Landmark Alteration Certificate Reviews Case Count: 5 

Mapleton Hill820 SPRUCE STHIS2015-00151

Construction of garage at rear of property as detailed on plans and specifications dated September 3rd, 2015.

Application ApprovedDecision:  77Sequence #: 

09/03/2015Date: Case Manager: James Hewat

By: LPAB

Downtown1211 PEARL ST BHIS2015-00206

Installation of wall mounted sign as detailed on landmark alteration certificate application dated 08.19.2015.

Application ApprovedDecision:  112Sequence #: 

08/28/2015Date: Case Manager: James Hewat

By: LDRC

Individual Landmark1507 PINE STHIS2015-00216

Replacement of integral gutter system with external half-round system as detailed on landmark alteration certifcate 

application dated 08.12.2015 and per Ldrc notes dated 09.09.2015. Aprroval includes painting and reroofing of house 

as specified.

Application ApprovedDecision:  118Sequence #: 

09/11/2015Date: Case Manager: James Hewat

By: LDRC

Downtown1101 PEARL STHIS2015-00244

Reroofing of building with 60 mil. EPDM membrane as detailed landmark alteration certificate application dated 

09.10.2015.

Application ApprovedDecision:  133Sequence #: 

09/11/2015Date: Case Manager: James Hewat

By: Staff

Downtown2098 BROADWAYHIS2015-00247

Replacement of wall and blade signs as deatiled on landmark alteration certificate application dated 09.10.2015.

Application ApprovedDecision:  135Sequence #: 

09/11/2015Date: Case Manager: James Hewat

By: Staff

Non-Designated Post-1940 Demo/Off Site Relocation Reviews Case Count: 4 

Not Landmarked3130 14TH STHIS2015-00211

Demolition of post-1940, non-designated SFD. Scope of work includes removal of entire main level of one-story SFD 

(subfloor to remain), with basement to remain.

Printed on 09/23/2015 Page 1 of 4HIS Statistical Report



Non-Designated Post-1940 Demo/Off Site Relocation Reviews Case Count: 4 

Application ApprovedDecision:  61Sequence #: 

08/27/2015Date: Case Manager: Marcy Cameron

By: Staff

Not Landmarked2910 18TH STHIS2015-00228

Entire structure demo of a house built in 1958

Application ApprovedDecision:  67Sequence #: 

09/04/2015Date: Case Manager: Marcy Cameron

By: Staff

Not Landmarked655 S 46TH STHIS2015-00236

Demolition of more than 50% of roof in preparation of second story addition.

Application ApprovedDecision:  68Sequence #: 

09/11/2015Date: Case Manager: James Hewat

By: Staff

Not Landmarked1145 GEORGETOWN RDHIS2015-00240

Full structure demolition review for single family dwelling, garage, and associated shed constructed c.1963.

Application ApprovedDecision:  69Sequence #: 

09/04/2015Date: Case Manager: Marcy Cameron

By: Staff

Non-Designated Pre-1940 Demo/Off Site Relocation Reviews Case Count: 5 

Not Landmarked1005 14TH STHIS2015-00225

Relocation of building constructed c.1900 to lot at 1027 14th St. Demolition of rear addition (west side) approved by 

LDRC. Details regarding the relocation to be submitted to Historic Preservation Staff .

Application ApprovedDecision:  24Sequence #: 

09/04/2015Date: Case Manager: Marcy Cameron

By: LDRC

Not Landmarked1027 14TH STHIS2015-00226

Relocation of stone building constructed in 1924 to rear of lot at 1033 14th St. Details of relocation to be submitted to 

Historic Preservation Staff.

Application ApprovedDecision:  25Sequence #: 

09/04/2015Date: Case Manager: Marcy Cameron

By: LDRC

Not Landmarked2620 PINE STHIS2015-00227

Proposed demolition of an accessory building.

Application ApprovedDecision:  26Sequence #: 

08/25/2015Date: Case Manager:

By: LDRC

Not Landmarked948 MARINE STHIS2015-00230

Total demo of a detached garage built in 1920.

Application ApprovedDecision:  27Sequence #: 

09/04/2015Date: Case Manager: Marcy Cameron

By: LDRC

Not Landmarked1122 PLEASANT STHIS2015-00233

Printed on 09/23/2015 Page 2 of 4HIS Statistical Report



Non-Designated Pre-1940 Demo/Off Site Relocation Reviews Case Count: 5 

Removal of a 1990 addition located on the east side of residence and entry vestibule located on south side of residence 

as detailed on drawings dated 08.28th, 2015. Original 1902 house to remain intact. Any changes to the demolition plan 

will require review on new demolition application.

Application ApprovedDecision:  28Sequence #: 

09/10/2015Date: Case Manager: James Hewat

By: LDRC

Printed on 09/23/2015 Page 3 of 4HIS Statistical Report



Historic Preservation Reviews Summary
between 8/21/2015 and 9/21/2015

This summary shows all historic preservation cases on which the application was approved, denied or withdrawn 

within the stated date range. This is based on the last action and the date shown on the main screen of the case.

Landmark Alteration Certificate
Application Approved  5

Non-Designated Post-1940 Demo/Off Site Relocation
Application Approved  4

Non-Designated Pre-1940 Demo/Off Site Relocation
Application Approved  5

Printed on 09/23/2015 Page 4 of 4HIS Statistical Report



M E M O R A N D U M 
 

October 7, 2015 
 

TO:   Landmarks Board 
 
FROM:  Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 

James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
Deb Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 
Angela Smelker, Historic Preservation Intern 

 
SUBJECT:    Public hearing and consideration of an application for the 

on-site relocation of a contributing accessory building at 410 
Highland Ave. per Section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised 
Code, 1981 (HIS2015-00229).   

 
STATISTICS: 
1. Site:     410 Highland Ave.  
2. Zoning:    RL-1 (Residential-Low 1)  
3. Lot size:    13,810 sq. ft. 
4. Garage size:    680 sq. ft. (approx.) 
5. Applicant/Owner:   Joel Smiley/David Wurtz  
6. Date of Construction:  Between 1912 and 1919 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff considers the proposed relocation of the historic garage to be inconsistent 
with the conditions specified in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981; Section 7 of the 
General Design Guidelines; and Section D of the Mapleton Hill Design Guidelines.  
Staff recommends that the Landmarks Board adopt the following motion:  

I move that the Landmarks Board adopt the staff memorandum dated October 7, 2015, as 
the findings of the board and deny the Landmark Alteration Certificate request for the 
relocation shown on plans dated 08/26/2015, finding that it does not meet the standards 
for issuance of a Landmark Alteration Certificate in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981. 

 
SUMMARY: 
• On Aug. 26, 2015, the applicant submitted a Landmark Alteration Certificate 

application to relocate the garage on the property at 410 Highland Ave.  

Agenda Item # 5A Page 1 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

• Because the proposal calls for the relocation of a building in a historic district, 
review by the full Board is required. 

• Staff considers that the 1912 house and garage, which were constructed 
within the 1865-1946 period of significance for the Mapleton Hill Historic 
District and retain a high degree of integrity, are contributing buildings. 

• Staff finds the proposed new construction to be inconsistent with the criteria 
for approval of an application for a Landmark Alteration Certificate as per 9-
11-18, B.R.C. 1981; the General Design Guidelines; and the Mapleton Hill Design 
Guidelines. 

• Staff recommends that alternatives be explored to improve vehicular access to 
the garage including use of the historic west facing doors. 

 
PROPERTY HISTORY 

  
Figure 1. 410 Highland, c. 1920s.  

 
Prominently situated at the southeast corner of Highland and 4th Street, the 
Tudor Revival house at 410 Highland Ave. was designed by Arthur E. Saunders 
for Edward C. and Estella M. Randall in 1912.  Saunders studied architecture in 
Santa Cruz, California, and came to Boulder in 1903 to begin his practice. Among 
Boulder’s most prolific early architects, other notable buildings he designed in 
Boulder include the Farwick House in Boulder Canyon, the Mercantile Bank, 
Howe Mortuary, and the Lincoln and Washington schools.  
 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 2 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

  
Figures 2 & 3. Left: Architect Arthur E. Saunders, 1917. Right: Clover Leaf Creamery 
Soda Fountain at 1424 Pearl Street, possibly Mrs. Randall in front, 1910. 
 
In 1906, Edward C. Randall and his wife, Estella, established the Clover Leaf 
Creamery at 1424 Pearl St. in Boulder inside the Citizen’s National Bank 
building.  
 
In 1934, Henry C. and Laurena Hickman purchased the property. Henry was 
president of the Boulder School Board for 12 years and later became a partner in 
the Boulder County Abstract of Title company in 1922. Henry and Laurena had 
three children – their son, James, was elected 34th mayor of Boulder in 1960. 
 
Both the house and the garage at 410 Highland Avenue feature Tudor Revival 
design elements which are relatively rare in the Mapleton Hill neighborhood. 
The 2005 Accessory Building Survey of Mapleton Hill found the garage to be in 
excellent condition and to be a contributing resource to the historic district.  
 
In Historic Homes of Boulder County, author Jane Valentine Barker notes that the 
two-car garage at 410 Highland Avenue originally contained “a gas pump with 
storage tank beneath the floor. There is also a work pit on one side of the 
building. Randall used the garage for servicing his creamery trucks.”1 
 
DESCRIPTION 
The property is located on the east side of 4th St. between Mountain View Dr. and 
Highland Ave. in the Mapleton Hill addition to the city, which was platted in 
1888. The approximately 5,000 sq. ft. house is located on a 13,810 sq. ft. lot with 
the garage located on and taking access from the alley. The property is located 
within the Mapleton Hill Historic District. 
1 Barker, Jane Valentine. Historic Homes of Boulder County, Boulder: Pruett Publishing Co. (1979), 89. 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 3 
 

                                                           



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 

 
Figure 4. Location Map, 410 Highland Ave. 

 
The two and one-half story Tudor Revival house at 410 Highland Ave. was 
constructed in 1912. The half timbering overhanging eaves, exposed rafters, and 
multi-light windows are all indicative of the Tudor Revival which was popular 
in the United States during the first half of the twentieth century. 
 

 
Figure 5. 410 Highland Ave., 2015. 

 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 4 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

Historic photographs taken from Mt. Sanitas indicate that the garage (also 
Tudor-Revival) was built after the house, sometime between 1912 and 1919. 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Figure 6 & 7. 410 Highland Ave., 1912 & 1919 (arrow indicates garage location) 

 
The gable front garage has wood shake single roofing, two intersecting gabled 
dormers, each with two double-hung windows. Like the house, the upper level 
of the building is half-timbered and stuccoed. A horizontal sliding window is 
located on both east and west gable ends. The garage features wood trim around 
the windows and door, and finials decorate the north and south dormers as well 
as the east and west gable ends.  
 

 
Figure 8. Close-up view of garage at 410 Highland, c. 1920s. 

 
The lower half of the west elevation features one overhead door while two 
smaller overhead doors are featured on the south elevation. An additional 
entry/exit door is located on the north elevation. On the lower half of the east 
elevation are two evenly spaced, paired, double-hung windows. Figure 8 shows a 
close up view of the garage from the 1920s. It appears that new garage doors 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 5 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

were added to the south (alley facing) side of the building sometime in the last 
twenty years to provide vehicular access from the alley. 
 

 
Figure 9. View of west elevation of garage at 410 Highland Ave. from alley, 2015. 

 
The house and garage exist in their original condition and are substantially 
intact. The only non-historic alteration to the garage is the addition of garage 
doors on the south elevation which were approved in 2001 to improve vehicular 
access to the building. The buildings clearly contribute to the historic significance 
of the district. A large deck addition above an extended basement area at the 
south (rear) side of the main house was part of the 2001 approval.  

 

 
Figure 10. South elevation of 410 Highland Ave., 2015.   

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 6 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

PROPOSED RELOCATION OF EXISTING GARAGE 
In their letter, the owner explains that the current location of the garage is a 
hindrance to its practical use stating there is little space for a car to use while 
turning into the garage, thus making it difficult to use as parking. The owner 
states, “Previous owners have used the garage as storage and let the structure 
deteriorate because of its lack of utility.” Historically, the garage has taken access 
via a curb cut on 4th Street. More recently, doors were added to the south face of 
the building to facilitate vehicular access from the alley. The back out distance 
from the south facing doors to the south edge of the alley is approximately 21 
feet where 24 feet is required for new construction. The applicant also states that 
they wish to relocate the garage to increase its visibility from 4th Street thereby, 
“adding to the historical richness of the area as observed from the street”. 
 

 

Figure 11. View of southwest corner of 410 Highland Property from 4th Street. Garage at 
401 Pine Street is visible, 2015. 

 
The site plan shows the garage to be relocated 38.5 feet west, though it is unclear 
whether the garage will take access from the alley or 4th Street in this location. All 
garage elevations will remain unaltered except for the removal of the basketball 
hoop from the west elevation. 
 

 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 7 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

        
Figure 12. Existing site plan, 2015.   Figure 13. Proposed site plan, 2015. 
 
 

 
Figure 14. Proposed location as viewed from 4th Street. The garage at 401 Pine Street is 
seen at the right.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 8 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 

CRITERIA FOR THE BOARD’S DECISION 

Subsection 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, sets forth the conditions for approving a request 
for a Landmark Alteration Certificate. 
(a) The landmarks board and the city council shall not approve an application for 

a landmark alteration certificate unless each such agency finds that the 
proposed work is consistent with the purposes of this chapter. 

(b) Neither the Landmarks Board nor the City Council shall approve a Landmark 
Alteration Certificate unless it meets the following conditions: 

 
(1) The proposed work preserves, enhances, or restores and does not 

damage or destroy the exterior architectural features of the 
landmark or the subject property within an historic district; 

(2) The proposed work does not adversely affect the special character 
or special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value of the 
landmark and its site or the district; 

(3) The architectural style, arrangement, texture, color, arrangement of 
color, and materials used on existing and proposed constructions 
are compatible with the character of the existing landmark and its 
site or the historic district; 

(4) With respect to a proposal to demolish a building in an historic 
district, the proposed new construction to replace the building 
meets the requirements of paragraphs (b)(2) and (3) above. 

(c) In determining whether to approve a Landmark Alteration Certificate, the 
Landmarks Board shall consider the economic feasibility of alternatives, 
incorporation of energy-efficient design, and enhanced access for the 
disabled. 

ANALYSIS 
1. Does the proposed application preserve, enhance, or restore, and not damage or 

destroy the exterior architectural features of the landmark or the subject property 
within an historic district?  
The 2005 accessory building survey of Mapleton Hill identifies the garage at 
410 Highland Ave. as having been constructed c. 1912 and recommends that 
it be considered a contributing building to the Mapleton Hill Historic District. 
The building a highly articulated and well-preserved example of early 
twentieth-century automobile architecture. It is intrinsic to the to the 
significance of the property and survives as one of the most notable historic 
garage in the Mapleton Hill Historic District.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 9 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 
Staff considers the relocation of the garage 38.5 feet to the west would not 
preserve or enhance the historic character of the property. Bringing the 
building closer to the southwest corner of this large and visible corner lot at 
the west end of the Mapleton Hill Historic District would alter the historic 
relationship of the building to the house, the immediate alley scape and 
change how the property is perceived from 4th Street.   
 

2. Does the proposed application adversely affect the special character or special historic, 
architectural, or aesthetic interest or value of the district? 
Staff finds that the proposed relocation of the garage would affect the special 
character or special historic, architectural, and aesthetic interest or value of 
the property by altering the historic configuration of buildings on the 
property and change how this highly visible and important historic property 
is perceived from 4th Street. The proposal is generally inconsistent with the 
General Design Guidelines the Mapleton Hill Design Guidelines, and the Secretary 
of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties (Setting) (see 
Design Guidelines Analysis section). 
 

3. Is the architectural style, arrangement, texture, color, arrangement of color, and 
materials used on existing and proposed structures compatible with the character of 
the historic district? 
Changes to the architectural style, texture, color and materials are not 
proposed.  

 
4. Does the proposal to demolish the building within the Mapleton Hill Historic District 

and the proposed new construction to replace the proposed demolished building meet 
the requirements of paragraphs 9-11-18(b)(2), 9-11-18(b)(3) and 9-11-18(b)(4) of this 
section? 
Not applicable – relocation of building. 
 

DESIGN GUIDELINES ANALYSIS: 
The Historic Preservation Ordinance sets forth the standards the Landmarks 
Board must apply when reviewing a request for a Landmark Alteration 
Certificate.  The Board has adopted the General Design Guidelines to help interpret 
the historic preservation ordinance.  The following is an analysis of the proposed 
new construction with respect to relevant guidelines.  Design guidelines are 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 10 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

intended to be used as an aid to appropriate design and not as a checklist of 
items for compliance.  

 
The following is an analysis of the proposal’s compliance with the appropriate 
sections of the General Design Guidelines. 
 
GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES –Garages & Other Accessory Structures, 7.0  

7. GARAGES & OTHER ACCESSORY STRUCTURES 

7.1 Existing Historic Accessory Structures 

 
A primary concern of the Landmarks Board in reviewing proposed changes in historic districts 
is the protection of existing historic accessory structures and the character of the site and 
district. 

 GUIDELINES: ANALYSIS: CONFORMS 

.1 Retain and preserve garages and 
accessory buildings that contribute to 
the overall character of the site or 
district. 

Staff considers that relocation of 
the garage will change the historic 
relationship of buildings on the 
property and alter the setting of 
this western edge of the Mapleton 
Hill Historic District. Property is 
highly visible and among the 
most prominent historic 
properties in this area of the 
district. 

No 

 

.2 Retain and preserve the character-
defining materials, features, and 
details of historic garages and 
accessory buildings, including roofs, 
materials, windows, and doors. 

The garage has been located in its 
current location on the property 
for approximately 100 years. On-
site relocation of the building 
would alter the character defining 
spatial relationship of buildings 
which is intrinsic to the character 
of this highly visible historic 
property and change the setting of 
this area of the Mapleton Historic 
District.  

No 

 
 
 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 11 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

Mapleton Hill Historic District Guidelines 

D. ALLEYS, EASEMENTS and ACCESSWAYS 

 Alleys are a strong visual element of the district, and have much variety of scale and detail.  They 
play an important role in the development patterns that give the more visible areas their 
character.  Alleys provide access to rear parking and garages.  They have a varied edge quality, 
with buildings both on the property lines and set back.  The size and quality of these accessory 
buildings varies considerably.  Careful consideration should be given to changes in traditional 
uses. 

 Guidelines: Analysis: CONFORMS? 

1. The use of alleys to provide access to the 
rear of properties should be preserved. 

Access to garage appears always 
to have historically been taken 
from 4th Street. It is unclear as to 
whether access would be taken 
from the ally or 4th Street in the 
proposed new location. 

 

Maybe 
 

2. Efforts should be made to protect the 
variety of shape, size and alignment of 
buildings along the alleys.  Alleys 
should maintain a human scale and be 
sensitive to pedestrians. 

The setting of the alley would be 
altered by the proposed 
relocation though it is unclear 
whether the human scale or 
pedestrian experience would be 
affected by this alteration. 

Maybe 
 
 

3. Buildings such as garages, sheds, etc. 
which contribute to this variety should 
be retained in their original form 
whenever possible. 

The relocation of the garage on 
this highly visible corner 
property would alter the historic 
setting of this edge of the 
historic district. Relocating the 
garage would change the spatial 
relationship that has existed on 
the property for 100 + years. 

No 
 

5. Efforts should be made to maintain the 
character of the alleys in the District. 

Relocation of the building on 
this highly visible corner lot 
would affect historic character 
of the west end of the immediate 
alley scape.  

 

 
No 

 
SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS  
FOR THE TREATMENT OF HISTORIC PROPERTIES 

 The setting is the area or environment in which a historic property is found. It may be an urban 
or suburban neighborhood or a natural landscape in which a building has been constructed. The 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 12 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

elements of setting, such as the relationship of buildings to each other, setbacks, fence patterns, 
views, driveways and walkways, and street trees together create the character of a district or 
neighborhood.  

 Recommended Not Recommended Consistency 

 Retaining the historic relationship 
between buildings and landscape 
features of the setting.  

Removing or relocating historic 
buildings or landscape features, 
thus destroying their historic 
relationship within the setting. 
Relocation of the building on 
this highly visible corner lot 
would affect historic character of 
the west end of the immediate 
alley scape.  

No 

 
Current historic preservation practice in the United States finds that relocation of 
designated historic buildings to be rarely appropriate and should be considered 
only as a last resort, usually as an alternative to unavoidable demolition. The 
Mapleton Hill Historic District was designated as a local historic district in 1982 
and expanded in 2002. The historic district recognizes and protects the special 
historic character of Mapleton Hill. Mapleton Hill was home to many of 
Boulder’s early, prominent citizens and has a rich diversity of late-19th and early 
20th century architectural styles. Its prominent bluff location and tree-lined streets 
contribute to its environmental significance.  
  
Boulder’s historic design guidelines are intended to interpret the historic 
preservation ordinance in a manner consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties. The high visibility of this historic 
property at the western edge of the Mapleton Hill Historic District and relative 
relationship of buildings to the street, the alley, and each other are important 
character defining features of this property.  
 
The relocation of the garage to the southwest corner of this highly visible and 
historically prominent property would clearly change the spatial relationship of 
buildings on it and alter the setting of the alley and this part of the historic 
district. In this case, staff considers the proposal for the on-site relocation of the 
garage inconsistent with the General Design Guidelines for Boulder’s Historic 
Districts and Individual Landmarks, the Mapleton Historic District Design Guidelines 
and does not meet the standards for issuance of a landmark alteration certificate 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 13 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

as set out in the historic preservation ordinance in Section 9-11-18(a)&(b)(1)-(4) of 
the Boulder Revised Code, 1981. 
 
FINDINGS: 
Staff recommends that the Landmarks Board deny the application citing the 
following findings: 
 

1. The proposed relocation of the contributing building does not meet the 
standards set out in 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981. 

  
2. The proposed relocation of the historic garage would have an adverse 

effect on the historic value of this highly visible and historically 
prominent property, as it would alter the character of the property and 
setting in the district.  

 
3. The change in orientation and setting as a result of the proposed 

relocation of the garage, the is substantially inconsistent with Section 
9-11-18B.R.C.1981, Section 7 of the General Design Guidelines, and 
Section D of the Mapleton Hill Historic District Design Guidelines.   

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A: Tax Assessors Card 
B:  Photographs 
C:  Applicant’s Materials  
D:   Plans and Elevations 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 14 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 
 

Attachment A: Tax Assessors Card 
 

 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 15 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 

 
 
 
 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 16 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 
 
 

 
Tax Assessor Card Photo c. 1949. 

 
 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 17 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 18 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 
 
 
 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 19 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 

 
Tax Assessor Card Photos c. 1979 

 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 20 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

Attachment B:  Current Photographs 

 
410 Highland Ave., view of north elevation (façade) of house, 2015. 

 

 
410 Highland Ave., view of west elevation of house and garage, 2015.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 21 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 
410 Highland Ave., south elevation of house and garage from alley, 2015. 

 

 
410 Highland Ave., view of west elevation of garage and alley looking east, 2015. 

 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 22 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 
410 Highland Ave., view of southwest corner of garage, 2015. 

 

 
410 Highland Ave., View of southeast corner of garage, 2015.  

 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 23 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 
410 Highland Ave., view of southwest corner of property, garage seen at right, 

2015.  
 

 
410 Highland Ave., alley view looking west toward 4th Street, 2015. 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 24 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 
View looking south along 4th Street, 410 Highland Ave. property at left, 2015. 

 

 
View of entrance into alley from 4th Street (looking east), 410 Highland Ave. 

garage at left, 2015. 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 25 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 
View looking north along 4th Street, house at 410 Highland Ave. seen at right, 

2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 26 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

Attachment C:  Applicant’s Materials 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 27 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

Attachment D:  Plans and Elevations 
 

 
410 Highland Ave., Existing site plan, 2015. 

 
 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 28 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 

 
410 Highland Ave., Proposed site plan, 2015. 

 
 
 

 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 29 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 

 
410 Highland Ave., Existing Elevations (no changes proposed), 2015. 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 30 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 
Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 410 Highland Ave.  

 
410 Highland Ave., Proposed Location as viewed from 4th Street, 2015. 

 
 

 

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 31 
 



 

Agenda Item # 5B Page 1 

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

October 7, 2015 

 

TO:   Landmarks Board 
 

FROM:  Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 

            James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 

            Deb Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

            Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 

           Angela Smelker, Historic Preservation Planner 

  

SUBJECT:    Public hearing and consideration of a Landmark Alteration 

Certificate to construct a 405 sq. ft. addition to the main house, 

modify the fenestration on the south elevation, and construct a new 

280 sq. ft. free-standing, one-car garage, per Section 9-11-18 of the 

Boulder Revised Code 1981 (HIS2015-00232).  

 

STATISTICS: 

1. Site:    800 Arapahoe Ave. 

2. Designation:   Individual Landmark, Hannah Barker House  

3. Date of Construction: c. 1878 

4. Zoning:   RMX-1 (Residential Mixed-1)  

5. Lot size:   7,632 sq. ft.  

6. Existing House:  2,300 sq. ft. (approx.)  

7. Proposed Addition:  405 sq. ft.  

8. Proposed Garage:    317 sq. ft.  

9. Applicant:   Steve Dodd, Architect  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

If the applicant complies with the conditions listed below, staff considers the proposed 

addition, modification of window and door openings on the south elevation and new 

free-standing construction, will be generally consistent with the conditions specified in 

Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981 and the General Design Guidelines. Staff recommends that the 

Landmarks Board adopt the following motion:  

The Landmarks Board adopts the staff memorandum dated October 7, 2015, in matter 

5C (HIS2015-00232) as the findings of the board and approves construction of an 

addition at the rear of the main house and construction of a free-standing garage as 

shown on plans dated 09/15/2015, finding that they generally meet the standards for 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 2 
 

issuance of a Landmark Alteration Certificate in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, subject to 

the following conditions:  

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

1.   The applicant shall be responsible for constructing the addition and garage in 

compliance with the approved plans dated 09/15/2015, except as modified by 

these conditions of approval.  

 

2. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the 

Landmark Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit final architectural 

plans that shall be subject to the final review and approval of the Landmarks 

design review committee and that include: 

 

(A) Retention of the three windows at the south elevation of the main house.  

(B) Elimination of the two new window openings at the south elevation of the 

main house.  

(C) Modification of the plans to include a single door at the deck rather than 

two new openings.  

(D) Further integration of the deck into the roof structure of the addition.  

(E) Consideration of moving the garage further south, as close to the rear of 

the property as possible.    

3. The Landmarks design review committee shall review details regarding the new 

construction, including materials, door and window details including moldings, 

and proposed insets, railing details, paint colors, and hardscaping on the 

property to ensure that the approval is consistent with the General Design 

Guidelines and the historic preservation ordinance. 

 

SUPPORT FOR BOZA VARIANCE UNDER CRITERION 4 

The applicant is requesting support for a variance from the Board of Zoning 

Adjustment for a variance to the required front and rear yard setbacks. Staff 

recommends that, if the Landmarks Board finds that the proposal meets the 

General Design Guidelines and the historic preservation ordinance, the board 

express support for the variance.  See the Analysis section for more information.  

 

 

 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 3 
 

 

Suggested Language:  

The Landmarks Board supports a variance to the required front and rear yard 

setback under Section 9-2-3(h)(4), finding that the proposed construction 

generally meets the General Design Guidelines and the historic preservation 

ordinance. The board considers that the construction of an addition and a garage 

in a “by-right” location would have an adverse impact on the historic character 

of the landmarked house and site. 

 

SUMMARY: 

 Until 2008, the property encompassed approximately 20,000 sq. ft. when it was 

subdivided into two lots. The 7,632 sq. ft. lot that included the house was designated 

as an individual landmark (the Hannah Barker House), by the Boulder City Council 

on March 17, 2009.  

 Historic Boulder, Inc., purchased the property. With the help of Colorado State 

Historical Funding, Historic Boulder has undertaken extensive structural 

stabilization and restoration of the exterior of the house, including reconstruction of 

the porch, cupola, and repainting following a historic paint analysis.  

 Historic Boulder is selling the property and the prospective owner has submitted a 

Landmark Alteration Certificate request to modify the fenestration at the south 

elevation of the house, construct an addition at the rear of the house and construct a 

new, one-car garage immediately west of the house.  

 The Landmarks Design Review Committee (Ldrc) referred the application to the full 

Landmarks Board for a quasi-judicial hearing. 

 The applicant has met several times with staff to review the proposed design. 

 The work will require a front and rear yard setback variance and the applicant is 

requesting support for a variance from the Landmarks Board. (See Analysis section.)  

 Staff considers the proposed changes to the house including the rear addition and 

adjacent new construction to be generally consistent with the standards for approval 

of a Landmark Alteration Certificate as per Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, and the 

General Design Guidelines. 

 Staff’s recommendation for approval is based upon the understanding that the 

conditions above will be reviewed and approved by the Ldrc, prior to the issuance 

of a Landmark Alteration Certificate. 

 

 

 

PROPERTY HISTORY1 

                                                           
1
 Landmarks Board Designation Memorandum dated 09.05.2007.  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 4 
 

The property at 800 Arapahoe Ave. is associated with 

Hannah Barker, a Boulder pioneer, philanthropist and civic 

leader. Hannah Connell Barker was born in Ireland in 1844 

and came to Boulder in 1867, where she began teaching in 

Ward, Colorado.  She married wealthy Boulder entrepreneur 

Ezra Barker in 1877 and they purchased the property at 800 

Arapahoe Ave. Upon Ezra’s death in 1883, Hannah inherited 

the extensive land holdings and wealth that Ezra had 

amassed.   

 

Hannah’s impact on the town was far-reaching, including 

platting the town of Highland Lawn in 1884, involvement in the Literary Society, the 

Boulder Women’s Club, and founding the Boulder Creamery 

in 1887. She contributed financially to the Congregational 

Church, the University of Colorado, Chautauqua, and the 

YMCA.  In 1911, she donated half a city block at the corner of 

15th and Spruce Streets for use as a city park and public 

facility. In 1907, she sold her summer home and ranch in Nederland to the city of 

Boulder for $23,000, to make way for the construction of a reservoir and dam, which 

were named in her and Ezra’s honor. From 1898 until her death in 1918, Hannah served 

as a director of the Boulder Bank.   

 

Prior to 1900, Hannah lived in her house with her close 

friend and fellow widow Mary K. Davidson, as well as 

Vina Knowles, who may have been Mary’s sister.  Hannah 

died in 1918 from influenza after suffering from poor 

health for more than two years.   

 

The house at 800 Arapahoe is significant for the association 

with the Barkers and Mary Davidson as persons of local 

significance, and moreover to the association with Hannah 

Barker, one of the most significant pioneer women in 

Boulder.   

 

 

 

CONSTRUCTION HISTORY 

The house at 800 Arapahoe Ave. was constructed in phases, spanning from the 1870s 

until 1901. The original building on the lot, constructed by Caleb and Carrie Stowell, 

was a small, gable-roof brick house, dating to the early 1870s. The Stowells added a one-

800 Arapahoe (originally 

724 Valley Rd.), Engraving, 

c.1880s 

Hannah C. Barker, 

undated. Carnegie Branch 

Library for Local History. 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 5 
 

story masonry addition to the west soon after the construction of the gable portion, and 

a few years later added wooden lean-tos to the west and south of the house. In 1875, 

they constructed a two-story, Italianate building to the north, transforming the modest, 

vernacular building into a grand house executed in a fashionable style of the day. In 

1877, the lot was purchased by Ezra K. and Hannah C. Barker and in 1900 Hannah 

Barker embarked on a significant remodeling project on the house which added 

additional rooms on the front and west side of the house, as well as the full-width porch 

at the front of the house. The addition nearly doubled the size of the house, and the 

cupola was moved to the center of the new roof.  

 

 
Figure 1. 800 Arapahoe Ave., c.1900. 

Photograph Courtesy the Carnegie Branch Library for Local History. 

 

A Historic Structure Assessment undertaken in 2007 describes the construction history 

of the property, which was comprised of five structures combined within the 19th 

century:  

1. The original pre-1875 gable brick structure was a two room brick house, 

dating back to the early 1870s, now demolished. 

2. Two original lean-to wooden structures, one on the West and one on the 

South of Building #1, shed roof, 1 room, ca. mid to late 1870s, now 

demolished.  

3. The original Italianate Barker House, hipped roof with cupola, c. 

1875/1878, the rear half of the existing building. 

4. The Italianate front addition, matching hip roof with relocated cupola, 

reconfigured structure, c. 1890s, the front half of the existing building. 

5. The front porch and side room/bay window addition, shed roof, c. 1901, 

wrapping the front (North) and side (West) elevations. 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 6 
 

 
Figure 2. Highlighted image showing rear additions, 800 Arapahoe Ave., c. 1940s. 

 

 
Figure 3. 800 Arapahoe Ave., rear portion of the building, facing northeast, 2007 (demolished in 2009) 

 

The rear portion of the house was removed in 2009 in an effort to preserve the building. 

That part of the building was in poor condition and was compromising the structural 

integrity of the main house. Additionally, the footprint of the rear portion of the house 

extended past the new property line when the lot was subdivided. The property also 

previously included a concrete block garage, constructed in 1960, and an alley house, 

constructed in 1922. Both were demolished in 2009. 

 

The main house was used as a single family house until approximately 1939, when the 

interior was converted into four apartments.  By 1949, the exterior brick had been 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 7 
 

painted white, the cupola removed, and the decorative brackets on the cornice of the 

house had been removed.  By 1970 the house contained five units and remained 

occupied until approximately 1997, when approval to develop a bed and breakfast on 

the property was granted, and the interior of the house was gutted. The house remained 

vacant for more than a decade, and was then proposed for demolition. Historic Boulder, 

Inc. purchased the property and has undertaken extensive work on the building 

including structural stabilization, restoration of the porch, cupola, and repainting 

following a historic paint analysis.  

 

  
Figure 4. 800 Arapahoe Ave., 2009 and 2015.  

 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

The 7,632 sq. ft. property is located on the south side of Arapahoe Ave., between 7th and 

9th streets. The property is bounded by 802 Arapahoe Ave. on the east and south sides, 

and 716 Arapahoe Ave. on the west. It is located within the potential Expanded 

Highland Lawn Historic District.  

 

 
Figure 5. Location Map, 800 Arapahoe Ave. showing the property boundary (dashed line). 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 8 
 

 

 
Figure 6. 800 Arapahoe Ave., 2015.  

 

Approximately 2,300 sq. ft. in size, the Italianate house has a low hipped roof, topped 

by a decorative cupola, and large overhanging boxed eaves with decorative brackets. 

The 1875 portion of the house has tall, narrow arched window openings, while the 

1890s portion features square top rectangular window openings of similar proportion 

with stone sills and lintels. A full-length front porch spans the north elevation (façade) 

of the house, with simple columns spanned by arches, with a decorative brick railing 

topped with rough-cut stone. Decorative pyramid-shaped stone pilasters flank the five 

steps onto the porch.   

 

 
Figure 7. North and East Elevations, 800 Arapahoe Ave., 2015.   

 

The east elevation features five window openings; the two windows near the façade are 

square with stone sills and lintels. Windows on the southern portion of the elevation 

have brick arches and all of the windows were originally 2-over-2 double-hung sash. A 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 9 
 

one-story bay window with three windows and decorative paneling and a brick 

chimney with decorative brickwork are located on this elevation. 

 

 
Figure 8. North and East Elevations, 800 Arapahoe Ave., 2015.   

The west elevation features a one-story bay addition (constructed c.1901 for Hannah 

Barker), wraps the northwest corner of the building. A two-story bay with windows on 

the first and second levels is located toward the south portion of the elevation. A brick 

chimney is present on this elevation.  
 

 
Figure 9. South (Rear) Elevation, 800 Arapahoe Ave., 2015.   

 

The south (rear) elevation is the least articulated of the elevations, with three, small 

square openings on the second level and two door openings on the first level. Two 

window openings on the west elevation bay are also present on this face. Historically, 

masonry and frame additions obscured the lower level of the rear of the house, and a 

chimney bisected the elevation. The additions were demolished in 2009. LANDMARK 

ALTERATION CERTIFICATE REQUEST  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 10 
 

The application proposes to brick in the three square window openings on the second 

level of the south (rear) elevation, construct a 405 sq. ft. addition that references but 

does not replicate the original gable and shed roof portion of the masonry building, and 

to construct a 317 sq. ft. garage free-standing garage immediately to the west of the 

house.  
 

 
Figure 10. Proposed Site Plan (new construction highlighted in blue) 

PROPOSED MODIFICATION TO FENESTRATION  

Elevations for the south (rear) elevation shows the reconfiguration of the window 

openings on the upper level of the main house. The application proposes to brick-in the 

three existing windows on the second level of this elevation. Physical evidence and 

historic photographs indicate that the existing openings are original and have not been 

enlarged or reduced in size. The larger, middle window has a wood sill. Currently 

boarded over, the windows were each single-pane, fixed windows. The glass of each of 

the windows has been broken or is altogether missing.  

 

Plans show that four new openings would be made: a pair of 2-over-2 double-hung 

windows near the peak of the gable of the addition, and two openings at the west end 

of the elevation, similar in proportion to the historic openings on the house. Details on 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 11 
 

the new window and door were not provided as part of this application, however, the 

applicant has indicated that they will be of wood construction.  

 

 

 
 

 
Figure 11. Existing and proposed changes to the fenestration at the south (rear) elevation.  

 

ADDITION TO THE HISTORIC STRUCTURE  

Plans show a one-story, 405 sq. ft. addition to be constructed at the rear of the two-story, 

2,300 sq. ft. house. In plan, the addition measures approximately 15’5” by 26’5” and 

would be located approximately 9-10’ from the rear property line. The east and west 

walls of the addition would be inset from the main house approximately 1’ and 2’. The 

gable-and-shed roof form is designed on the silhouette of the original portion of the 

house that was removed in 2009 and still visible on that wall.  

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 12 
 

 
Figure 12: Existing South Elevation (Rear) 

 

 
Figure 13: Proposed South Elevation (Rear) 

 

The addition, as shown, references the roof pitch, height and width of the pre-1875 

masonry building with the length of the building measuring approximately 15’, or 

approximately three-quarters the length of the original portion. A pair of double-hung 

windows is shown to be centrally located beneath the gable end on the south elevation 

of the addition.  
 

A roof deck is shown to be integrated into the roof structure of the addition at the west 

end of the elevation. It is shown to measure 5’x10’ and have simple, wooden vertical 

supports. 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 13 
 

  
Figure 14: Existing West Elevation  

 
Figure 15: Proposed West Elevation  

 

The west elevation of the addition is shown to feature a multi-light door at the south 

end of the elevation and a 2-over-2 double hung window at the north end of the 

elevation. The simple vertical railing of the integrated roof deck is shown above the 

window.  
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 14 
 

 
Figure 16: Existing east Elevation (street facing) 

 

 
Figure 17: Proposed east Elevation (street facing) 

 

The east elevation of the addition is shown to have a centrally located, multi-light door 

flanked by two large, double-hung windows. A 7’ x 15’ flagstone patio is planned at the 

east side of the addition.  

 

The applicant proposed to use the reuse bricks from the deconstructed masonry portion 

of the house for the addition which will be discernable from the historic portion of the 

house through simplified window openings and modern construction techniques.  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 15 
 

CONSTRUCTION OF A FREE-STANDING GARAGE 

A one-car garage is shown to be located west of the house, oriented on an angle to 

provide necessary back-up space. The garage is simple in design, with a centrally 

located garage door on the south elevation, pairs of double-hung windows on the east 

and south elevations. No openings are shown on the west elevation. The garage 

measures 21’ by 15’1” in plan, and 13’1” in height. The driveway material is not 

specified in the plans.  

 

  
Figure 18. North and East proposed garage elevations, 2015. 

 
 

 

Figure 19. South and West proposed garage elevations, 2015. 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 16 
 

CRITERIA FOR THE BOARD’S DECISION 

Subsection 9-11-18(b) and (c), B.R.C. 1981, sets forth the standards the Landmarks Board 

must apply when reviewing a request for a Landmark Alteration Certificate. 

 

(b) Neither the Landmarks Board nor the City Council shall approve a Landmark 

Alteration Certificate unless it meets the following conditions: 

 

(1) The proposed work preserves, enhances, or restores and does not damage 

or destroy the exterior architectural features of the landmark or the subject 

property within an historic district; 

(2) The proposed work does not adversely affect the special character or 

special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value of the landmark 

and its site or the district; 

(3) The architectural style, arrangement, texture, color, arrangement of color, 

and materials used on existing and proposed constructions are compatible 

with the character of the existing landmark and its site or the historic 

district; 

(4) With respect to a proposal to demolish a building in an historic district, 

the proposed new construction to replace the building meets the 

requirements of paragraphs (b)(2) and (3) above. 

(c) In determining whether to approve a landmark alteration certificate, the Landmarks 

Board shall consider the economic feasibility of alternatives, incorporation of 

energy-efficient design, and enhanced access for the disabled. 

ANALYSIS 

1. Does the proposed application preserve, enhance, or restore, and not damage or destroy the 

exterior architectural features of the landmark or the subject property within a historic district?  

Staff considers that, provided the listed conditions are met, the proposed alterations to 

the property including construction of a new addition at the rear of the historic house 

and the construction of a one-story, one-car garage on the property will preserve the 

historic character of the property and be consistent with the General Design Guidelines. 

(See Design Guidelines Analysis section.) Staff considers that the removal of the three 

original window openings on the south elevation to be inconsistent with the design 

guidelines than that these features should be retained. Additionally, staff recommends 

that only one opening be introduced on the south elevation to provide access to the roof 

deck.  

2. Does the proposed application adversely affect the special character or special historical, 

architectural, or aesthetic interest or value of the district? 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 17 
 

The staff finds that, provided the listed conditions are met as outlined above, the 

proposed application will not adversely affect the special character or special historic, 

architectural, or aesthetic interest or value of the landmark property as it will be 

generally compatible with the General Design Guidelines in terms of mass, scale, height, 

design and color. (See Design Guidelines Analysis section.) 

3. Is the architectural style, arrangement, texture, color, arrangement of color, and materials 

used on existing and proposed structures compatible with the character of the historic district? 

Staff finds that, provided the listed conditions are met, the proposed new construction 

will be generally compatible with the architectural form, arrangement, texture, color, 

arrangement of color, and materials used on the proposed building and will be 

generally compatible with the character of the historic district in terms of mass, scale, 

height, setback, and design. (See Design Guidelines Analysis section.) 

 

4. Does the proposal to demolish the building within the Mapleton Hill Historic District and the 

proposed new construction to replace the proposed demolished building meet the requirements of 

paragraphs  9-11-18(b)(2), 9-11-18(b)(3) and 9-11-18(b)(4) of this section?  

Not applicable. 

ANALYSIS: 

The Historic Preservation Ordinance sets forth the standards the Landmarks Board 

must apply when reviewing a request for a Landmark Alteration Certificate.  The Board 

has adopted the General Design Guidelines to help interpret the historic preservation 

ordinance.  The following is an analysis of the proposed new construction with respect 

to relevant guidelines.  Design guidelines are intended to be used as an aid to 

appropriate design and not as a checklist of items for compliance.  

 

The following is an analysis of the proposal’s compliance with the appropriate sections 

of the General Design Guidelines. 

 

ALTERATIONS TO CONTRIBUTING BUILDINGS, 3.0 

3.7 Windows 

 
Windows, the elements that surround them, and their relationship to one another are one of the 

most important character-defining elements of a historic structure and should be preserved.  

Improper or insensitive treatment of the windows on a historic structure can seriously detract 

from its architectural character. Windows on facades visible from public streets, particularly the 

front façade, are especially important.   

 
  

Meets 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 18 
 

Guideline Analysis Guideline? 

.1 
Retain and preserve existing 

historic windows including their 

functional and decorative features, 

such as frame, glass, sashes, 

muntins, sills, heads, molding, 

surrounds and hardware. Because 

windows near the façade are 

particularly critical to the character 

of historic buildings, their 

protection may supersede the 

protection of historic windows 

elsewhere. In some cases, it might be 

appropriate to use window elements 

from the side or rear elevations to 

repair those on the front. 

Windows near the façade (primary 

and secondary elevations) are not 

proposed for removal. Three 

original window openings on the 

rear (secondary elevation) of the 

historic building are proposed to be 

bricked in. Staff recommends only 

one new opening be introduced on 

the rear elevation to provide access 

to the deck. Resolve details at the 

Ldrc.  

Maybe  

.2 
Preserve original window locations; 

do not move windows from their 

historic placement. 

Three original window locations at 

the rear of the historic house are 

proposed to be bricked in.  

No  

.6 
The location of the window(s) 

proposed for retrofit or replacement 

is important in assessing their 

significance to a historic building. 

In general, the more important the 

elevation where the window is 

located, the less likely that retrofit 

or replacement will be appropriate. 

Elevations will be categorized as 

primary, secondary or tertiary…  

 Replacement of intact 

historic windows on 

primary elevations is rarely 

appropriate.  

 Replacement of intact 

historic windows on 

secondary elevations is 

generally inappropriate. 

 Replacement of intact 

historic windows on 

tertiary elevations can 

occur provided it does not 

compromise the historic 

integrity of the building. 

Staff considers the south elevation, 

due to its visibility from the alley 

and architectural prominence, to be 

a secondary elevation. Staff 

considers the removal of three 

historically important window 

openings on the south elevation to 

be inappropriate.  Revise design for 

review by the Ldrc. 

No 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 19 
 

.7 
The historic significance of the 

windows proposed for replacement 

must also be assessed. In general, 

the more significant a window is to 

the building as a whole, the less 

likely that a retrofit or replacement 

will be appropriate.  

Staff considers the three windows 

proposed for removal to be 

“Historically Important” windows, 

as they are believed to be original to 

the construction of the house and 

have not been significantly altered. 

They are not “Very Historically 

Important” windows, as they do not 

define the Italianate style of the 

building, are not unusual or 

difficult to replicate (i.e. stained 

glass); and they were not executed 

with a high degree of 

craftsmanship. They do not fall into 

the “Non-Historic” window 

category, since they have not been 

significantly altered.  

No 

.8 
The condition of the window 

must be evaluated prior to 

determining whether the 

window or door may be 

repaired or replaced. The 

condition is to be determined by 

assessing its elements 

individually. 

Two of the window openings are 

boarded up. The applicant indicates 

that the wood frames are in place, 

however, the panes are broken or 

altogether missing.    

No 

 

ADDITIONS TO HISTORIC BUILDINGS, 4.0. 

4.1 Protection of Historic Structures and Sites  

 The primary concern of the Landmarks Board in reviewing additions to historic structures is the 

protection of the existing structure and the character of the site and district. 

 
 

Guideline 

 

Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
Construct new additions so that 

there is the least possible loss of 

historic fabric and so that the 

character-defining features of the 

historic building are not 

destroyed, damaged, or obscured. 

The addition is proposed at the rear 

of the historic house, in the location 

of an addition that had been there 

previously. The proposed 

construction will not destroy, damage 

or obscure character-defining features 

of the Italianate house.  

Yes  

.2 
New additions should be 

constructed so that they may be 

The proposed addition is located 

where an addition previously was. 
Yes  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 20 
 

removed in the future without 

damaging the historic structure. 

The addition is set in from the 

corners of the primary building and 

could be removed at a later time 

without damaging the historic 

structure.  

.3 
It is not appropriate to construct 

an addition that will detract from 

the overall historic character of the 

principal building and/or the site, 

or if it will require the removal of 

significant building elements or 

site features. 

The one-story, 405 sq. ft. addition to 

the two-story, 2,300 sq. ft. addition 

will not detract from the overall 

historic character of the building, and 

will not require the removal of 

significant building elements or site 

features.  

Yes  

4.2  Distinction from Historic Structures                                                                                                                                    

 
All additions should be discernible from the historic structure. When the original design is 

duplicated the historic evolution of the building becomes unclear. Instead, additions should be 

compatible with the historic architecture but clearly recognizable as new construction. 

 
 

Guideline 

 

Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
Distinguish an addition from the 

historic structure, but maintain 

visual continuity between the two. 

One common method is to step the 

addition back and/or set it in 

slightly from the historic 

structure. Every project is 

different and successful designs 

may incorporate a variety of 

approaches. 

The proposed addition is set in from 

the primary building. The massing 

and form of the one-story gabled 

form will be discernable to the two-

story hipped roof building. Detailing, 

including simplified window 

openings and simplification of the 

addition will also differentiate it from 

the 1878 portion.   

Yes  

.2 
Do not directly copy historic 

elements. Instead, interpret 

historic elements in simpler ways 

in the addition. 

The gable roof-form and massing of 

the proposed addition will reference, 

but not replicate an early addition. 

The addition as proposed is shown to 

be simpler than the main house.  

Yes  

.3 
Additions should be simpler in 

detail than the original structure. 

An addition that exhibits a more 

ornate style or implies an earlier 

period of architecture than that of 

the original is inappropriate. 

The addition as proposed is simple in 

style and design and does not imply 

an earlier period of architecture than 

the 1878 house.  

Yes  

.4 
The architectural style of 

additions should not imitate the 

The proposed addition does not seek 

to replicate the Italianate style of the 
Yes  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 21 
 

historic style but must be 

compatible with it. Contemporary 

style additions are possible, but 

require the utmost attention to 

these guidelines to be successful. 

The use of two distinct historic 

styles, such as adding Tudor-style 

half-timbering to a Classic 

Cottage, is inappropriate. 

original building. The addition 

references an earlier addition in mass, 

scale and location, but is simple in 

design.  

4.3  Compatibility with Historic Buildings                                                                       

 
Introducing new construction that contrasts sharply with an existing historic structure or site 

detracts from the visual continuity that marks our historic districts.  While additions should be 

distinguishable from the historic structure, they must not contrast so sharply as to detract from 

the original building and/or the site. Additions should never overwhelm historic structures or the 

site, in mass, scale or detailing. 

 
 

Guideline 

 

Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
An addition should be 

subordinate to the historic 

building, limited in size and scale 

so that it does not diminish or 

visually overpower the building.  

The one-story, 405 sq. ft. addition will 

be subordinate to and will not 

visually overpower the two-story, 

2,300 sq. ft. house.  

Yes  

.2 
Design an addition to be 

compatible with the historic 

building in mass, scale, materials 

and color.  For elevations visible 

from public streets, the 

relationship of solids to voids in 

the exterior walls should also be 

compatible. 

The proposed addition will be 

compatible with the historic building 

in mass, scale, materials and color. 

The relationship of solids to voids on 

the addition is compatible with the 

symmetrical pattern found on the 

main house.  

Yes  

.3 
Adding a partial or full story to 

the historic portion of a historic 

building is rarely appropriate. 

 

One-story addition proposed to a 

two-story house. Addition of a partial 

or full story is not proposed on the 

historic portion of the house.  

Yes  

.4 
Reflect the original symmetry or 

asymmetry of the historic 

building. 

 

The proposed addition references but 

does not replicate an earlier addition, 

and is compatible with the symmetry 

of the original house.  

Yes  

.5 
Preserve the vertical and 

horizontal proportion of a 

building's mass.   

The main house’s vertical massing 

will not be diminished or destroyed 

by the construction of a one-story 

Yes  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 22 
 

 addition at the rear elevation.  

4.4  Compatibility with Historic Site and Setting 

                                                                                                                                           

 
Additions should be designed and located so that significant site features, including mature 

trees, are not lost or obscured. The size of the addition should not overpower the site or 

dramatically alter its historic character. 

 
 

Guideline 

 

Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
Design new additions so that the 

overall character of the site, site 

topography, character-defining site 

features and trees are retained. 

 

The overall character of the site, 

topography and site features will 

be retained. The mature trees and 

historic fence at the front of the 

property will not be affected. The 

construction of the addition will 

not require the removal of mature 

trees in the rear yard.  

Yes  

.2 
Locate new additions on an 

inconspicuous elevation of the 

historic building, generally the rear 

one. Locating an addition to the 

front of a structure is inappropriate 

because it obscures the historic 

facade of a building. 

Addition is proposed at the rear of 

the historic house and will not be 

prominently visible from 

Arapahoe Ave.  

Yes 

.3 
Respect the established orientation 

of the original building and typical 

alignments in the area. 

Addition does not affect historic 

orientation and alignments of 

building of the historic house.  

Yes  

.4 
Preserve a backyard area between 

the house and the garage, 

maintaining the general proportion 

of built mass to open space found 

within the area. See Guideline 

2.1.1. 

 

Lot was subdivided in 2007, 

altering the historic pattern of the 

building lot and creating a unique 

relationship between the lot and 

house. However, the addition will 

not detract from the historic 

character of the main house, as the 

open space will be maintained on 

the east and north areas.   

Maybe  

4.5  Key Building Elements 

 
Roofs, porches, dormers, windows and doors are some of the most important character-defining 

elements of any building.  As such, they require extra attention to assure that they complement the 

historic architecture.  In addition to the guidelines below, refer also to Section 3.0 Alterations for 

related suggestions.  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 23 
 

 
 

Guideline 

 

Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
Maintain the dominant roofline 

and orientation of the roof form 

to the street. 

 

The one-story, gable and shed roofline of 

the addition will not affect the orientation 

of the dominant low-pitched hip roof of 

the house.  

Yes  

.2 
Rooflines on additions should be 

lower than and secondary to the 

roofline of the original building. 

The one-story roofline of the addition is 

lower than and secondary to the two-story 

historic building.  

Yes 

.3 
The existing roof form, pitch, 

eave depth, and materials should 

be used for all additions. 

 

The proposed gable and shed roof form 

differs from but is compatible with the 

existing hipped roof form. The addition 

referenced but does not replicate and 

earlier rear addition.  

Maybe  

.5 
Maintain the proportion, general 

style, and symmetry or 

asymmetry of the existing 

window patterns. 

 

The window pattern on the main house is 

symmetrical, typical of the Italianate 

style. The window pattern on the south 

elevation of the house and on the addition 

maintains this symmetry, proportion and 

general style of the existing window 

pattern.  

Yes  

.6 
Use window shapes that are 

found on the historic building.  

Do not introduce odd-shaped 

windows such as octagonal, 

triangular, or diamond-shaped 

Odd window shapes are not proposed; 

proportion of double-hung windows are 

compatible with the tall, narrow double-

hung windows found on the historic 

building.  

Yes  

.7 
Do not add divided light 

windows to structures that 

historically did not have divided 

light windows. 

2-over-2 double-hung windows proposed, 

referencing the window pattern of the 

original building.  

Yes  

.8 
Use materials and construction 

similar to historic windows. Do 

not use snap-in mullions. 

Snap-in mullions not proposed.  
Yes  

   

3.2  Roof Decks and Balconies 

 
Roof decks are deck areas above the first floor that are contained completely or partially in a roof 

mass. Balconies are railed or balustraded platforms that project from the building. Second story 

roof decks or balconies are characteristic of only a few architectural styles found in Boulder. 

They may be compatible additions, however, if located on the rear and if they are 

integrated into the primary structure. Second story roof decks or balconies are not 

appropriate for free-standing accessory buildings and garages. Any decks or balconies above the 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 24 
 

second story are inappropriate unless based on historic precedent. 

 
Guideline Analysis 

Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
Locate roof decks or balconies on the 

rear, not on the front, of the 

building. Front roof decks or 

balconies are appropriate only if 

recreating a documented historic 

element. 

Roof deck is proposed at the rear of 

the building, located above the 

proposed addition.  

Yes  

.2 
Integrate the roof deck or balcony 

into the structure either by setting it 

into the building or by 

incorporating it into the roof 

structure. 

Staff recommends the deck be 

further integrated into the roof 

structure of the addition to meet 

this guideline. Resolve at LDRC.  

Yes  

.3 
Avoid cantilevered projections from 

the building, and use appropriately 

scaled brackets or supports. 

Roof deck is not cantilevered from 

the building.  
Yes  

.4 
While current code requirements 

must be met, new railings should be 

as close as possible to historic 

heights. In addition, sensitive 

design may give the appearance of 

the lower railing heights found on 

historic structures. 

The proposed railing is simply 

detailed, and does not appear to be 

overscaled.  

Yes  

 

SITE DESIGN AND NEW ACCESSORY STRUCTURES   

SITE DESIGN 2.0 

2.4 Parking, Driveways 

 Historically, private parking was limited to the rear of the lot with access from the alley. There 

are instances where curb cuts have been added in the front yards, but these are generally later 

alterations and do not represent traditional parking patterns. 

 
Guideline Analysis 

Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
Maintain the traditional pattern of 

parking at the rear of the lot. 

Parking is proposed at the rear of 

the lot. Due to the subdivision of 

the lot in 2007, parking is not 

possible along the alley.  

Yes  

.2 
Access to parking should be from the 

alleys whenever possible. 

Access is from the alley.  
Yes  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 25 
 

.3 
Parking in the front yard is 

inappropriate. 

Parking is not proposed in the 

front yard.  
No  

.4 
New curb cuts from the street are 

inappropriate. When adding a garage or 

significantly altering an existing garage 

on the alley any front curb cut should be 

vacated and closed. 

Curb cut not proposed.  
N/A 

.6 
Historically appropriate paving 

materials, such as flagstone or brick, can 

be used to visually break up larger 

parking areas. 

Paving material is not indicated in 

application.  
Maybe  

.7 
Paving driveways or garage access areas 

with asphalt or concrete gives a modern 

look and is generally inappropriate, 

particularly when adjacent to unpaved 

alleys. Flagstone or brick wheel strips 

are the preferred alternative. 

Paving material is not indicated in 

application.  
Maybe  

GARAGES & OTHER ACCESSORY STRUCTURES 

7.2 New Accessory Buildings 

New accessory buildings should follow the character and pattern of historic accessory structures. While 

they should be take design clues from the primary structure, they must be subordinate to the primary 

structure in size, massing and detailing.  Alley buildings should maintain a scale that is pleasant to 

walk along and comfortable for pedestrians. 

 Guideline Analysis Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 It is inappropriate to introduce a new 

garage or accessory building if doing 

so will detract from the overall historic 

character of the principal building and 

the site, or if it will require the removal 

of a significant historic building 

element or site feature, such as a 

mature tree. 

The diminutive size of the one-

story, one-car garage will not 

detract from the overall historic 

character of the principal building 

and site. Proposed construction 

will to require the removal of 

mature trees or building elements.  

Yes  

 

.2 New garages and accessory buildings 

should generally be located at the rear 

of the lot, respecting the traditional 

relationship of such buildings to the 

Due to the subdivision of the lot in 

2007, parking is not possible along 

the alley. The accessory building is 

set back 46-48 ft. from the north 

Maybe  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 26 
 

primary structure and the site. property line, in the side yard of 

the designated property. Staff 

recommends the applicant explore 

the possibility of locating the 

garage as close to the rear property 

line as possible. Resolve at LDRC.  

.3 Maintain adequate spacing between 

accessory buildings so alleys do not 

evolve into tunnel-like passageways. 

Parking along alley not possible 

due to 2007 subdivision of the lot.  

N/A 

.4 Preserve a backyard area between the 

house and the accessory buildings, 

maintaining the general proportion of 

built mass to open space found within 

the area. 

Lot was subdivided in 2007, 

altering the historic pattern of the 

building lot and creating a unique 

relationship between the lot and 

house. However, the addition will 

not detract from the historic 

character of the main house, as the 

open space will be maintained on 

the east and north areas.   

Maybe 

.5 New accessory structures should take 

design cues from the primary 

structure on the site, but be 

subordinate to it in terms of size and 

massing. 

The new building is clearly 

contemporary but generally 

compatible with the primary 

building in terms of architectural 

details and materials.  

Yes  

.7 Roof form and pitch should be 

complimentary to the primary 

structure. 

The form and pitch of roof 

complimentary with the main 

house.   

Yes 

.8 Accessory structures should be simpler 

in design and detail than the primary 

building. 

The proposed garage is simpler 

than house in scale and detail. 

Yes  

.9 Materials for new garages and 

accessory structures should be 

compatible with those found on the 

primary structure and in the district.  

Vinyl siding and prefabricated 

structures are inappropriate. 

Materials as proposed, including 

wood lap siding, windows and 

doors are appropriate. Provide 

material/color details to Ldrc for 

review and approval.  

Yes  

.10 Windows, like all elements of accessory The proportions, design and Yes  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 27 
 

buildings, should be simpler in 

detailing and smaller in scale than 

similar elements on primary 

structures. 

materials of proposed are generally 

consistent. 

 

Reconfiguration of Fenestration on South (Rear) Elevation  

Staff considers the proposed reconfiguration of the fenestration on the south elevation 

to be inconsistent with the historic preservation ordinance and Section 3.7 of the General 

Design Guidelines and the three window openings on the south elevation to be 

“Historically Important Windows” as they are likely original to the construction of the 

house and have not been significantly altered. The General Design Guidelines defines a 

Secondary Elevation as “typically a side of a building that has less public visibility, and 

may have fewer significant character defining features than on the façade. An elevation 

that has visibility from an alley may be considered a secondary elevation.” Staff 

considers the south elevation to meet this definition.  

 

Staff considers that the removal of the three window openings will adversely affect the 

historic integrity of the property, as the window openings are original to the house and 

the design guidelines discourages the removal or relocation of window openings.  

Staff considers that a single opening to access the roof deck would be appropriate on 

the west side of the south elevation. Staff suggests that the door opening be simplified 

to avoid confusion about the date of the proposed modification. This may include 

removing the decorative sills. 

 

Construction of Rear Addition  

Staff considers that the proposed construction of a rear addition is generally consistent 

with Sections 3.2 and 4.0 of the General Design Guidelines. The one-story, 405 sq. ft. 

addition to the two-story, 2,300 sq. ft. addition will not detract from the overall historic 

character of the building and will not require the removal of significant building 

elements or site features. The proposed addition references, but does not replicate an 

earlier addition and is compatible with the symmetry of the original house. The 

addition is not prominently visible from Arapahoe Ave., and its scale and massing will 

not visually overwhelm the historic building. The proposed materials are appropriate, 

and the addition will be discernable from the historic portion of the building through 

simplification of window openings and material detailing. Staff recommends that the 

roof deck be further integrated into the roof structure of the proposed addition to meet 

Guideline 3.2.2.  

 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 28 
 

Construction of a New Accessory Building  

Staff considers that the proposed construction of the new accessory building to be 

generally consistent with Sections 2.0 and 7.2 of the General Design Guidelines. Due to the 

configuration of the lot, the proposed location is as close to the rear property line as 

possible to achieve the required 24’ vehicle back out distance. The one-story, 317 sq. ft. 

garage is diminutive in size and simple in detailing. Staff considers that the construction 

of the garage will not damage or destroy the architectural or historic character of the 

landmarked site. Staff recommends that the applicant explore locating the garage as 

close to the rear property line as possible to further lessen the visual impact from 

Arapahoe Ave.  

 

REQUEST FOR SUPPORT OF A BOZA VARIANCE  

Section 9-2-3(h)(4) of the Boulder Revised Code states that a variance should be 

considered by the Board of Zoning Adjustment (BOZA) if the property is historically 

designated and that, if the property were developed in conformity with the provisions 

of the code, the resulting development would have “an adverse impact” upon the 

historic character of the building. If the Landmarks Board finds that the proposed 

addition and garage meet the standards for a Landmark Alteration Certificate, staff 

recommends that the board express support for a BOZA variance.  

 

Staff considers that locating the addition and garage in a conforming location would be 

inappropriate as it would result in a building that does not match the proportions of the 

historic house and would detract from the character of the primary house. Staff 

considers that these “by right” alternatives would have an adverse affect upon the 

house per Section 9.2.3(h)(4) of the B.R.C. The current proposal is consistent with the 

historic preservation ordinance and the General Design Guidelines. To this end, staff 

recommends that the Landmarks Board express support for the requested variance 

from Board of Zoning Adjustment (BOZA) under criterion 4. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

Historic Boulder, Inc. has submitted a letter of support for the proposed construction of 

an addition and new garage. See Attachment E: Historic Boulder Letter 

 

FINDINGS: 

Provided the conditions outlined in the staff recommendation are met, staff 

recommends that the Landmarks Board approve the application and adopt the 

following findings: 

 

1. The proposed new construction meets the standards in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 

1981. 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 29 
 

  

2. The proposed new construction will not have an adverse effect on the value 

of the landmark property, as it will be generally compatible in terms of mass, 

scale, and orientation of the landmark site.  

 

3. In terms of mass, scale, and orientation, the proposal will be generally 

consistent with Section 9-11-18 B.R.C.1981, and the General Design Guidelines. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

A: Background Information  

B: Applicant Letter  

C: Existing and Proposed Plans 

D:  Photographs 

E:  Letter of Support from Historic Boulder, Inc.  

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 30 
 

Ezra K. Barker, undated. 

Carnegie Branch Library for 

Local History 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A:  Background Information 

 

Hannah Barker and 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

The following is an excerpt from the Landmarks Board Designation Memo dated 

2008.  

In 1872, Marinus “Marine” Smith platted the Smith’s 

Addition to West Boulder, which included the land upon 

which the house at 800 Arapahoe now stands.  In 1877, the 

property was purchased by Ezra K. Barker, a well-known 

builder and real estate and mining investor in Boulder.  

Ezra K. Barker married Hannah Connell on November 30, 

1877, in Valmont, Colorado.  Hannah was born in 1844 in 

Ireland, and immigrated to Springfield, Massachusetts with 

her parents at the age of six.  In 1867, at the age of 23, she 

began traveling west from Iowa with William and Mary K. 

Davidson (for whom Davidson Mesa is named) and arrived 

in Ward, Colorado, where she began teaching.  After two years, she moved to Boulder, 

and began teaching in the Boulder Valley School District.  Following her marriage to 

Ezra, she retired from teaching and took up philanthropic and civic affairs.  After only 6 

years of marriage, Ezra died in 1883, and Hannah inherited the extensive land holdings 

and wealth that Ezra had amassed.   

 

Hannah continued to develop the Barker land holdings, including platting the town of 

Highland Lawn in 1884.  Highland Lawn was annexed into the city of Boulder in 1891.  

Hannah was active in many community affairs, including the Literary Society (later the 

Fortnightly Club, which evolved into the Boulder Public Library), the Boulder Women’s 

Club, and was a founder of the Boulder Creamery in 1887.  She also gave liberally to the 

Congregational Church, including writing the church history, and donating half the 

$2,500 needed to purchase an organ.  She also contributed financially to the University 

to construct a new wing to the Hospital, Chautauqua, and the YMCA.  In 1911, she 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 31 
 

donated half a city block at the corner of 15th and Spruce Streets for use as a city park 

and public facility.  The site continues today as the Boulder Day Nursery and Public 

Park and playground.   In 1907, she sold her summer home and ranch in Nederland to 

the city of Boulder for $23,000, to make way for the construction of a reservoir and dam, 

which were named in her and Ezra’s honor.  From 1898 until her death in 1918, Hannah 

served as a director of the Boulder Bank.  Prior to 1900, Hannah lived in her house with 

her close friend and fellow widow Mary K. Davidson, as well as Vina Knowles, who 

may have been Mary’s sister.  Hannah died in 1918 after suffering from poor health for 

more than two years.  She died as a result of influenza, one of many who lost their lives 

as part of the 1918 flu pandemic.  She is buried in Green Mountain Cemetery.  Hannah 

left behind an estate valued at $62,400, and left her home to her lifelong friend Mary 

Knowles Davidson.  Mary died five years later in 1923.  The house passed to her heirs, 

and in 1927 the estate was finally settled in court, and the house sold to William I. 

Reynolds. The house at 800 Arapahoe is significant for the association with the Barkers 

and Mary Davidson as persons of local significance, and moreover to the association 

with Hannah Barker, one of the most significant pioneer women in Boulder.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 32 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment B:  Applicant Letter 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 33 
 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 34 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 35 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 36 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 37 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 38 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 39 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 40 
 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 41 
 

 
 

 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 42 
 

 

 

Attachment C:  Plans and Elevations 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 43 
 

Site Plan - Proposed 

 
Existing East Elevation 

 

 
Existing North Elevation 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 44 
 

 
Existing South Elevation 

 
Existing West Elevation 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 45 
 

 
Proposed east elevation 

 

 
Proposed north elevation 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 46 
 

 
Proposed South elevation  

 
Proposed West elevation 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 47 
 

 
Main Level Existing 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 48 
 

 
Main Level proposed 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 49 
 

 
Upper Level existing 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 50 
 

 
Upper Level proposed 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 51 
 

 
Proposed garage east elevation 

 

 
Proposed garage north elevation 

 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 52 
 

 
Proposed garage west elevation 

 

 
Proposed garage south elevation 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 53 
 

 
Rendering of proposed north elevation  

 
Rendering of proposed south and east elevations 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 54 
 

 
Rendering of proposed south and west elevations 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 55 
 

Attachment D:  Photographs 

 
800 Arapahoe Ave., rear addition, east elevation, 2007 (demolished in 2009) 

 

 
800 Arapahoe Ave., rear addition, west elevation, 2007 (demolished in 2009) 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 56 
 

  
800 Arapahoe, northeast corner, 2015. 

 

 
800 Arapahoe, north elevation (façade), 2015. 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 57 
 

 
800 Arapahoe, View of proposed location for garage, 2015. 

 

 
800 Arapahoe, northwest corner, 2015. 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 58 
 

 
800 Arapahoe, view of south elevation as approached from alley, 2015. 

 

 
800 Arapahoe, view of proposed location for garage, 2015.  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 59 
 

 
800 Arapahoe, south elevation, 2015. 

 

 
800 Arapahoe, east elevation, 2015. 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for 800 Arapahoe Ave.  

  Agenda Item # 5C Page 60 
 

 

Attachment E: Letter of Support from Historic Boulder, Inc.  

 



Agenda Item # 5C Page 1 

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

October 7, 2015 

 

TO:   Landmarks Board 
 

FROM:  Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 

James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 

Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 

Angela Smelker, Historic Preservation Intern 

 

SUBJECT:    Public hearing and consideration of an application for the 

removal of outdoor seating at the landmark Glen 

Huntington Bandshell in Central Park per Section 9-11-18 of 

the Boulder Revised Code, 1981 (HIS2015-00237).  

   

STATISTICS: 

1. Site:     1236 Canyon Blvd. 

2. Designation:    Individual Landmark  

3. Historic Name:   Glen Huntington Bandshell 

4. Date of Construction:  1938 

5. Zoning:    P (Public)  

6. Lot size:    88,695 sq. ft. 

7. Applicant/Owner: Parks and Recreation Department, City 

of Boulder 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

If the applicant complies with the conditions listed below, staff considers the 

proposed removal of outdoor seating at the Glen Huntington Bandshell to be 

generally consistent with the conditions specified in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, 

and the General Design Guidelines.  Staff recommends that the Landmarks Board 

adopt the following motion:  

I move that the Landmarks Board adopt the staff memorandum dated Oct. 7, 2015, as the 

findings of the board and approve a Landmark Alteration Certificate for the proposed 

removal of outdoor seating shown on plans dated September 2, 2015, finding that they 

generally meet the standards for issuance of a Landmark Alteration Certificate in Section 

9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, subject to the following conditions: 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 2 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

1. The applicant shall be responsible for the removal of outdoor seating, 

relocation of the bermed area and construction of a new path, all in 

compliance with the approved plans dated September 2, 2015, except as 

modified by these conditions of approval.  

 

2. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of the 

Landmark Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit the following: 

 

 Revised plans showing the proposed new path to more closely match 

the course and permeable materiality of the path shown in the c.1940 

photograph or the 1947 Saco DeBoer rendering. 

 Detailed photographs and dimensions of the seating prior to removal 

in the event that it is to be reinstalled in the future.  

 

These design details shall be reviewed and approved by the Landmarks 

design review committee, prior to the issuance of a building permit. The 

applicant shall demonstrate that the design details are in compliance with the 

intent of this approval and the General Design Guidelines.  

 

SUMMARY 

 The application was referred to the full Landmarks Board by the Landmarks 

design review committee. 

 Based upon review of the designating ordinance and subsequent historic 

research, staff does not consider the bench seating to be part of DeBoer and 

Huntington’s plan and is not an important, character-defining feature of the 

landmark site.  

 Provided the listed conditions are met, staff recommends the Landmarks 

Board approve the proposal to remove the seating, move the bermed area and 

construct a new pathway to provide access to the bandshell. 

 

PROPERTY HISTORY: 

The Boulder Bandshell was erected in Central Park by the Boulder Lions Club in 

1938 as an outdoor amphitheater for musical concerts and other forms of 

community entertainment. Architect Glen Huntington designed the structure 

and landscape architect and city planner Saco R. DeBoer selected the site and 

prepared the landscape plan. Huntington is credited with designing some of the 

most prominent buildings in Boulder, including the County Courthouse and 

Boulder High School, as well as many fraternities, sororities, and residential 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 3 
 

buildings. DeBoer worked primarily in Denver, but consulted with the City of 

Boulder on a number of projects during the 1920s and 1930s.  

 

In 1910, DeBoer was appointed as landscape architect for the City of Denver and 

during his tenure in this role completed several large projects there including the 

Sunken Gardens and Speer Boulevard. Aside from writing zoning 

recommendations for the City of Boulder, DeBoer’s other Boulder works include 

his design for Beech Park in University, the Boulder High School grounds with 

Glen Huntington, the Flagstaff Amphitheater, and North Boulder Park. Having 

lived and worked in Denver for over sixty years, DeBoer is best remembered for 

his efforts at integrating the American City Beautiful movement into his city 

planning and park development work.  

 

 
Figure 1. Glen Huntington Bandshell, 2015. 

 

Central Park has occupied the block bounded by Broadway, Canyon Blvd., and 

13th St. since the late 1800s, although it was initially called “Cigarette Park.”  

When the Bandshell was constructed in 1939, railroad tracks ran along Water 

Street (Canyon Blvd.) and Broadway was a two-lane road with parking on either 

side. Train service to central Boulder was discontinued in 1957 and Canyon 

Boulevard was constructed in the 1960s. Today it functions as a major east-west 

thoroughfare through the city and is designated as a state highway. 

 

Over the course of the last 77 years, the Glen Huntington Bandshell (named after 

its designer) has been the site of a variety of musical concerts, cultural programs, 

educational presentations, and civic gatherings in the heart of Boulder. In 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 4 
 

response to a proposal to remove the structure from its current location in 1995, 

the Modern Architecture Preservation League submitted a landmark designation 

application. Later that year, the City Council designated the Bandshell as a local 

landmark, recognizing its historic, architectural and environmental significance 

to the city. 

 

In designating the Bandshell in 1995, the Landmarks Board (then the Landmarks 

Preservation Advisory Board) and the City Council found the structure and its 

site to have historic significance for the role it has played in the social and 

cultural life of the city; its importance in the history of park development in 

Boulder; and for its association with the Boulder Lions Club and that 

organization’s program of improving Boulder Parks. 

  

Likewise, the 1995 designation documentation of the Bandshell found it to be 

architecturally significant as a rare representative of the Art Deco in Boulder and 

as the only example of park bandshell construction in the city and one of the few 

such examples in the state; and as a representative work of Saco R. DeBoer and 

Glen W. Huntington, noted landscape architect and architect, who are associated 

with the site design and the design of the structure. 
 

The Bandshell is also environmentally significant for its planned and natural site 

characteristics; as a component of the central urban park; and as an established, 

familiar, and prominent visual landmark with its arched design and its location 

near major thoroughfares.   

 

 
Figure 2. Aerial looking northwest over Central Park, c. 1940. 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 5 
 

 

 

 
Figure 3.“Sketch of proposed civic center and war memorial by DeBoer, 1947.  

Note Bandshell with no seating seen at right. 

 

Figure 2 shows the landscaping around the Bandshell in 1940, with two paths 

crossing in front of the stage. Figure 3 shows a rendering prepared by Saco 

DeBoer in 1947 as part of the plan for a boulevard through Central Park and 

along Boulder Creek and for a new city building. Benches or other seating is not 

depicted in the rendering.  

 

DESCRIPTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 4. Location map and Landmark Boundary of Bandshell. 

 

ARAPAHOE



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 6 
 

The semi-elliptical Glen Huntington Bandshell is located on the south side of 

Canyon Boulevard between Broadway and 13th Street and faces southward 

towards a bermed area with amphitheater seating. Six concentric arches 

comprise the clamshell form of the Bandshell reflecting a simplified streamline 

Art Deco design, characteristic of many such structures constructed around the 

country during the 1930s and 1940s.  

 

 
Figure 5. View of Bandshell seating, facing northwest, 2015. 

 

The 1995 Landmark boundary is described as, “the northern 170 feet of Block 13, 

Original Townsite to the City of Boulder, County of Boulder, State of Colorado, 

also known as the Boulder Bandshell”.  

 
Figure 6. 1996 Landmark Designation Boundary (Hatched Line) 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 7 
 

 

The seating directly facing the Bandshell consists of 15 rows of benches divided 

by aisles into five groups. There is a low stone retaining wall behind the seating. 

Photographs indicate that the seating was constructed in 1950, about 12 years 

after the Bandshell’s construction. As shown on the landmark boundary map (see 

Figure 5), the extent of the landmark includes the bermed embankment and 

seating. 

 

 
Figure 7. The installation of the seating and floodlights at the Bandshell, 1950. 

 

 
Figure 8. View of Bandshell seating, 2015.  

 

Today, much of the landscaping around the Bandshell amphitheater reflects the 

original plan including trees along the edges and to the rear and bushes behind 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 8 
 

the seating area to the south. Photographs indicate that evergreen shrubs were 

located in front of the stage until the early 1980s.  

 

 
Figure 9. View of low retaining wall and vegetation behind Bandshell seating, 2015.  

 

PROPOSED REMOVAL OF OUTDOOR SEATING  

The application proposes to remove the 1950 outdoor seating in front of the 

Bandshell to provide a more functional and multi-use lawn area to promote use 

of the Bandshell, coinciding with efforts to better integrate that area into the 

Central Park and the Civic Area as a whole. As proposed, this scheme seeks to 

improve the Bandshell as a performing arts facility integral to the functioning of 

the east end of the Civic Area. In an effort to achieve this goal, Parks and 

Recreation proposes to move the bermed area closer to the stage, reducing some 

of the flat gravelled area to bring spectators and performers closer together. The 

bermed area is shown to be a lawn seating area intended to improve spectator 

and performer experience. It is anticipated that this configuration will somewhat 

improve the acoustic experience for attendees, as they will be closer to the stage.   

 

Parks and Recreation indicates that the removal of the seating and change in 

grading will coincide with other improvements within the landmark boundary 

area including improved lighting and increased programming for the Bandshell. 

A curved multi-use lane is proposed to curve across the southeast half of the 

landmarked area and a “tree grove” is to be planted at the southwest corner.  

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 9 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 10. Proposed site plan with Bandshell seating removed. Blue dashed line shows 

the landmark boundary.  

 

 
Figure 11. Proposed view looking northeast after removal of seating, 2015. 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 10 
 

 
Figure 12. View of Central Park if the Bandshell seating were to remain.  

Notice change in orientation of bike lane to the right, 2015 
 

CRITERIA FOR THE BOARD’S DECISION 

Sections 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, sets forth the standards the Landmarks Board must 

apply when reviewing a request for a Landmark Alteration Certificate. 

(a) The landmarks board and the city council shall not approve an application for 

a landmark alteration certificate unless each such agency finds that the 

proposed work is consistent with the purposes of this chapter. 

(b) Neither the Landmarks Board nor the City Council shall approve a Landmark 

Alteration Certificate unless it meets the following conditions: 

(1) The proposed work preserves, enhances, or restores and does not 

damage or destroy the exterior architectural features of the 

landmark or the subject property within an historic district; 

(2) The proposed work does not adversely affect the special character 

or special historic, architectural, or aesthetic interest or value of the 

landmark and its site or the district; 

(3) The architectural style, arrangement, texture, color, arrangement of 

color, and materials used on existing and proposed constructions 

are compatible with the character of the existing landmark and its 

site or the historic district; 

(4) With respect to a proposal to demolish a building in an historic 

district, the proposed new construction to replace the building 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 11 
 

meets the requirements of paragraphs (b)(2) and (3) above. 

(c) In determining whether to approve a Landmark Alteration Certificate, the 

Landmarks Board shall consider the economic feasibility of alternatives, 

incorporation of energy-efficient design, and enhanced access for the 

disabled. 

ANALYSIS 

1. Does the proposed application preserve, enhance, or restore, and not damage or destroy 

the exterior architectural features of the landmark or the subject property within an 

historic district?  

Staff considers that the existing seating is not character-defining as it does not 

appear in DeBoer and Huntington’s plan for the Bandshell (see Figure 3). Its 

removal will not damage important features of the property provided the listed 

conditions are met and the bermed lawn area will enhance the Bandshell by 

making it a more viable performance space integral to the Central Park area of 

the Civic area. Likewise, constructing a new pathway will not damage the 

landmark provided the listed conditions are met. Staff recommends that the 

proposed path more closely follow the path show in the 1938 aerial photograph 

and DeBoer’s c.1947 rendering.  

2. Does the proposed application adversely affect the special character or special historic, 

architectural, or aesthetic interest or value of the district? 

The proposal will not adversely affect the historic, architectural or aesthetic value 

of the landmark as outlined in (1), above. 

3. Is the architectural style, arrangement, texture, color, arrangement of color, and 

materials used on existing and proposed structures compatible with the character of the 

historic district? 

Provided the listed conditions are met, the proposal will be compatible with the 

character of the Glen Huntington Bandshell Landmark. 

4. Does the proposal to demolish the building within the Mapleton Hill Historic District 

and the proposed new construction to replace the proposed demolished building meet the 

requirements of paragraphs 9-11-18(b)(2), 9-11-18(b)(3) and 9-11-18(b)(4) of this 

section?  

Staff does not consider the bench seating to be an important character-defining 

feature of the landmark and its removal will meet the above requirements.  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 12 
 

 

DESIGN GUIDELINES ANALYSIS: 

The Historic Preservation Ordinance sets forth the standards the Landmarks 

Board must apply when reviewing a request for a Landmark Alteration 

Certificate.  The Board has adopted the General Design Guidelines and the 

Mapleton Hill Historic District Design Guidelines to help interpret the historic 

preservation ordinance.  The following is an analysis of the proposed new 

construction with respect to relevant guidelines.  Design guidelines are intended 

to be used as an aid to appropriate design and not as a checklist of items for 

compliance.  

 

The following is an analysis of the proposal’s compliance with the appropriate 

sections of the General Design Guidelines. 

 

GENERAL DESIGN GUIDELINES 

2.5  Sidewalks                                                                                                                               

 
 

Guideline 

 

Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
New walkways should be designed 

to be compatible in location, 

pattern, spacing, dimensions, 

materials and color with existing 

walkways that contribute to the 

overall historic character of the 

landmark.   

 

The 1940 aerial photograph (Figure 

2) show pathways crossing in front 

of the Bandshell. These pathways 

appear to have been eliminated 

sometime after 1950 when the 

concrete and wood plank benches 

were installed. The paths are 

visible in De Boer’s c.1947 

rendering, and appear to have been 

consciously designed to provide 

access across the park as well as to 

the Bandshell. Staff considers that 

while the geometry of the proposed 

path differs from that on the 1940 

photograph, it does recall the east 

curving path in that photograph. 

Steps might be taken to more 

closely a new path to more closely 

match the configuration of the 1940 

path. 

Maybe 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 13 
 

3.0  Alterations                                                                                                                              

 
 

Guideline 

 

Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

 
. . . an alteration should preserve 

the historic (resource) . . . 

 

The proposal calls for the removal 

of seating installed in 1950. The 

concrete and plank benches do not 

appear to have been part of DeBoer 

and Huntington’s plan for the 

Bandshell. The 1995 designating 

ordinance for the landmark does 

not specifically call out the 

benches, but refers generally to the 

importance of the “planned and 

natural site characteristics.” While 

the seating has been in place for 65 

years, staff does not consider this 

element a significant character-

defining feature of the landmark. 

Yes 

 

4.4  Compatibility with Historic Site and Setting                                                                                                                                    

 
Additions should be designed and located so that significant site features, including mature 

trees, are not lost or obscured. The size of the addition should not overpower the site or 

dramatically alter its historic character. 

 
 

Guideline 

 

Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
Design new additions so that the 

overall character of the site, site 

topography, character-defining site 

features and trees are retained. 

 

The addition of the proposed new 

pathway will retain the general 

character of the landmark provided 

steps are taken to ensure that its 

course and configuration match the 

historic (c. 1940 condition) as 

closely as possible. Likewise, staff 

does not consider the proposed 

concrete and plank bench seating 

or the relocation of the bermed area 

north on the site will significantly 

alter the character of the landmark. 

Consider using permeable paving 

material for path and provide for 

slightly more level area in front of 

Maybe 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 14 
 

the stage. Review revisions at Ldrc.  

.3 
Respect the established orientation 

of the original building and typical 

alignments in the area. 

The addition of the proposed new 

pathway will retain and relocation 

of bermed area will maintain the 

alignment and orientation of 

features to the Bandshell in the 

landmark area. Review details at 

Ldrc. 

Yes 

 

8.7  Public Improvements                                                                                                                                   

 
Public Improvement features such as street lighting, street and alley paving, tree planting, parks, 

and sidewalks all contribute to the historic character of a historic district or site.  

 
 

Guideline 

 

Analysis 
Meets 

Guideline? 

.1 
Any public improvement should 

maintain and reinforce the 

character of the landmark.  

 

 Staff considers that the proposed 

removal of the benches, the 

relocation of the bermed area and 

the construction of a pathway will 

maintain and strengthen the 

character of the landmark. In 

addition, the proposed 

reconfiguration will enhance and 

improve the function of the 

Bandshell, its long-term viability as 

a vital component of the Civic area. 

Review details at the Ldrc. 

Yes  

 

Staff considers that proposed conditions are met, the removal of seating, 

relocation of the bermed area and creation of a new pathway in the landmark 

boundary are all generally consistent with the General Design Guidelines. Keeping 

the Bandshell an active and vibrant part of Central Park has been a challenge 

since at least the mid-1970s and staff considers the proposed changes will open 

this historic asset for use and appreciation that will help ensure its long term 

viability. While not within the purview of the historic preservation program, the 

success of the Bandshell as a performing will also depend on consistent and 

accessible programming in coordination with Parks and Recreation to change 

negative perceptions of the place as underutilized and isolated. 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 15 
 

Provided the outlined conditions are met, staff considers issuance of a Landmark 

Alteration Certificate for the proposed removal of the seating, relocation of the 

bermed area and location of a new pathway across the landmark will be 

generally consistent with the Historic Preservation Ordinance, the General Design 

Guidelines. As such, staff finds the application meets the standards in Section 9-

11-18, B.R.C. 1981. 

 

FINDINGS: 

Provided the conditions outlined in the staff recommendation are met, staff 

recommends that the Landmarks Board approve the application and adopt the 

following findings: 

 

1. The proposed new construction will meet the standards in Section 9-

11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code 1981. 

  

2. The proposed removal of the bench seating, relocation of the bermed 

area and construction of a new pathway will not have an adverse effect 

on the value of the landmark property, as it will be generally 

compatible in terms of mass, scale, or orientation with other buildings 

in the district.  

 

3. In terms of mass, scale, and orientation, the proposal will be generally 

consistent with Section 9-11-18, B.R.C.1981, and the General Design 

Guidelines.   

 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

A:  Current Photographs 

B: Historic Photographs & Maps 

C: Individual Landmark Designation Ordinance 

D:  Proposed Plans 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 16 
 

Attachment A: Current Photographs 

 
Bandshell seating looking northwest, 2015. 

 

 
Bandshell seating looking north, 2015.  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 17 
 

 

 
Bandshell seating looking northeast, 2015. 

 

 
Bandshell seating looking southwest, 2015. 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 18 
 

 
Bandshell seating looking east toward 13th Street. 2015. 

 

 
Close up view of benches, 2015.  

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 19 
 

 
Alternate close up view of Bandshell seating, 2015.  

 

 

 
Landscaping behind Bandshell seating, 2015.  

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 20 
 

 
Bandshell looking north, 2015.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 21 
 

Attachment B: Historic Photographs & Maps 

 

 
Aerial view of Central Park showing Bandshell (top center) with no seating, 1938. 

 

 
Aerial view of Central Park after installation of seating, 1958. 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 22 
 

 

 
View of seating looking west towards Broadway shortly after installation 

(Municipal Building has not yet been constructed), 1950. 

 

 
View of Bandshell looking northwest, 1961. 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 23 
 

 

 
“Proposed Boulevard & City Building Group,” by  

Saco DeBoer & Co., 1945. Bandshell seen in center. 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 24 
 

 
“Sketch of Proposed Civic Center and War Memorial,” by 

Saco DeBoer & Co., 1947. Bandshell seen at far right. 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 25 
 

 
Close up view of Bandshell (red structure in center along crease) taken from 

“Boulder Creek Boulevard” by S.R. DeBoer & Co., undated. 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 26 
 

Attachment C: Individual Landmark Designation Ordinance 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 27 
 

 
 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 28 
 

 

Attachment D:  Proposed Plans 
 

 
Updated Site Plan Scope, 2015. Bandshell area is circled in red. 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 29 
 

 
Proposed Plan for Farmers’ Market Loop, 2015. 

 

 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 30 
 

 
Alternate proposed plan for Farmers’ Market Loop if seating were to remain, 

2015. 

 

 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 31 
 

 
Enlargement Plan: Central Park, 2015. 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 32 
 

 

 

“Alley” – Existing Plan, 2015.  

 

 
Site Analysis, 2015.  



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 33 
 

 



Memo to the Landmarks Board 

Re: Landmark Alteration Certificate for Glen Huntington Bandshell.  

  Agenda Item # 5A Page 34 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 





WEST BASELINE PEDESTRIAN IMPROVEMENTS

CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN

6th STREET to GRANT PLACE

SEPTEMBER, 2015

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
S

E
E

  F
IG

U
R

E
 2

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E

RIGHT OF WAY
(TYP)

EXISTING OPEN
SPACE PATH (TYP) BOULDER OPEN SPACE & MOUNTAIN PARKS

BASELINE ROAD

6T
H

 S
TR

E
E

T

7T
H

 S
TR

E
E

T

8T
H

 S
TR

E
E

T

G
R

A
N

T 
P

LA
C

E

BASELINE ROAD

KINNIKINIC RD

PROPOSED SIDEWALK
(SEE TYP. SECT)

PROPOSED RAISED MEDIAN
ISLAND W/ NEW PEDESTRIAN

CROSSING (TRAFFIC CALMING)

PROPOSED INTERSECTION &
PEDESTRIAN CONNECTION

IMPROVEMENTS

PROPOSED SIDEWALK
(SEE TYP. SECT)

EXISTING CURB &
GUTTER & PARKING
TO REMAIN

CHAUTAUQUA

BOULDER OPEN SPACE & MOUNTAIN PARKS

RIGHT OF WAY
(TYP)

APPROXIMATE
LIMITS OF GRADING
(2:1)

APPROXIMATE
LIMITS OF GRADING
(2:1)

CL
OSE

 P
AT

H

CLO
SE P

ATH

C
LO

SE PATH

C
LO

S
E

 P
A

TH

C
LO

SE PATH C
LO

SE PATH

C
LO

S
E

 P
A

TH

REALIGN PATH TO
CONNECT WITH NEW
RAMP

NEW CURB RAMP

CLO
SE P

ATH

BEGIN SIDEWALK &
ON-STREET PARKING

APPROXIMATE
LIMITS OF GRADING
(2:1)

NEW CURB RAMP
NEW CURB RAMP

NEW CURB RAMP

NEW CURB RAMP

NEW CURB RAMP

CRUSHER FINES PATH
CONNECTION TO BASELINE RD.

EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN
(PROTECT) (TYP)

DESIGNATED PATH
CONNECTION (TBD)

PROPOSED SIDEWALK
(SEE TYP. SECT)

DESIGNATED PATH
CONNECTION (TBD)

DESIGNATED PATH
CONNECTION (TBD)

DESIGNATED PATH
CONNECTION (TBD)





WEST BASELINE PEDESTRIAN IMPROVEMENTS

CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN

 GRANT PLACE to 10th STREET

SEPTEMBER, 2015

S
E

E
  F

IG
U

R
E

 1

G
R

A
N

T 
P

LA
C

E

BASELINE ROAD

KINNIKINIC RD

REMOVE 3 PARKING
STALLS

PROPOSED CURB BULB OUT &
CURB RAMP

PROPOSED INTERSECTION &
PEDESTRIAN CONNECTION
IMPROVEMENTS

PROPOSED SIDEWALK &
GRADING (SEE TYP. SECT. #1)

9T
H

 S
TR

E
E

T

LI
N

C
O

LN
 P

LA
C

E

10
TH

 S
TR

E
E

T

10
TH

 S
TR

E
E

T

CHAUTAUQUA

CHAUTAUQUA

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E

BASELINE ROAD

CONNECT TO & PRESERVE
HISTORIC STAIR ACCESS.

REPAIR FLAGSTONE STEPS

RIGHT OF WAY
(TYP)

RIGHT OF WAY
(TYP)

EXISTING CURB &
GUTTER TO REMAIN

PROPOSED CURB BULB OUT,
BUS STOP & PEDESTRIAN

MID-BLOCK XING

RECONSTRUCT EXISTING
STAIRS & PROVIDE ADA RAMP
FROM BUS STOP

NEW CURB RAMP

CONCRETE SIDEWALK & MISC.
GRADING (SEE TYP. SECT. #3)

APPROXIMATE
LIMITS OF GRADING
(TYP)

APPROXIMATE
LIMITS OF GRADING

REMOVE EXISTING
VEGETATION & TREES (TYP)

PROPOSED ROCK
RETAINING WALL
(HEIGHT VARIES)
(TYP. SECT. #3)

18
'-0

"

EXISTING TREE TO
REMAIN (PROTECT)

CONVERT PARALLEL TO
60° ANGULAR PARKING

(PER CITY STANDARDS)

KINNIKINIC RD



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: August 5, 2014 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Second reading and consideration of a motion to publish by 
title only an ordinance submitting to the registered electors of the City of Boulder at 
the special municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, November 4, 
2014, the question of authorizing the city council to increase the sales and use tax 
by up to 0.3 cents on every dollar, effective from January 1, 2015 through 
December 31, 2017 for the purpose of funding a variety of capital improvement 
projects; giving approval for the collection, retention and expenditure of the full tax 
proceeds and any related earnings, notwithstanding any state revenue or expenditure 
limitation; and setting forth the effective date, ballot title, amendments to section 3-
2-5, “Rate of Tax,” B.R.C. 1981and related details.  
 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
Tracy Winfree, Director Public Works Transportation 
Molly Winter, Director of Downtown, University Hill Management Division and Parking 
Jeff Dillon, Director of Parks and Recreation 
David Farnan, Director of Library and Arts  
Alisa Lewis, City Clerk 
Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
Elena Lazarevska, Senior Financial Analyst 
 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 1



 
 

 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
In preparation for the discussion of this agenda item, city council members have reviewed 
or considered potential 2014 ballot items in four previous meetings during 2014.  The 
meetings were held on Feb. 18, Apr. 22, Jun.17, and Jul. 22.   Council expressed interest 
in placing a temporary sales and use tax increase for three years (2015, 2016 and 2017) 
on the ballot for the November 4, 2014 election.   
 
During the Jul. 22 meeting council passed on first reading a proposed .3% temporary 
sales and use tax increase for three years to fund Community, Cultural and Safety 
investments that cannot be funded with current revenues.  The proposed investments and 
amounts associated with them can be found later in the background and analysis section 
of this memo. 
 
Some council members requested options that would lower the rate of the temporary tax.  
Attachment J is an option that would reduce the temporary tax to .28% for three years 
by eliminating the underpass at Arapahoe and 13th Street.  Attachment K is .27% for 
three years and would eliminate the underpass, the Eben Fine Park Stream Bank 
Restoration, and $250,000 from the Chautauqua lighting project.  There was also a 
request to determine if other options are possible for the underpass project.  The response 
to this question can be found in Attachment L.    
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language:  
 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of one of the 
two following motions: 
 
Option 1 if changes are made to the ordinance passed on July 22 
 

Consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance No. 7983 submitting to 
the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the special municipal 
coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, November 4, 2014, the 
question of authorizing the city council to increase the sales and use tax by 
up to 0.3 cents on every dollar, effective from January 1, 2015 through 
December 31, 2017 for the purpose of funding a variety of capital 
improvement projects; giving approval for the collection, retention and 
expenditure of the full tax proceeds and any related earnings, 
notwithstanding any state revenue or expenditure limitation; and setting 
forth the effective date, ballot title, amendments to section 3-2-5, “Rate of 
Tax,” B.R.C. 1981and related details, as amended. 
 

Option 2 if no changes are made to the ordinance passed on July 22 
              
             Move to continue the item until August 19, 2014 
  

Agenda Item 5C     Page 2



 
 

 
 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic: 
o An increase in the sales and use tax rate would create an incremental 

economic impact equal to the amount of the tax increase approved by the 
voters. Any increase would be charged on all retail purchases, and items 
subject to use tax for the length of the tax.  The new revenue collected 
would provide increased funds for capital investments that can help the 
economic vitality of the city. 

 Environmental: 
o It is expected that some of the capital investments that would be funded 

with this tax increase may generate more travel to the City of Boulder to 
enjoy the improvements made in the city. At the same time, the 
investments would include efficient and effective improvements to 
infrastructure, which would help address environmental sustainability.  

 Social:  
o It is projected that an increase in the sales and use tax would provide more 

opportunities for everyone to enjoy the uniqueness of the quality of life in 
Boulder.   

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

 Fiscal:  Three tenths percent increase in the sales and use tax rate for the City of  
Boulder would increase the tax on a hundred dollar purchase by thirty cents.  
Other fiscal impacts to the city are covered in the background and analysis 
sections of this agenda item. 
 

 Staff time: The staff time needed to complete the background work for ballot 
items is included within the departmental work plans. 
 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK  
A public hearing was held at the Jul. 22 City Council meeting. Several people 
participated in the public hearing and provided input on the proposed investments.   
 
BACKGROUND and ANALYSIS 
The following link leads to the Feb. 18 agenda packet when 2014 ballot items were 
considered briefly by the City Council.  
February 18 Comprehensive Financial Strategy Update 
 
As follow up to the Feb. 18 meeting, more specific ballot topics were considered at the 
Apr. 22 study session.  The summary and answers to most of the questions asked by 
council members at the Apr. 22 study session were provided in the Jun. 3 council packet 
under agenda item 3B starting on page 7. At the Apr. 22 study session, ballot items were 
considered and reviewed in the context of the ongoing long range fiscal planning used by 
the city.  An explanation of this and the progress made to date can be found in attachment 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 3

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/124762/Electronic.aspx


 
 

 
 

2 of the Apr. 22 study session packet, starting on page 40. The following link leads to this 
attachment. 
Attachment 2 - Long Range Fiscal Planning 
 
At the Jun. 17 Council meeting, the City Council discussed proposed recommendations.  
The link for the Jun. 17 meeting is: 
June 17 Council Meeting - Potential Ballot Items 
 
At the Jul. 22 regular council meeting the City Council passed on first reading a .3% 
three year temporary sales and use tax for Community, Cultural and Safety investments.   
The link to that meeting is  
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/00_Agenda-1-201407171129.pdf 
  
Temporary Three Year Sales and Use Tax Options for Capital Investments 
The following table was developed to assist council in discussing the possible options in 
terms of percentage increases in sales and use tax, as well as in the number of years the 
increase would be effective.  The expected collections for .3% and a three year time 
duration have been highlighted. 
 
            Rate   One Year Amount           Three years          Five Years 

.1% $3.0M   $9.0M $15.0M 

.2% $6.1M $18.3M $30.5M 

.3% $9.2M $27.6M $46.0M 
 
Staff Recommendation 
Based upon staff review of the capital investments discussed previously and in light of a 
focus on shorter term investments that would be impactful to the community, the staff is 
recommending that city council consider placing a 0.3 percent - 3 year temporary sales 
and use tax on the ballot in Nov. 2014 that would include the following investments: 
 
Hill Investments (Attachment B): 
Residential Pedestrian Lighting          $2,000,000 
Commercial District Event Street          $   750,000 
Commercial District Irrig. and St. Tree Improv.    $   520,000   $3,270,000 
 
Civic Area Initial Improvements – Begin Vision Plan         $8,700,000 
(Attachments C and D) 
 
Boulder Creek Area (Attachment E): 
Boulder Creek Path Lighting           $1,040,000 
Boulder Creek Path Improvements          $   885,000 
Arapahoe.13th Underpass          $2,500,000 
Eben Fine Park Stream Bank Restoration        $   700,000   $5,125,000 
 
Public Arts (Attachment F):       $   600,000 
 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 4

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/125243/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/125740/Electronic.aspx
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/00_Agenda-1-201407171129.pdf


 
 

 
 

Chautauqua Pedestrian Safety Access and Lighting:    $1,500,000 
(Attachment G) 
 
Dairy Center for the Arts (Attachment H):              $3,850,000 
 
Museum of Boulder (Attachment I):      $4,000,000 
 
Contingency           $   555,000 
 
Total                    $27,600,000 
 
Estimated Revenue-3 years -.3%                $27,600,000 
 
Difference                  -0- 
 
There are attachments for each of the capital investment and they can be found at the end 
of this agenda memo. 
 
Other Cultural Enhancements in the City of Boulder  
Prior to the Apr. 22 study session, several culturally focused non-profits contacted the  
City Manager to request city consideration of including specific capital investments.  
Since that study session, additional information has been received regarding each of the 
proposals, and city council has received communications from each of them in support of 
using the proposed temporary tax for financing for their needs.  Copies of the letters from 
each of the entities can be found in the Apr. 22 study session packet, starting on page 33, 
as Exhibits B-D, at the link below. 
April 22 Study Session - Letters from Non Profits 
 
Agreements Proposed for Use and Flow of Funds for Entities that Do Not Use City 
Financial and Accounting Internal Controls and Processes 
 
If this ballot issue goes forward, all parties want it to be successful.  At the same time, the 
handling of taxpayer funds requires due diligence, oversight for appropriate usage, 
accountability, and other appropriate levels of fiscal stewardship.  For internal city 
investments, appropriate internal controls are already in place for both the collection of 
revenues and the expenditures of city funds.  In addition, these controls are periodically 
reviewed and tested by internal city staff and external city auditors. 
 
These same processes are not in place for capital investments that do not fall under city 
processes and procedures. Therefore, staff feels that appropriate controls will need to be 
agreed upon by any external entity receiving funds, if this ballot proposal goes forward 
and is approved by the voters.   As proposed, the ballot language would require that an 
agreement be entered into and approved by the City Manager for any project that is not 
subject to city fiscal controls.  This would include draws on the funds available for the 
investments and the appropriate documentation that will be required.   Staff does not 
propose placing the procedures and process in the actual ballot language as it could be 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 5

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/125243/Electronic.aspx


 
 

 
 

confusing and difficult to modify if things would change in the future.  Initial discussions 
indicate that this process is acceptable to any entity that would be in such a relationship.  
  
Contingency 
There are many unknowns that can occur when capital investments will be built over a 
period of time.  Examples are: inflationary costs can rise unexpectedly and be greater 
than are estimated in the original cost projections, revenues can fall short of projections, 
and  unexpected costs can occur that were unforeseen.  The fire training center was a 
prime example of all three and the project was delayed for nearly a decade until a 
solution was found so the project could move forward. Therefore, to mitigate these issues 
a contingency is needed. The proposed $555,000 is approximately two percent of the 
total investments.  Finance staff members have reviewed the capital investment estimates 
and feel the costs and revenues have been projected conservatively so this level of 
contingency will be acceptable. 
    
Operating Costs for Investments 
The major cause of failed capital improvement programs across the United States is the 
lack of a funding stream adequate to pay for the new operating costs associated with new 
capital investments. There have been numerous stories across the United States of new 
schools and prisons that have been built, or where funds are in place to build them, that 
have not been completed or have not been able to be used because there were no 
resources to pay for the new operating costs. If the voters approve investing in new or 
expanded investments, then new operating dollars need to accompany the approval of the 
investments, if they cannot be absorbed within existing resources. At this time, it does not 
appear that the capital investments being considered will generate large increases in 
operating costs. It is expected that the new operating costs can either be absorbed in or 
reallocated in the city’s operating budget. Staff will monitor costs as the investments 
develop and report back to council if operating costs escalate beyond expectations.  
 
NEXT STEPS 
If council decides to make no changes to the ordinance that was passed on first reading 
Jul. 22, staff suggests that this item be continued until Aug. 19.  This would allow staff to 
provide additional information council may want and to provide facts and data sheets 
about the individual investments and post them on the website. 
 
If changes are made on second reading a third reading would occur on Aug. 19.  All 
ballot items must be passed on final reading by council by the end of August to meet 
county deadlines. 
 
If a fourth reading would be needed, past Aug. 19, it will need to be a special meeting 
and must meet all timeline requirements, which would be difficult to do. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A: Temporary Sales and Use Tax Ballot Ordinance 
B: University Hill Investments  
C:  Civic Area Investments 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 6



 
 

 
 

D: Civic Area: Additional Information  
E: Boulder Creek Area Investments 
F: Public Art Investments 
G:  Chautauqua Investments 
H:  Dairy Center for the Arts Investments 
I:   Museum of Boulder Investments 
J:  .28% Temporary Sales and Use Tax Option 
K: .27% Temporary Sales and Use Tax Option 
L:  Options for the Underpass at Arapahoe and 13th Street 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 7



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 8



 

K:\CCCO\o-pay as you go tax ballot measure-2177.DOC 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO.7983 
 

(Tax Increase for Capital Facilities) 
 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORS OF THE 
CITY OF BOULDER AT THE SPECIAL MUNICIPAL 
COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, 
NOVEMBER 4, 2014, THE QUESTION OF AUTHORIZING 
THE CITY COUNCIL TO INCREASE THE SALES AND USE 
TAX BY UP TO 0.3 CENTS ON EVERY DOLLAR, 
EFFECTIVE FROM JANUARY 1, 2015 THROUGH 
DECEMBER 31, 2017 FOR THE PURPOSE OF FUNDING A 
VARIETY OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS; 
GIVING APPROVAL FOR THE COLLECTION, RETENTION 
AND EXPENDITURE OF THE FULL TAX PROCEEDS AND 
ANY RELATED EARNINGS, NOTWITHSTANDING ANY 
STATE REVENUE OR EXPENDITURE LIMITATION; AND 
SETTING FORTH THE EFFECTIVE DATE, BALLOT TITLE, 
AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 3-2-5, “RATE OF TAX,” B.R.C. 
1981 AND RELATED DETAILS.  

 

 WHEREAS the City Council finds that it is appropriate for voters to approve collection, 

retention, and expenditure of the full amount collected from the tax proposed by the ballot issue 

described below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the City of Boulder, 

county of Boulder and state of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 4, 2014, between the hours of 

7 a.m. and 7 p.m. 

Section 2.  At that election, there shall be submitted to the electors of the City of Boulder 

entitled by law to vote the issue of a sales and use tax increase as described in the ballot issue 

title in this ordinance. 

Section 3.  The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also be 

the designation and submission clause for the issue: 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 9



 

K:\CCCO\o-pay as you go tax ballot measure-2177.DOC 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
ISSUE NO. ___ 

 
TAX INCREASE FOR CAPITAL FACILITIES 

 
SHALL CITY OF BOULDER TAXES BE INCREASED 
($9,200,000 first full fiscal year increase) ANNUALLY BY 
INCREASING THE SALES AND USE TAX BY 0.3 CENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD OF JANUARY 1, 2015 TO DECEMBER 
31, 2017;  
 
AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 
 
 
SHALL ALL OF THE REVENUES COLLECTED USED TO 
FUND CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS THAT WILL INCLUDE 
WITHOUT LIMITATION THE FOLLOWING:  
 

 UP TO $ 8,700,000 FOR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 
FOR THE BOULDER CIVIC AREA GENERALLY 
BOUNDED BY CANYON BLVD, ARAPAHOE AVE, 
9TH STREET AND 13TH STREET, 
 

 UP TO $ 3,270,000 FOR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 
IN THE UNIVERSITY HILL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
AND HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL AREAS 
INCLUDING LIGHTING, IRRIGATION AND TO 
IMPROVE PUBLIC STREETS, 
 

 UP TO $ 5,125,000 FOR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 
TO THE BOULDER CREEK PATH AND ITS 
ENVIRONS GENERALLY BETWEEN 3RD AND 17TH 
STREETS, INCLUDING LIGHTING AND PATH 
IMPROVEMENTS TO INCREASE SAFETY, 
 

 UP TO $ 600,000 FOR PUBLIC ART AND TO 
PRESERVE OR RESTORE THE EXISTING ART 
COLLECTION, 
 

 UP TO $ 3,850,000 TO IMPROVE THE DAIRY 
CENTER FOR THE ARTS PROPERTY, 

 
 UP TO $ 1,500,000 FOR IMPROVEMENTS TO 

CHAUTAUQUA PARK AND ITS ENVIRONS FOR 
ACCESS, PEDESTRIAN, SAFETY, AND LIGHTING 
IMPROVEMENTS, 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 10



 

K:\CCCO\o-pay as you go tax ballot measure-2177.DOC 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 UP TO $ 4,000,000 FOR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 
AT THE MUSEUM OF BOULDER PROVIDED THAT 
THE MUSEUM OF BOULDER HAS FIRST RAISED 
AND DEDICATED AN EQUAL AMOUNT AND IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH TERMS, CONDITIONS, AND 
TIMING APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL, AND 
 

 ANY REMAINING FUNDS TO BE APPROPRIATED 
BY THE BOULDER CITY COUNCIL TO FUND 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM PROJECTS;  

 
AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 

 
SHALL THE FULL PROCEEDS OF SUCH TAXES AT 
SUCH RATES AND ANY EARNINGS THEREON BE 
COLLECTED, RETAINED, AND SPENT, AS A VOTER-
APPROVED REVENUE CHANGE WITHOUT LIMITATION 
OR CONDITION, AND WITHOUT LIMITING THE 
COLLECTION, RETENTION, OR SPENDING OF ANY 
OTHER REVENUES OR FUNDS BY THE CITY OF 
BOULDER UNDER ARTICLE X SECTION 20 OF THE 
COLORADO CONSTITUTION OR ANY OTHER LAW? 

 
  FOR THE ISSUE ____        AGAINST THE ISSUE ____ 
 
 

Section 4.  If this ballot issue is approved by the voters, the City Council will adopt 

terms, conditions, and timing of payments prior to any appropriations to the Museum of Boulder 

that it finds are necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare of the residents and 

visitors of the City of Boulder.   In the event that the city, in its legislative or administrative 

capacity, determines that the Museum of Boulder cannot meet such terms or conditions in a 

reasonable or timely manner, such funds may be appropriated by the City Council for other 

capital improvement projects that are consistent with the ballot issue title. 

Section 5.  If this ballot issue is approved by the voters, the City Council further amends 

the Boulder Revised Code, effective on January 1, 2015, to read: 

3-2-5. Rate of Tax.  

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 11



 

K:\CCCO\o-pay as you go tax ballot measure-2177.DOC 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(a)  Except as specified in Subsection (b) of this section, the amount of the tax hereby levied is 
3.56 86 percent of the purchase price of tangible personal property or taxable services sold 
or purchased at retail. 

(b)  The amount of the tax hereby levied on food sold in or by a food service establishment 
shall be the amount levied in Subsection (a) of this section plus 0.15 percent of the 
purchase price of such food. Cover charges, admission, or entrance fees and mandatory 
service or service-related charges shall be included as part of the purchase price of such 
food. However, a mandatory service or service-related charge shall not be included as part 
of the purchase price of such food if the full amount of the charge is passed on to the 
employees of the food service establishment who have provided direct service to each 
person paying the charge, and if all federal and state income and other applicable taxes due 
on such charge have been withheld by the food service establishment and paid to the 
appropriate government. 

(c)  Of said amount: 

(1)  Parks and Recreation: 0.25 percent shall be deemed a parks and recreation tax, which 
tax shall expire at midnight on December 31, 2035 (Ord. No. 7862, approved by voters 
in 2012). 

(2)  Open Space and General: 0.33 percent shall be used for the purposes, during the time 
periods, and in the following amounts, as follows: 

(A) An open space tax through midnight on December 31, 2018 (Ord. No. 5893, 
approved by voters in 1997). 

(B) An open space tax for 0.22 percent, and a general sales and use tax for 0.11 
percent from January 1, 2019 through midnight on December 31, 2034 (Ord. No. 
7912, approved by voters in 2013). 

(C) An open space tax for 0.10 percent, and a general sales and use tax for 0.23 
percent from January 1, 2035 and continuing without expiration (Ord. No. 7912, 
approved by voters in 2013). 

(3)  Open Space: 0.15 percent shall be deemed an open space tax through midnight on 
December 31, 2019 (Ord. No. 7301, approved by voters in 2003). 

(4)  Transportation and General: 0.15 percent shall be used for the purposes, during the 
time periods, and in the following amounts, as follows: 

(A)  a transportation tax from January 1, 2014 through midnight on December 31, 
2029 (Ord. Nos. 7913 and 7922, approved by voters in 2013). 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 12



 

K:\CCCO\o-pay as you go tax ballot measure-2177.DOC 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(B)  a general sales and use tax from January 1, 2030, which tax shall expire at 
midnight on December 31, 2039 (Ord. No. 7922, approved by voters in 2013). 

(5) Capital improvement tax.  0.3 percent shall be deemed a capital improvement tax 
through midnight on December 31, 2017 (Ord. No. ***, approved by voters in 2014). 

As each tax expires, the aggregate tax shall be reduced accordingly. 

Section 6.  If this ballot issue is approved by the voters, the City Council may adopt 

amendments to the Boulder Revised Code to further implement this sales and use tax increase 

and such other amendments to the Boulder Revised Code as may be necessary to implement the 

intent and purpose of this ordinance. 

Section 7.  If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the issue submitted shall be 

for the issue, the issue shall be deemed to have passed and shall be effective upon passage, and it 

shall be lawful for the City Council to provide for the amendment of its tax code in accordance 

with the issue approved. 

Section 8.  The election shall be conducted under the provisions of the Colorado 

Constitution, the charter and ordinances of the City, the Boulder Revised Code, 1981, and this 

ordinance, and all contrary provisions of the statutes of the state of Colorado are hereby 

superseded. 

Section 9.  The officers of the City are authorized to take all action necessary or 

appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this ordinance and to contract with the county clerk to 

conduct the election for the City. 

Section 10.  If any section, paragraph, clause, or provision of this ordinance shall for any 

reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect any of the remaining 

provisions of this ordinance. 

Section 11.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare of 

the residents of the City, and covers matters of local concern. 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 13



 

K:\CCCO\o-pay as you go tax ballot measure-2177.DOC 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 12.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 22nd day of July, 2014. 

 
 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk  
 

 READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 5th day of August, 2014. 

 
 
      
       Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk  
 

Attachment A: Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 14



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 18



Attachment G: Chautauqua Investments 

CHAUTAUQUA PEDESTRIAN SAFETY, ACCESS AND LIGHTING IMPROVEMENTS 
 
The Colorado Chautauqua is a unique public asset to the City of Boulder and provides a world-
class destination for recreation, culture and historic distinction to the community and visitors.  
Through collaborative stewardship, city staff continues to work closely with the Colorado 
Chautauqua Association and members of the community to provide stewardship of this critical 
asset for the community and future generations.  Through the current Pay-As-You-Go capital 
funding initiative, the community has an opportunity to experience capital improvements that 
will have a current and lasting impact on the visitor experience of Chautauqua. 
 
Based on direction from Council, an interdepartmental team comprised of Public Works, Parks 
and Recreation and Open Space and Mountain Parks have developed a scope and initial cost 
estimates to enhance visitor experiences, improve public safety for access, lighting and 
amenities. The proposed Chautauqua Park historic site visitor experience improvements will 
include health and safety related items such as historic lighting designed to keep within cultural 
landscape design guidelines, access improvements such as safe pedestrian walkways and 
educational and interpretive signage. The estimated scope of this work is approximately $1.5 
million depending on final design drawings and historic preservation reviews.  
 
Three three key improvement investments include: 
 

1. Improved access and pedestrian safety along Baseline Road that may include new 
sidewalks, aligned parking and related safety enhancements totaling approximately 
$1M (see Attachment 1) 

2. Pedestrian lighting along key access points for safety and accessibility from Baseline 
Road through the major park access walks to visitor facilities totaling 
approximately $250,000 (see Attachment 2).  

3. Interpretive and wayfinding signage for historic interpretation of the site and to 
improve overall visitor experiences and understanding of the site character totaling 
approximately $250,000 (see attachment 3).  

 
Collaborative Stewardship   
As noted above, the improvements will continue to inform the collaborative stewardship process 
(see attachment 4). If these projects are selected for funding, a working group will hold several 
meetings to shape next steps on the broader stewardship and implementation of the 
improvements.  
 
The overall purpose of the next phase of the collaborative stewardship is to build off of the 
previous work done to adopt guiding principles by putting these into action.  The guiding 
principles are not intended to define the specific structures, processes, or agreements for making 
key decisions at Chautauqua. The next phase will focus on the implementation items that can put 
these guiding principles into action.   
 
Leading up to and following council action on the projects, staff will begin developing a work 
plan for this next phase of the stewardship improvements.  
 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 43



Attachment G: Chautauqua Investments 

ATTACHMENTS  
 
Attachment G-1: Transportation Improvements Concept Design 
Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan  
Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan  
Attachment G-4: Collaborative Stewardship of the Colorado Chautauqua - Guiding Principles 
for Place Management and Fiscal Sustainability 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 44



Attachment G-1: Chautauqua Concept Design

Agenda Item 5C     Page 45



Agenda Item 5C     Page 46



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 47



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 48



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 49



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 50



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 51



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 52



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 53



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 54



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 55



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 56



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 57



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 58



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 59



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 60



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 61



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 62



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 63



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 64



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 65



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 66



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 67



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 68



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 69



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 70



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 71



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 72



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 73



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 74



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 75



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 76



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 77



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 78



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 79



Attachment G-2: Chautauqua Master Exterior Lighting Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 80



Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark 
Master Signage Plan:  Wayfinding and Interpretive

February 27, 2009

Presented by:
ECOS Communications, Inc.
for
Colorado Chautauqua Association

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 81



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Contents

Contents

Background

Wayfinding Signs
 Overview
 Color Palette
 Fonts
 Sign Types
 G:  Gateway
 P:  Pedestrian Directional
 V:  Vehicular Directional
 A:  Identity
 B:  Area Identity
 D:  Directory Map
 C:  Changeable
 Installation
 
Interpretive Signs
 Overview
 Color Palette
 Fonts
 Photography
 Illustration
 Flourishes, Rules, and Dingbats
 Interpretive Writing
 Sign Types
 E1-E4: Slopers
 E5-E6:  Wall
 E7, E8, E9, E10:  Tour Locators
 Installation

Locator Maps

1

2
3
4
5
6
8
11
14
16
18
20
22

23
24
25
27
28
29
30
31
32
39
44
48

49

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 82



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Background

Purpose
This document serves as a set of implementation instructions for a new system of wayfinding and interpretive signs at the Colorado 
Chautauqua National Historic Landmark. The recommendations and specifications herein comply with the recently amended (February 
2009) Chautauqua Park Historic District Design Guidelines, originally adopted by the City of Boulder’s Landmarks Preservation Advisory 
Board in June 1987.

Context
In 2007, the Colorado Chautauqua Association (CCA) underwent a site-wide interpretive planning process using outside consulting. The 
resulting document, the Interpretive Services Plan for Chautauqua, sets forth detailed recommendations for a set of wayfinding signs and a 
set of interpretive signs to better orient and educate visitors about the site: navigation, offerings, and historic significance. 

In addition, CCA applied for and received National Historic Landmark status for the Colorado Chautauqua site in 2006. The heritage and 
preservation enthusiasts anticipated to visit Chautauqua will expect a level of interpretation on par with other NHL sites. This expected 
increase in visitors specifically interested in Chautauqua’s historical story brings another strong argument to the need for high quality 
interpretive signage (available to visitors without need for personal interpretive staff).

Scope
The Design Guidelines presented herein shall apply to all new signage installed on the 40 acres designated a National Historic Landmark. 
While all of this property is owned by the City of Boulder, its management is split among three entities: CCA and two City of Boulder 
departments: Parks and Recreation, and Open Space and Mountain Parks. All signage occurring on property within the National Historic 
Landmark boundary shall be subject to the guidelines herein, regardless of management status.

Note: City of Boulder regulatory signage related to parking, speed limits, and all city code is not subject to these Design Guidelines.

CCA is an independent non-profit entity that owns 63 historic buildings on the site (cottages, lodges, and the Community House) and manages 26 
acres at the site, including the entire historic core and the site’s most important public structures: the Auditorium, the Dining Hall, and the Academic 
Hall. The mission of the Colorado Chautauqua Association is to preserve, perpetuate, and improve the site and spirit of the historic Chautauqua by 
enhancing its community and values through cultural, educational, social and recreational experiences.

Background

 Page 1

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 83



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Overview

Wayfinding: Overview

Wayfinding

Introduction
Visitors to the Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark and associated park and trail system need to be properly directed around 
the site and educated about its offerings. The system of strategically placed directional, identity, and directory signage proposed in this plan 
will serve this purpose, and greatly improve the visitor experience.  

The intact historic nature of the site demands that great care be taken in the design, materials, size, messaging, and placement of signs. The 
Chautauqua motto of “Voluntary Simplicity” governs each decision, even as care is taken to match the style of the period of significance 
(1898-1930) where it may show ornamentation or typical graphic elements. 

Colors and type styles used throughout the wayfinding system draw from the site’s primary public buildings and what has become the 
Chautauqua style over the past several decades. 

Materials are historically appropriate, and consist primarily of painted or stained wood for all posts and sign frames. Design elements are few 
and simple, making the signs relatively easy and inexpensive to produce.

Design Challenges
The scale of Chautauqua has stayed intimate over time, even as American vehicles, municipal codes, and habits call for larger roadways and 
greater caution. The goal with this wayfinding system is to strike a balance between making signage large enough to be legible and serve its 
purpose, while keeping sign panel sizes and heights to a minimum. This balance is attempted again where it comes to color: keep the signage 
consistent with the site’s neutral palette while giving enough visual interest to call visitors’ attention to directions and information.

Note: Requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act have been considered in specifications for the signs and graphics herein.

Page 2

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices
Auditorium
Community House

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 84



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Color PaletteWayfinding

Colors selected for wayfinding signage were derived 
from those found in existing architecture and are 
specified using Kwal paint formulas. 

Lettering for signage is specified as a matte black vinyl 
from Avery Graphics.

Wayfinding: Color Palette

413CW055W - Honeywind

CL 2933M - Salsify

Kwal Paint Match Pantone Closest MatchSample

413

CL 2725D - Dissent 465

8673M - Tavern Taupe 7535

7735D - Topaz 7405

8644M - Seal Beach 7538

Black 100% Process

CW057W - White Solitude N/A

 Page 3

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 85



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Fonts

The Windsor font is currently used on all 
Chautauqua Park signage. During an exploration of 
period typography, it was determined that Windsor 
is relevant to the character and styles used at the 
turn of the century.
 
1.  Full Windsor display 

2.   Directional Signs
 Initial Caps 

3. Identity Signs
 Large/Small Caps 

4. Large/Small Caps Proportion
 Small caps are sized at 77% of their larger 

counterparts.

Wayfinding

Wayfinding: Fonts

ABCDEFGHIJKLMNOPQRSTVWXYZ
abcdefghijklmnopqrstvwxyz

Community House     

COMMUNITY HOUSE

HOUSEX

77
%

 of
 X

1

2

3

4

 Page 4

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 86



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Sign Types

Wayfinding signs on the site fall into two primary 
categories: Directionals and Identities. Directory 
maps and other programmatic signage is 
considered informational. 

Directional signs may be intended primarily to be 
viewed either by visitors traveling along roadways 
(Vehicular Directionals) or by visitors traveling along 
footpaths (Pedestrian Directionals). 

Type G - Gateways 
 Occur at primary property entrances. 

Types P1 and P2 - Pedestrian Directionals  
 Provide directional information to pedestrian 

traffic. Scaled down versions of  V (Vehicular 
Directional) signs, located on or adjacent to 
pedestrian pathways.

Types V1 and V2 - Vehicular Directionals  
 Provide directional information to vehicular 

traffic. Their secondary function is to provide 
directional information to pedestrian traffic. For 
placement on roadways on the right side of the 
driver, before a decision point.

Types A1 and A2 -  Building Identities  
Identify buildings.  These are free-standing, single 
post ground signs positioned parallel to building, 
scaled to be viewed by vehicles and pedestrians.

Types B1 and B2 -  Area Identities   
Identify open spaces and features of interest 
(such as “Chautuaqua Park”).  These are free-
standing, double post ground signs positioned 
parallel to the road, scaled to be viewed by 
vehicles and pedestrians.

Type D - Directory Maps    
Provide visual orientation and destination 

 locations. Placed in areas where visitors   
congregate or merge.

Type C - Changeable Panels    
Provide seasonal or alternating information to 

 visitors. Applied to any sign that requires a 
changeable messaging.

Wayfinding

Wayfinding: Sign Types

 Page 5

Type G Types A1 and A2

CHAUTAUQUA 
VISITOR CENTER

AUDITORIUM

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices
Auditorium
Community House

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices
Auditorium
Community House

Trail Head Parking
Auditorium
Dining Hall

Types P1 and P2

Types V1 and V2

Cottages 
Available Tonight

Welcome to 
Chautauqua

Type C

EST. 1898

900 BASELINE ROAD

AUDITORIUM • DINING HALL
PARK • COTTAGES • TRAILS

COLORADO CHAUTAUQUA
NATIONAL HISTORIC

LANDMARK

Type D

C P
H D

CITY OF BOULDER
PARKS & RECREATION

CHAUTAUQUA PARK

CITY OF BOULDER
PARKS & RECREATION

FIRST LINE OF TEXT
SECOND LINE OF TEXT

Types B1 and B2

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 87



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     

EST. 1898

900 BASELINE ROAD

AUDITORIUM • DINING HALL
PARK • COTTAGES • TRAILS

COLORADO CHAUTAUQUA
NATIONAL HISTORIC

LANDMARK

6"
4"

5 1
/2"

4"
1 3

/4"
4"

2"
4"

3 1
/2"

2"

Type G - Gateway - Graphic Layout

The existing gateway sign (entrance identity) at 
Chautauqua’s Baseline entrance will be repainted, 
and a new message will be applied to the front 
and back faces. Other primary entry signs to be 
developed will follow this general design, and may 
be one- or two-sided. 

1. Finished with exterior grade penetrating   
opaque stain to match 8644M Seal Beach.  

2. Finished with exterior grade sign paint with 
smooth low-sheen finish, to match CL2933M 
Salsify.

3. Finished with exterior grade enamel to match 
CW057W White Solitude.

4. Matte Black A9090-O High Performance 
opaque vinyl (Avery), or black silk screen/print.

NOTE: 
 The decision to choose one fabrication method 

over the other for graphic information should be 
made considering sign size, durability needed/
desired, and risk of vandalism. 

Wayfinding

1

2

3

4

Wayfinding: Type G - Graphic Layout

 Page 6

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 88



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Wayfinding  Page 7

3/4"

6"

6"

3/4
"

3/4
" 1 1

/4"

3/4
"1 1

/2"

3"
1/8"1"

2"
1 1

/2"

1 1/2"

6"

6'-0"

4'-
0"

1'-
6"

6'-
0"

Type G - Gateway - Structure

Additional gateway signs (entrance identity) may be 
fabricated and installed at alternate entrances.

1. 1” thick SignPly (or approved equal) Single-
sided, painted aluminum over furniture grade 
exterior plywood core. 

2. Stainless steel angle bracket with galvanized or 
stainless steel wood screw.

3. Frame made from clear grain hardwood or 
cedar and finished smooth.

4. Clear grain cedar post. Post cap routed and 
sawed from solid post material – not added as 
a separate component.

NOTE:  
 All surfaces of sign frame/panel and post must be 

primed and painted prior to assembly to ensure 
complete weather seal.

Front View

Post Section

Section View

Wayfinding: Type G - Structure

4

3

1

2

3

2

1

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 89



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Types P1 and P2 - Pedestrian Directional - Graphic Layout

Pedestrian directional signs include two size 
formats. The large format will accommodate four to 
five line items. The small format will accommodate 
one to three line items.  

1. Finished with exterior grade penetrating   
opaque stain to match CL 2933M Salsify.  

2. Finished with exterior grade enamel to match 
CW057W White Solitude. 

3. Matte Black A9090-O High Performance 
opaque vinyl (Avery), or black silk screen/print.

NOTE: 
 The decision to choose one fabrication method 

over the other for graphic information should be 
made considering sign size, durability needed/
desired, and risk of vandalism. 

Wayfinding

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices
Auditorium
Community House

1 3
/8"

2"

1"
2 1

/4"

3"

3"

3 1
/8"

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices

1 3
/8"

2"

1"
2 1

/4"

3"

3"

3 1
/8"

3

1

1

2

Wayfinding: Types P1 and P2 - Graphics

 Page 8

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 90



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     

3"

3"

3/8"

3"

2 3
/4"

4'-
6"

1'-
5"

Type P1 - Pedestrian Directional - Structure

Large pedestrian directional signs are to be placed 
perpendicular to pedestrian routes accessing more 
than three destinations.

1. 3/4” thick SignPly (or approved equal) Single-
sided, painted aluminum over furniture grade 
exterior plywood core. 

2. Galvanized wood screw.

3. Frame made from clear grain hardwood or 
cedar and finished smooth.

4. Clear grain cedar post. Post cap routed and 
sawed from solid post material – not added as 
a separate component.

NOTE:  
 All surfaces of sign frame/panel and post must be 

primed and painted prior to assembly to ensure   
complete weather seal.

Wayfinding

Front View

Post Section

Section View
Single Face

Section View
Double Face

Wayfinding: Type P1 - Structure

4

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"Detail View
Single Face

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

Detail View
Double Face

4

3

2

14

3

3

2
1

4

 Page 9

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 91



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type P2 - Pedestrian Directional - Structure

Small pedestrian directional signs are to be placed 
perpendicular to pedestrian routes accessing three 
or fewer destinations.

1. 3/4” thick SignPly (or approved equal) Single-
sided, painted aluminum over furniture grade 
exterior plywood core. 

2. Galvanized wood screw.

3. Frame made from clear grain hardwood or 
cedar and finished smooth.

4. Clear grain cedar post. Post cap routed and 
sawed from solid post material – not added as a 
separate component.

 
NOTE:  
 All surfaces of sign frame/panel and post must be 

primed and painted prior to assembly to ensure 
complete weather seal.

Wayfinding

3"

3"

3/8"

3"

2 3
/4"

4'-
6"

1'-
0"

1'-10"

4

Section View
Double Face

Front View

Post Section

Section View
Single Face

Wayfinding: Type P2 - Structure

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"Detail View
Single Face

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

Detail View
Double Face

4

3

2

14

3

3

2
1

4

 Page 10

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 92



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Types V2 and V2 - Vehicular Directional - Graphic Layout

Vehicular directional signs include two size formats.  
The large format will accommodate four to five line 
items. The small format will accommodate one to 
three line items.  

The smaller of two types of Vehicular directional 
signs will accommodate one to three line items. 

1. Finished with exterior grade penetrating   
opaque stain to match CL 2933M Salsify).  

2. Finished with exterior grade enamel to match 
CW057W White Solitude.

3. Matte Black A9090-O High Performance 
opaque vinyl (Avery), or black silk screen/print.

NOTE: 
 The decision to choose one fabrication method 

over the other for graphic information should be 
made considering sign size, durability needed/
desired, and risk of vandalism. 

Wayfinding

Trailhead Parking
Auditorium
Dining Hall

4 1/2" 2"

3 3
/4"

2" 1 1
/2"

4"
3 1

/2"

Wayfinding: Types V1 and V2 - Graphics

 Page 11

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices
Auditorium
Community House

4 1/2" 2"

3 3
/4"

2" 1 1
/2"

4"
3 1

/2"

3

1

2

1

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 93



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type V1 - Vehicular Directional - Structure

Large vehicular directional signs are to be placed 
perpendicular to vehicular routes accessing four or 
more destinations.

1. 1” thick SignPly (or approved equal) Single-
sided, painted aluminum over furniture grade 
exterior plywood core. 

2. Galvanized wood screw.

3. Frame made from clear grain hardwood or 
cedar and finished smooth.

4. Clear grain cedar post. Top beveled and finished 
smooth.

NOTE:  
 All surfaces of sign frame/panel and post must be 

primed and painted prior to assembly to ensure 
complete weather seal.

Wayfinding

3"

2'-7 1/2"

3"

3"

3/8"
5'-

3"

4 1/2"

2'-
0"

4

3

Post Section

Section View Front View

Wayfinding: Type V1 - Structure

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

Detail View

1

3

4 2

 Page 12

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 94



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type V2 - Vehicular Directional - Structure

Small vehicular directional signs are to be placed 
perpendicular to vehicular routes accessing three or 
fewer destinations.

1. 1” thick SignPly (or approved equal) Single-
sided, painted aluminum over furniture grade 
exterior plywood core. 

2. Galvanized wood screw.

3. Frame made from clear grain hardwood or 
cedar and finished smooth.

4. Clear grain cedar post. Top beveled and finished 
smooth.

NOTE:  
 All surfaces of sign frame/panel and post must be 

primed and painted prior to assembly to ensure 
complete weather seal.

Wayfinding

3"

3"

3"

3/8"

5'-
3"

4 1/2"

1'-
5"

2'-7 1/2"

4

3

Post Section

Section View Front View

Wayfinding: Type V2 - Structure

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

Detail View

1

3

4 2

 Page 13

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 95



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type A - Identity - Graphic Layout

Identity signs may accommodate one or two line 
names.

1. Finished with exterior grade penetrating   
opaque stain to match CL 2933M Salsify.  

2. Finished with exterior grade enamel to match 
CW057W White Solitude. 

3. Matte Black A9090-O High Performance 
opaque vinyl (Avery), or black silk screen/print.

NOTE: 
 The decision to choose one fabrication method 

over the other for graphic information should be 
made considering sign size, durability needed/
desired, and risk of vandalism. 

Wayfinding

CHAUTAUQUA 
VISITOR CENTER

AUDITORIUM1 1
/2"

3 1
/2"

2 1
/2"

2 1
/4"

1 1
/2"

3

1

1

2

Wayfinding: Type A - Graphic Layout

 Page 14

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 96



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type A - Identity - Structure

Identity signs are placed parallel to the building or 
facility it represents.

1. 3/4” thick SignPly (or approved equal) Single-
sided, painted aluminum over furniture grade 
exterior plywood core. 

2. Galvanized wood screw.

3. Frame made from clear grain hardwood or 
cedar and finished smooth.

4. Clear grain cedar post. Post cap routed and 
sawed from solid post material – not added as 
a separate component.

NOTE:  
 All surfaces of sign frame/panel and post must be 

primed and painted prior to assembly to ensure 
complete weather seal.

Wayfinding

3"

3"

3/8"

3"

2 3
/4"

4'-
0"

1'-9"

10
"

Front ViewSection Detail

Post Section

3

4

Wayfinding: Type A - Structure

Detail View

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

3

2

14

 Page 15

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 97



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Wayfinding  Page 16

CITY OF BOULDER
PARKS & RECREATION

CHAUTAUQUA PARK

CITY OF BOULDER
PARKS & RECREATION

FIRST LINE OF TEXT
SECOND LINE OF TEXT

4"
2"

3"
2 3

/4"

1"

1 3
/4"

5 1
/2"

2"
4"

1"

1 3
/4"

Type B - Area Identity - Graphic Layout

Area identity signs include two graphic formats–  a 
two line identity and a single line identity. Both 
include accommodations for two lines of sub text.

1. Finished with exterior grade penetrating   
opaque stain to match 8644M Seal Beach.  

2. Finished with exterior grade sign paint with 
smooth low-sheen finish, to match CL2933M 
Salsify.

3. Finished with exterior grade enamel to match 
CW057W White Solitude.

4. Matte Black A9090-O High Performance 
opaque vinyl (Avery), or black silk screen/print.

NOTE: 
 The decision to choose one fabrication method 

over the other for graphic information should be 
made considering sign size, durability needed/
desired, and risk of vandalism.  

1

2
3

4

Wayfinding: Type B - Graphic Layout

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 98



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Wayfinding  Page 17

3"

3"

3/8"

3"

FL
EX

IB
LE

4'-
3"

4'-
0"

FLEXIBLE

Type B - Area Identity - Structure

Area identity signs are to be placed parallel to 
vehicular routes Preferably at or near pedestrian 
access entries.

1. 1/2” thick SignPly (or approved equal) Single-
sided, painted aluminum over furniture grade 
exterior plywood core. 

2. Stainless steel angle bracket with galvanized or 
stainless steel wood screw.

3. Frame made from clear grain hardwood or 
cedar and finished smooth.

4. Clear grain cedar post. Post cap routed and 
sawed from solid post material – not added as 
a separate component.

NOTES:  
 All surfaces of sign frame/panel and post must be 

primed and painted prior to assembly to ensure 
complete weather seal.

 This sign type can be used for future needs 
currently unforeseen, and scaled proportionately 
up or down 20% to accommodate necessary 
messages.

Front View

Post Section

Section View

Wayfinding: Type B - Structure

4

3

1

2

3

2

1

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 99



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type D - Directory Map - Graphic Layout

The free standing directory maps include four 
map configurations, each representing a right-read 
orientation to assist the viewer in place navigation.
 
1. Finished with exterior grade penetrating   

opaque stain to match CL 2933M Salsify.  

2. Porcelain enamel panel. Colors derived from 
project standard palette.

NOTE:
 Fiberglass embedment digital output is acceptable 

to locations likely to require changes to the map 
graphic.

Wayfinding

Wayfinding: Type D - Graphic Layout

 Page 18

N

S

E W

28

2

4

3

98

6

5

1

10

12

18

13

17

16

23

11

7

15

14

19

20

21

22

24

17

Chautauqua Park Office

Auditorium

Ranger Cottage

Dining Hall

Tickets

Academic Hall

Picnic Shelter

Mission House

Columbine Lodge

Centenial Garden

Children’s Playground

Chautauqua Green

Boggess Circle

Kinnikinic Road Entrance

12th Street Entrance

City of Boulder Open Space

Mountain Parks

Waterwise Garden

Chautauqua Reservoir

Public Tennis Courts

Arbor

Pedestrian Entrance

Trail to Bluebell Canyon

Drop Off

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

You Are Here

Picnic

Trail

Restrooms

CHAUTAUQUA PARK
HISTORIC DISTRICT 2

1

1

N

S

E W

28

2

4

3

98

6

5

1

10

12

18

13

17

16

23

11

7

15

14

19

20

21

22

24

17

Chautauqua Park Office

Auditorium

Ranger Cottage

Dining Hall

Tickets

Academic Hall

Picnic Shelter

Mission House

Columbine Lodge

Centenial Garden

Children’s Playground

Chautauqua Green

Boggess Circle

Kinnikinic Road Entrance

12th Street Entrance

City of Boulder Open Space

Mountain Parks

Waterwise Garden

Chautauqua Reservoir

Public Tennis Courts

Arbor

Pedestrian Entrance

Trail to Bluebell Canyon

Drop Off

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

You Are Here

Picnic

Trail

Restrooms

CHAUTAUQUA PARK
HISTORIC DISTRICT

N

S

E W

28

2

4

3

98

6

5

1

10

12

18

13

17

16

23

11

7

15

14

19

20

21

22

24

17

Chautauqua Park Office

Auditorium

Ranger Cottage

Dining Hall

Tickets

Academic Hall

Picnic Shelter

Mission House

Columbine Lodge

Centenial Garden

Children’s Playground

Chautauqua Green

Boggess Circle

Kinnikinic Road Entrance

12th Street Entrance

City of Boulder Open Space

Mountain Parks

Waterwise Garden

Chautauqua Reservoir

Public Tennis Courts

Arbor

Pedestrian Entrance

Trail to Bluebell Canyon

Drop Off

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

You Are Here

Picnic

Trail

Restrooms

CHAUTAUQUA PARK
HISTORIC DISTRICT

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 100



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type D - Directory Map - Structure

Directory map signs are to be strategically placed in 
areas where visitors congregate or converge. 

1. 3/4” thick SignPly (or approved equal) Single-
sided, painted aluminum over furniture grade 
exterior plywood core. 

2. Galvanized wood screw.

3. Frame made from clear grain hardwood or 
cedar and finished smooth.

4. Clear grain cedar post. Post cap routed and 
sawed from solid post material – not added as 
a separate component.

5. Porcelain enamel or fiberglass embedded panel.

NOTE:  
 All surfaces of sign frame/panel and post must be 

primed and painted prior to assembly to ensure 
complete weather seal.

Wayfinding

3"

3"

3/8"

3"

2 3
/4"

4'-
6"

1'-9"

1'-
9"

4

Post Section

Section View Front View

Wayfinding: Type D - Structure

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"
Detail View

5

3

2

14

3

 Page 19

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 101



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type C - Changeable - Graphic Layout

The changeable sign will accommodate two line 
items.

1. Finished with exterior grade penetrating   
opaque stain to match CL 2933M Salsify.  

2. Finished with exterior grade enamel to match 
CW057W White Solitude. 

3. Matte Black A9090-O High Performance 
opaque vinyl (Avery), or black silk screen/print.

NOTE: 
 The decision to choose one fabrication method 

over the other for graphic information should be 
made considering sign size, durability needed/
desired, and risk of vandalism. 

Wayfinding

Cottages 
Available Tonight

Welcome to 
Chautauqua

2 3/4"

1 1/2"
2 1/4"

3

1

2

Wayfinding: Type C - Graphic Layout

 Page 20

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 102



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

Type C - Changeable - Structure

Changeable signs will be mounted beneath 
directional sign panels and directly onto the 
support posts. The panel inserts are held in place 
by slotted grooves within the top and bottom 
frame edges.  Panels receive a thumb slot visible 
only when panel has been slid upward.

1. 3/4” thick SignPly (or approved equal) Single-
sided, painted aluminum over furniture grade 
exterior plywood core. 

2. Galvanized wood screw.

3. Frame made from clear grain hardwood or 
cedar and finished smooth.

4. Clear grain cedar post. Post cap routed and 
sawed from solid post material – not added as 
a separate component.

5. 1/4” thick aluminum, primed and painted with 
exterior enamel to match CW057W White 
Solitude. Fits loose, but secure in grooved 
frame. Slide up and pull out to remove. Message 
on both sides of removable panel.

NOTE:  
 All surfaces of sign frame/panel and post must be 

primed and painted prior to assembly to ensure 
complete weather seal.

Wayfinding

10
"

2"

1'-7 1/2"

4

1

5

5

Section View Front View

Wayfinding: Type C - Structure

Detail View

3

2

4

3

 Page 21

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 103



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
InstallationWayfinding

Wayfinding: Installation

 Page 22

2'-
0"

2'-
0"

12"

8"

12"

8"

1. Post

2. Concrete to grade with positive top drainage 
angle

3. Gravel

2

3

1

Wayfinding: Installation

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 104



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
OverviewInterpretive

Introduction
The Colorado Chautauqua is a local treasure of national importance. It holds a unique place in history as one of the last chautauquas in 
continuous operation in the United States, and the only such site west of the Mississippi with its original structures intact. The site continues 
to draw hundreds of thousands of visitors each year, many of whom are unaware of Chautauqua’s historic significance. Rather, they seek the 
amenities and programs offered today. 

The interpretive program at Chautauqua serves to connect all visitors to the site’s rich history and to an important chapter in American 
history, thereby building appreciation and support for the resource. While education is the primary purpose of interpretation, encouraging 
attitudes and behaviors that promote conservation and preservation is a strong secondary purpose.

Designs for the interpretive program draw from the typical styles of the historic period of significance (1898-1930), including illustration, 
type, and graphic treatment. However, best practices in today’s interpretive methods are used for text writing, panel organization, 
universal access and fabrication. Samples are shown herein. Ornamentation is deliberate and judicious, and used to convey the character 
of Chautauqua’s formative days and to create hierarchy of information, as well as visual richness. Colors draw from the primary public 
structures, and include additional accent hues as appropriate to the times. The goal is to convey central messages in an engaging way for 
today’s visitors, while creating layouts that elicit the look and feel of the early Chautauqua days. 

Design Challenges
There is no end to interesting stories to tell about Chautauqua, yet the manner and means of telling them must be done carefully, and in 
small numbers. Individuals and firms responsible for implementing the interpretive program must exercise restraint regarding both numbers 
of exhibits created, and density of information. 

Exterior sloper panels allow for viewing of the structures and/or resources being interpreted. Porcelain enamel graphic panels are specified 
for this “permanent” application. While they are more expensive to produce, they provide a sophisticated high resolution full-color look, 
and are extremely durable in outdoor conditions. Temporary and event signage may be produced in faster turn-around and cost effective 
materials.

Interpretive signs and exhibits are to be located in strategic locations that add to, rather than detract from, Chautauqua’s historic nature.

Note: Requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act have been considered in specifications for the signs and graphics herein.

Interpretive: Overview

 Page 23

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 105



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     

Colors selected for wayfinding signage were 
derived from those found in existing architecture 
and are specified using Kwal paint formulas. 

Gradations of these colors are permissible.

All process and blends are to match physical paint 
samples as closely as possible, not specifications.

NOTE: Colors show on this page are for 
representation only.  Actual colors will differ due to 
output limitations.

Color PaletteInterpretive

Interpretive: Color Palette

413CW055W - Honeywind

CL 2933M - Salsify

Kwal Paint Match Pantone Closest MatchSample

413

CL 2725D - Dissent 465

8673M - Tavern Taupe 7535

7735D - Topaz 7405

8644M - Seal Beach 7538

Black 100% Process

CW057W - White Solitude N/A

 Page 24

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 106



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Fonts - StyleInterpretive

1. Gable Antique Condensed 
 Main Panel Titles

2. Adobe Garamond Pro Bold 
 Headers: Primary Text, Secondary Text, and 

Caption

3. Adobe Garamond Pro Bold Italic 
 Quotations, Poetry, Lyrics

4. Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 
 Body and Caption Copy

5. Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold Italic 
 Image Credits

Interpretive: Fonts - Style

1

2

3

4

5

 Page 25

1909 use of type nearly identical 
to Gable Antique Condensed

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 107



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Fonts - SizeInterpretive

1. Main Panel Title
 Gable Antique Condensed 160 pt. 
 Customized with a stepped drop shadow.

2. Primary Header
 Adobe Garamond Pro Bold 65 pt. 
 
3. Secondary Header
 Adobe Garamond Pro Bold 41 pt.
 
4. Caption Header
 Adobe Garamond Pro Bold 33 pt. 
 
5. Primary Text
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 30 pt.

6. Secondary Text
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 24 pt.

7. Caption Text
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 20 pt.
 
8. Quotation
 Adobe Garamond Pro Bold Italic 42 pt.
 
9. Quotation Source
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold Italic 20 pt.
 
10. Photo Credit/Source 
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 8 pt.

 

NOTES:
 Point size shown here is accurate only when this 

document is printed or viewed at tabloid size  
(11” x 17”) at 100%.

 Gable Antique Condensed as shown here and on 
the previous page has a few modifications. Serifs 
descending below the baseline have been modified 
in these forms: Uppercase F, H, K, M, N, R and 
lowercase p and q.

Interpretive: Fonts - Size

1

2

3

4

Uplifts

Entertainment as Enlightenment 

Tabernacle of Learning

When the “Texas-Colorado Chautauqua” 

Commitment to self-improvement

Easy access to nature and the mountains

from “Chautauqua Rally Song”      

Midst the glory 

5

6

7

8

9

Photo Courtesy of      10

 Page 26

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 108



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
PhotographyInterpretive

Black and white historic photos will serve as the 
primary graphic elements for interpretive panels. 
The archives stored and managed by the Colorado 
Chautauqua Association are a treasury of high 
quality images that can serve nearly all the essential 
messages for the site. Other local resources for 
historic photos include Boulder’s Carnegie Branch 
Library for Local History and the Archives at the 
University of Colorado Libraries.

1. Titles 
 Where existing, handwritten information on  

original photographs will be displayed.

2.  Tone of Photographs 
 B & W and color original photographs shall be 

scanned as color CMYK files to show warmth 
of original prints.

3.   Rules 
 Photographs shall generally include a 2-point 

rule around their perimeter at .125” from 
photo edge. Rule color may vary within the 
acceptable palette.

4. Clipping Paths  
 For variety and interest of large photographic  

images, photos may be clipped at logical and 
appropriate breaks. Clipping must be VERY 
carefully completed with 1-2 pixel feathering to 
soften edges. (Note red line indicated in lower 
figurer shows location of break, not decorative 
element).

1 2 3

4

Interpretive: Photography

 Page 27

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 109



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Illustration

Illustration style shall use continuous solid tone in 
early 20th century “poster” style. Duo-tone and 
multi-tone are acceptable, depending on existing 
source materials. Gradations within the illustration 
are to be avoided. Color originals should be placed 
as such.

Interpretive

Interpretive: Illustration

 Page 28

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 110



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Flourishes, Rules and Dingbats

Design elements are to be derived from historic 
references. Simpler forms are preferred over highly 
ornamental designs.

Use is to be limited primarily to key elements, such 
as primary headers.

If artifact images are used on a particular panel, 
elements may tie directly to these references.

Interpretive

Interpretive: Flourishes, Rules, and Dingbats

 Page 29

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 111



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Interpretive WritingInterpretive

Overview
Interpretive writing is an art that involves using language precisely to engage visitors and convey key messages quickly. This is prose as 
story telling. Reading interpretive writing should be enjoyable for visitors. Such writing should include information that helps visitors 
connect to the resource as well as to their own lives.  
 

Writing Guidelines
• In general, use short words, sentences, and paragraphs.
• Vary sentence length and structure.
• Use active verb forms wherever possible.
• Use “colorful” descriptors.
• Avoid highly technical terms, as well as slang or overly casual constructions (except where these are integral to the content). 

Once text has been written, then edit, edit, edit. Brevity and simplicity are always key to successful interpretive writing. Readership always 
trumps elegance.
 
 
Text Layout Guidelines
How interpretive text is presented on the page carries equal importance to its content. Layout can determine whether text gets read 
and understood. These guidelines are intended to help visitors engage easily with the printed word.
 
• Use different type styles and sizes to cue the reader about where to begin, and to communicate the most essential elements.  
• Avoid hyphenation.
• Take care with line length and wraps; avoid widows.
• Do not exceed 55 characters in a line of text, regardless of font size or panel width.
• View blocks of copy as graphic elements, to be grouped on the panel in harmonious balance with other elements. 

 
Design and Installation Considerations
Exhibits are generally viewed while visitors are standing, except in the case of visitors using wheelchairs. For most of us, looking down 
is easier down than up, as the head and eyes naturally incline downward. Therefore, care should be taken regarding where content sits 
above the floor on panels. In general, panel content (excluding large headers and graphics) should not exceed 66” above the floor at 
the viewing location. 
 
 
Note: These guidelines do not discuss storyline and message development. These essential steps must occur before the process of text 
development.

Interpretive: Interpretive Writing

 Page 30

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 112



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Sign TypesInterpretive

Interpretive signs at the site may be free-standing 
or mounted to existing or future structures.  

Type E1
 Sloper panel: large, free-standing

Type E2
 Sloper panel: small, free-standing

Type E3
 Sloper panel: large, wall mount

Type E4
 Sloper panel: small, wall mount 

Type E5
 Flush wall mount: Vertical Panel

Type E6
 Flush wall mount: Horizontal Panel

Type E7, E8, E9, E10
 Tour Locator,  free-standing and adaptations to
 sign structures. 

 

Interpretive: Sign Types

 Page 31

Type E1 Type E2 Type E3 Type E4

Type E5 Type E6

6’-
0"

Types E7, E8, E9, E10

7
Community

House

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 113



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     

When the “Texas-Colorado Chautauqua” opened on 
July 4, 1898, Boulder joined a major movement sweeping 
the nation. The chautauqua ideals stressed educational and 
cultural activities held in an inspiring natural setting, and 
encouraged healthful physical recreation.

Movement Uplifts and Inspires

Like hundreds of other 
chautauquas across the country, 
the Colorado Chautauqua
drew from pool of speakers 
and performers who traveled 
the circuit. Daily programs 
gave the highlights, like 
this one from 1911. 

Easy access to nature and the mountains made this 
site in Boulder perfect for a chautauqua. Ladies in 
bonnets, gentlemen in suits, children in knickers 
and jumpers—all scaled the Flatirons together. 

Entertainment as Enlightenment 
Music, theater and oration—these expressive arts played a 
key part of everyday activities. Chautauqua-goers participated 
in instruction and performances during the day, then 
watched the professionals every evening. 

Commitment to self-improvement has 
long been the American way, and was 
considered sacred by the chautauqua 
movement. Adult students gathered in 
the Academic Hall’s “chapel room” for 
lectures and classes.

Tabernacle of Learning

C
ar

ne
gi

e 
B

ra
nc

h 
Li

br
ar

y 
fo

r 
Lo

ca
l H

is
to

ry
: B

ou
ld

er
, C

ol
or

ad
o

C
ar

ne
gi

e 
B

ra
nc

h 
Li

br
ar

y 
fo

r 
Lo

ca
l H

is
to

ry
: B

ou
ld

er
, C

ol
or

ad
o

C
ol

or
ad

o 
C

ha
ut

au
qu

a 
C

ot
ta

ge
rs

C
ha

m
be

rl
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ct
io

n 
(1

89
9)

Sloper - Types E1 to E4 - Typographic SizingInterpretive

1

2

5

3

6

Fonts and Sizes:

1. Main Panel Title
 Gable Antique Condensed 160 pt. 
 Customized with a stepped drop shadow.

2. Primary Header
 Adobe Garamond Pro Bold 65 pt. 
 
3. Secondary Header
 Adobe Garamond Pro Bold 41 pt.
 
4. Caption Header
 Adobe Garamond Pro Bold 33 pt. 
 
5. Primary Text
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 30/40 pt.

6. Secondary Text
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 24/28 pt.

7. Caption Text
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 20/25 pt.
 
8. Photo Credit/Source 
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 8 pt.

Interpretive: Sloper - Typographic Sizing

7

4

8

 

 Page 32

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 114



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     

When the “Texas-Colorado Chautauqua” opened on 
July 4, 1898, Boulder joined a major movement sweeping 
the nation. The chautauqua ideals stressed educational and 
cultural activities held in an inspiring natural setting, and 
encouraged healthful physical recreation.

Movement Uplifts and Inspires

Like hundreds of other 
chautauquas across the country, 
the Colorado Chautauqua
drew from pool of speakers 
and performers who traveled 
the circuit. Daily programs 
gave the highlights, like 
this one from 1911. 

Easy access to nature and the mountains made this 
site in Boulder perfect for a chautauqua. Ladies in 
bonnets, gentlemen in suits, children in knickers 
and jumpers—all scaled the Flatirons together. 

Entertainment as Enlightenment 
Music, theater and oration—these expressive arts played a 
key part of everyday activities. Chautauqua-goers participated 
in instruction and performances during the day, then 
watched the professionals every evening. 

Commitment to self-improvement has 
long been the American way, and was 
considered sacred by the chautauqua 
movement. Adult students gathered in 
the Academic Hall’s “chapel room” for 
lectures and classes.

Tabernacle of Learning

C
ar

ne
gi

e 
B

ra
nc

h 
Li

br
ar

y 
fo

r 
Lo

ca
l H

is
to

ry
: B

ou
ld

er
, C

ol
or

ad
o

C
ar

ne
gi

e 
B

ra
nc

h 
Li

br
ar

y 
fo

r 
Lo

ca
l H

is
to

ry
: B

ou
ld

er
, C

ol
or

ad
o

C
ol

or
ad

o 
C

ha
ut

au
qu

a 
C

ot
ta

ge
rs

C
ha

m
be

rl
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ct
io

n 
(1

89
9)

Sloper - Types E1 to E4 - Design ElementsInterpretive

1. Primary title header and copy to be on panel, 
harkening to early 20th century print style.

2. Logo and Flatirons lithograph image from 1909 
letterhead works as background to panel title.  
Illustration and masthead bar draw from colors 
on historic Chautauqua buildings: 8644M (Seal 
Beach). Panel color below calls on CW055W 
(Honeywind). Note: Adobe Illustrator art delivered 
as electronic file with Master Signage Plan.

3. Panel title text is a screened version of 7735D 
(Topaz) with a black drop-shadow rule.

4. Vary size and configuration of photography 
across panels to include both large (feature) 
images and smaller (detail) images.

5. Rules and dingbats are permitted when used in 
traditional style; however, elements should be 
used only modestly and to create hierarchy of 
content.

6. Where appropriate, background illustrations 
may strengthen panel content. Illustrations to be 
from historic print collateral artwork or newly 
commissioned work in this style.

7. Historic photography shown in a rectilinear 
fashion will always be square to panel and 
include a 2-point rule .125” from photo edge.

8. When possible, photo representations of 
historically relevant printwork should be used as 
“artifacts.” Showing such artifacts at an angle can 
enhance variety. Text accompanying artifacts can 
justify to angle, where appropriate.

9. Second background color on panel can be used 
to accentuate or isolate content. 

Note: This sample layout serves to illustrate the 
guidelines; it is not intended as a template.

1

9

5

4

6

3  

2

8    

Interpretive: Sloper - Design Elements

 Page 33

7

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 115



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     

When the “Texas-Colorado Chautauqua” opened on 
July 4, 1898, Boulder joined a major movement sweeping 
the nation. The chautauqua ideals stressed educational and 
cultural activities held in an inspiring natural setting, and 
encouraged healthful physical recreation.

Movement Uplifts and Inspires

Like hundreds of other 
chautauquas across the country, 
the Colorado Chautauqua
drew from pool of speakers 
and performers who traveled 
the circuit. Daily programs 
gave the highlights, like 
this one from 1911. 

Easy access to nature and the mountains made this 
site in Boulder perfect for a chautauqua. Ladies in 
bonnets, gentlemen in suits, children in knickers 
and jumpers—all scaled the Flatirons together. 

Entertainment as Enlightenment 
Music, theater and oration—these expressive arts played a 
key part of everyday activities. Chautauqua-goers participated 
in instruction and performances during the day, then 
watched the professionals every evening. 

Commitment to self-improvement has 
long been the American way, and was 
considered sacred by the chautauqua 
movement. Adult students gathered in 
the Academic Hall’s “chapel room” for 
lectures and classes.

Tabernacle of Learning

C
ar

ne
gi

e 
B

ra
nc

h 
Li

br
ar

y 
fo

r 
Lo

ca
l H

is
to

ry
: B

ou
ld

er
, C

ol
or

ad
o

C
ar

ne
gi

e 
B

ra
nc

h 
Li

br
ar

y 
fo

r 
Lo

ca
l H

is
to

ry
: B

ou
ld

er
, C

ol
or

ad
o

C
ol

or
ad

o 
C

ha
ut

au
qu

a 
C

ot
ta

ge
rs

C
ha

m
be

rl
ai

n 
C

ol
le

ct
io

n 
(1

89
9)

Sloper - Types E1 to E4 - Message LengthInterpretive

Messaging is designed to provide varying levels of 
information that match the user’s interest. A clearly 
defined hierarchy encourages visitor engagement 
and helps direct readers through the intended flow 
of content.

1. 3 Second Message
 Panel title uses short and well-crafted copy to 

convey “big-picture” take away.

 Copy Length - Up to 6 words

2. 30 Second Message
 Primary header and text are constructed to 

convey the overall message of the panel.

 Copy Length
 Text - Up to 45 words

3. 3 Minute Message
 In-depth information for a more specialized read. 

Secondary storylines further enhance overall 
messaging.

 Copy Length
 Secondary Text - Up to 45 words
 Caption Text - Up to 25 words

Interpretive: Sloper - Message Length

 Page 34

1

2

3

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 116



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type E1 - Large Free Standing Sloper - StructureInterpretive

2"

4" 6"

1'-
7"

1’-10” to 4’-0”

7"

3"2'-
4"

22.5º

2

5

1

1. Painted 1/4” thick aluminum plate welded to 
post

2. Security hardware

3. 1” thick all-weather backer panel

4. Painted 1/2” face x 1 1/2” side aluminum frame 
with security hardware, painted to match 
CL2725D Dissent

5. Painted aluminum 3” x 3” post, direct burial or 
 as over-sleave depending on mounting 

condition, painted to match CL2725D Dissent

6. Porcelain enamel graphic

Interpretive: Type E1 - Structure

5

Section View Front View

Panel Cut-away  View

 Page 35

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"
3/8

"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

Detail View

4

2

6

5

1

3

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 117



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type E2 - Small Free Standing Sloper - StructureInterpretive

2"

3"

6" 6"

1'-
3"

7"

1’-6” to 2’-6”

2'-
4"

22.5º

1. Painted 1/4” thick aluminum plate welded to 
post

2. Security hardware

3. 1” thick all-weather backer panel

4. Painted 1/2” face x 1 1/2” side aluminum frame 
with security hardware, painted to match 
CL2725D Dissent

5. Painted aluminum 3” x 3” post, direct burial or 
 as over-sleave depending on mounting 

condition, painted to match CL2725D Dissent

6. Porcelain enamel graphic

Interpretive: Type E2 - Structure

2

5

1

5

Section View Front View

Panel Cut-away  View

 Page 36

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"
3/8

"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

Detail View

4

2

6

5

1

3

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 118



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type E3 - Large Wall Sloper - StructureInterpretive

1'-
7"

1’-10” to 4’-0”

2'-
4"

2"

22.5º

1

2

5

1. Painted aluminum 1” x 1” welded frame system, 
painted to match CL2725D Dissent

2. Security hardware

3. 1” thick all-weather backer panel

4. Painted 1/2” face x 1 1/2” side aluminum frame 
with security hardware, painted to match 
CL2725D Dissent

5. Galvanized lag or bolt connection, painted cap 
to match frame

6. Porcelain enamel graphic

Interpretive: Type E3 - Structure

Section View Front View

Panel Cut-away  View

 Page 37

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

Detail View

4

2

6

3

1

5

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 119



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type E4 - Small Wall Sloper - StructureInterpretive

1'-
3"

1’-6” to 2’-6”

2'-
4"

2"

22.5º

2

1

5

1. Painted aluminum 1” x 1” welded frame system, 
painted to match CL2725D Dissent

2. Security hardware

3. 1” thick all-weather backer panel

4. Painted 1/2” face x 1 1/2” side aluminum frame 
with security hardware, painted to match 
CL2725D Dissent

5. Galvanized lag or bolt connection, painted cap 
to match frame

6. Porcelain enamel graphic

Interpretive: Type E4 - Structure

Section View Front View

Panel Cut-away  View

 Page 38

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

Detail View

4

2

6

3

1

5

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 120



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     

Chautauqua’s next-to-nature setting encouraged separation 
from the workaday world. Yet even recreation took on a 
moral mandate within the Chautauqua Movement’s 
dedication to “useful leisure.” By 1915, the frenzied 
recreational pace prompted cottagers to institute 
Quiet Hours–to rest before the next activity. 

Learning and Playing in Nature

Scrambling and tramping in Boulder’s 
foothills proved an exhilarating experience for 
many Chautauqua-goers. Founded in 1906, the 
Colorado Chautauqua Climbers Club counted 
2,000 people on its summer outings in 1923.  

The Photo Makes the Memory 
A special experience calls for a picture! During Chautauqua’s 
early years, “Rocky Mountain Joe” (Joseph B. Sturtevant) 
“tuck” many a face.

After camping overnight, 
Chautauquans watch 
the sunrise. Campers 
were advised to wear 
hob-nailed shoes (with 
spikes), two pairs of hose 
(stockings) and a heavy 
sweater. Ladies wore 
skirts, of course!

The Climbers Club rated Chautauqua 
outings according to difficulty—one 
to five “degrees.” Nearby Royal Arch 
received third degree status, but was 
later downgraded.

Midst the glory of the mountains,
 ’neath a blue and wondrous sky
Lies Chautauqua, winsome beauty,
 sure delight to heart and eye.

from “Chautauqua Rally Song”           

M
ar

y 
G

al
ey

 C
ol

le
ct

io
n

C
ar

ne
gi

e 
B

ra
nc

h 
Li

br
ar

y 
fo

r 
Lo

ca
l H

is
to

ry
: B

ou
ld

er
, C

ol
or

ad
o 

(1
91

2)

A
rc

hi
ve

s,
 U

ni
ve

rs
it

y 
of

 C
ol

or
ad

o 
at

 B
ou

ld
er

 L
ib

ra
ri

es

Types E5 and E6 - Flush Wall Mount - Typographic SizingInterpretive

2

3

Fonts and Sizes:

1. Main Panel Title
 Gable Antique Condensed 160 pt. 
 Customized with a stepped drop shadow.

2. Primary Header
 Adobe Garamond Pro Bold 65 pt. 
  
3 Caption Header
 Adobe Garamond Pro Bold 33 pt. 
 
4. Primary Text
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 30/40 pt.

5. Secondary Text
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 24/28 pt.

6. Caption Text
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 20/25 pt.
 
7. Quotation
 Adobe Garamond Pro Bold Italic 42 pt.
 
8. Quotation Source
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold Italic 20 pt.
 
9. Photo Credit/Source 
 Adobe Garamond Pro Semibold 8 pt.

 

Interpretive: Types E5 and E6 - Type Sizing

7

1

4

6

5

8

9

 Page 39

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 121



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     

Chautauqua’s next-to-nature setting encouraged separation 
from the workaday world. Yet even recreation took on a 
moral mandate within the Chautauqua Movement’s 
dedication to “useful leisure.” By 1915, the frenzied 
recreational pace prompted cottagers to institute 
Quiet Hours–to rest before the next activity. 

Learning and Playing in Nature

Scrambling and tramping in Boulder’s 
foothills proved an exhilarating experience for 
many Chautauqua-goers. Founded in 1906, the 
Colorado Chautauqua Climbers Club counted 
2,000 people on its summer outings in 1923.  

The Photo Makes the Memory 
A special experience calls for a picture! During Chautauqua’s 
early years, “Rocky Mountain Joe” (Joseph B. Sturtevant) 
“tuck” many a face.

After camping overnight, 
Chautauquans watch 
the sunrise. Campers 
were advised to wear 
hob-nailed shoes (with 
spikes), two pairs of hose 
(stockings) and a heavy 
sweater. Ladies wore 
skirts, of course!

The Climbers Club rated Chautauqua 
outings according to difficulty—one 
to five “degrees.” Nearby Royal Arch 
received third degree status, but was 
later downgraded.

Midst the glory of the mountains,
 ’neath a blue and wondrous sky
Lies Chautauqua, winsome beauty,
 sure delight to heart and eye.

from “Chautauqua Rally Song”           

M
ar

y 
G

al
ey

 C
ol

le
ct

io
n

C
ar

ne
gi

e 
B

ra
nc

h 
Li

br
ar

y 
fo

r 
Lo

ca
l H

is
to

ry
: B

ou
ld

er
, C

ol
or

ad
o 

(1
91

2)

A
rc

hi
ve

s,
 U

ni
ve

rs
it

y 
of

 C
ol

or
ad

o 
at

 B
ou

ld
er

 L
ib

ra
ri

es

Types E5 and E6 - Flush Wall Mount - Design Interpretive

4

1. Use of drop shadows is limited to images used 
as “artifact” objects, thereby creating a distinction 
and hierarchy of elements.

2. 1/2” face-profile metal frame on edges adds 
visual containment to panels.

3. Quotations and excerpts can be drawn from 
historic sources to provide quick read delivery 
of major ideas and/or to engage the visitor.

4. Clipped or cutout historical photographs can be 
used as major anchoring elements.

5. Ornamental graphics taken from period print 
material may be used to support the panel’s 
historical aesthetic and/or to place emphasis on 
certain content.

NOTE:
 This sample layout serves to illustrate the 

guidelines; it is not intended as a template.

2

3

Interpretive: Types E5 and E6 - Design

1

 Page 40

5

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 122



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     

Chautauqua’s next-to-nature setting encouraged separation 
from the workaday world. Yet even recreation took on a 
moral mandate within the Chautauqua Movement’s 
dedication to “useful leisure.” By 1915, the frenzied 
recreational pace prompted cottagers to institute 
Quiet Hours–to rest before the next activity. 

Learning and Playing in Nature

Scrambling and tramping in Boulder’s 
foothills proved an exhilarating experience for 
many Chautauqua-goers. Founded in 1906, the 
Colorado Chautauqua Climbers Club counted 
2,000 people on its summer outings in 1923.  

The Photo Makes the Memory 
A special experience calls for a picture! During Chautauqua’s 
early years, “Rocky Mountain Joe” (Joseph B. Sturtevant) 
“tuck” many a face.

After camping overnight, 
Chautauquans watch 
the sunrise. Campers 
were advised to wear 
hob-nailed shoes (with 
spikes), two pairs of hose 
(stockings) and a heavy 
sweater. Ladies wore 
skirts, of course!

The Climbers Club rated Chautauqua 
outings according to difficulty—one 
to five “degrees.” Nearby Royal Arch 
received third degree status, but was 
later downgraded.

Midst the glory of the mountains,
 ’neath a blue and wondrous sky
Lies Chautauqua, winsome beauty,
 sure delight to heart and eye.

from “Chautauqua Rally Song”           

M
ar

y 
G

al
ey

 C
ol

le
ct

io
n

C
ar

ne
gi

e 
B

ra
nc

h 
Li

br
ar

y 
fo

r 
Lo

ca
l H

is
to

ry
: B

ou
ld

er
, C

ol
or

ad
o 

(1
91

2)

A
rc

hi
ve

s,
 U

ni
ve

rs
it

y 
of

 C
ol

or
ad

o 
at

 B
ou

ld
er

 L
ib

ra
ri

es

Types E5 and E6 - Flush Wall Mount - Messaging Interpretive

2

Messaging is designed to provide varying levels of 
information that match the user’s interest. A clearly 
defined hierarchy encourages visitor engagement 
and helps direct readers through the intended flow 
of content.

1. 3 Second Message
 Panel title uses short and well-crafted copy to 

convey “big-picture” take away.

 Copy Length - Up to 6 words

2. 30 Second Message
 Primary header and text are constructed to 

convey the overall message of the panel.

 Copy Length
 Text - Up to 45 words

3. 3 Minute Message
 In-depth information for a more specialized read. 

Secondary storylines further enhance overall 
messaging.

 Copy Length
 Secondary Text - Up to 45 words
 Caption Text - Up to 25 words

3

Interpretive: Types E5 and E6 - Messaging

1

 Page 41

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 123



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     

1’6” to 3’

1/2
"

2’ 
to 

4’
1'-

6"
 (M

IN
IM

UM
 F

RO
M 

FL
OO

R)

2'-
0"

 (M
IN

IM
UM

 F
RO

M 
FL

OO
R 

TO
 T

EX
T)

Type E5 - Flush Wall Mount: Vertical - Structure     Interpretive

4

1. Attachment hardware, style depends on   
substrate

2. 1” thick all-weather backer panel

3. Painted 1/2” face x 1 1/2” side aluminum frame  
with security hardware

4. Low-profile “Z” cleat

5.  4-color fiberglass embed digital exterior graphic

Interpretive: Type E5 - Structure

Front ViewSection View

 Page 42

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

5

Detail View

3

4

1

2

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 124



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type E6 - Flush Wall Mount: Horizontal - Structure     Interpretive

1. Attachment hardware, style depends on   
substrate

2. 1” thick all-weather backer panel

3. Painted 1/2” face x 1 1/2” side aluminum frame  
with security hardware

4. Low-profile “Z” cleat

5.  4-color fiberglass embed digital exterior graphic

Interpretive: Type E6 - Structure

2’ to 4’

VA
RI

ES
3'-

0"
 (M

IN
IM

UM
 F

RO
M 

FL
OO

R)

1/2
"

4

3/8
"

1 1
/8"

1 1/2"

3"

1" 1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"
1/16"

3/4"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

1"

1/4"

1 1/2"

3"

3/8
"

1 1
/8"3/8

"1 1
/8"2"

3/8
"

3/4"

3/8
"

3/8
"

1/4"1"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/16"

1"

1/2"

1 1/2"
1/8"

1"

1/2"

1/4"
1/4"

1/2"

1/2
"

1"

30mm

1 1/4"

2"3"

1 1/2"

1"
1/2

" 1/2
"

1 1
/2"

5"

1/2" 1 1
/2"

1"

1/4"

5

Detail View

3

4

1

2

Front ViewSection View

 Page 43

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 125



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type E7 - Tour Locator - Structure & Graphic Layout     Interpretive

1. Porcelain enamel plate (or equivalent). Numeral 
and text to match black, background to match 
8644M Seal Beach. 

2. Integral protruding bolt secures aluminum backer 
plate to aluminum tubing with security nut.

 
3.  1/8” thick aluminum backer plate, coated with 

heavy enamel as buffer between aluminum and 
porcelain steel plate.

4. Painted aluminum 1” x 1” post, direct burial or 
 as over-sleave depending on mounting condition, 

painted to match CL2725D Dissent.

Interpretive: Type E7 - Structure & Graphic

7
Community

House
Audio Tour (866-227-8679)

22.5º

1'-
6"

5/16"

3/4"

3/16"5/8"

1 1/2"

1/2"

1/2"

3/8"
1/2"

5"

5"

3"

3"

2

Detail View
(Graphic)

4

Front ViewSection View

 Page 44

Plan View

1

1

3

1

4

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 126



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type E8 - Tour Locator - Structure & Graphic Layout     Interpretive

1. Porcelain enamel plate (or equivalent). Numeral 
and text to match black, background to match 
8644M Seal Beach. 

2. Mounting assembly. Consists of 1/8” thick 
aluminum plate and 1” x 1” square aluminum 
tube. 

 
3.  1/8” thick aluminum backer plate, coated with 

heavy enamel as buffer between aluminum and 
porcelain steel plate, mechanically fastened.

4. Existing free-standing sloper.

Interpretive: Type E8 - Structure & Graphic

5"

5"

Front ViewSection View

 Page 45

Plan View

2

4

3

4

1

1

1

2

3

4

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 127



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type E9 - Tour Locator - Structure & Graphic Layout     Interpretive

1. Porcelain enamel plate (or equivalent). Numeral 
and text to match black, background to match 
8644M Seal Beach. 

2. Mounting assembly. Consists of 1/8” thick 
aluminum plate and 1” x 1” square aluminum 
tube. 

 
3.  1/8” thick aluminum backer plate, coated with 

heavy enamel as buffer between aluminum and 
porcelain steel plate, mechanically fastened.

4. Existing wall mounted sloper.

Interpretive: Type E9 - Structure & Graphic

2"

5"

5"

3/8"

4"

2

4

Front ViewSection View

 Page 46

Plan View

1

3

4

1

2

1

2

3

4

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 128



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Type E10 - Tour Locator - Structure & Graphic Layout     Interpretive

1. Porcelain enamel plate (or equivalent). Numeral 
and text to match black, background to match 
8644M Seal Beach. 

2. Wood support mount, secured to sign post 
with mechanical fasteners, finished smooth and 
painted to match substrate.

 
3.  1/8” thick aluminum backer plate, coated with 

heavy enamel as buffer between aluminum and 
porcelain steel plate, mechanically fastened to 
wood support mount.

4. Existing Building Identity Sign.

Interpretive: Type E10 - Structure & Graphic

5"

5"

2"

2"

3"

1"

4

Front ViewSection View

 Page 47

1

1

3

2

3

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 129



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Installation: Free-standing SignsInterpretive

Interpretive: Installation

 Page 48

2'-
0"

2'-
0"

12"

8"

12"

8"

2

3

1

1. Post

2. Concrete, with positive top drainage angle

3. Gravel

4. Post (sleeve)

5. Post Anchor
4

5

Over-sleave Mounting Option

2

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 130



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Wayfinding Locations: Phase ILocator Maps  Page 49

Locator Maps: Phase I Wayfinding Locations

Type G
Gateway

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices
Auditorium
Community House

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices
Auditorium
Community House

Trail Head Parking
Auditorium
Dining Hall

Types P1 and P2
Pedestrian Directional

Types V1 and V2
Vehicular Directional

Cottages 
Available Tonight

Welcome to 
Chautauqua

Type C
Changeable Panel

EST. 1898

900 BASELINE ROAD

AUDITORIUM • DINING HALL
PARK • COTTAGES • TRAILS

COLORADO CHAUTAUQUA
NATIONAL HISTORIC

LANDMARK

Type D
Directory Map

GG

V2

P1

V1/CD

D

6’-
0"

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 131



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Interpretive Locations: Phase ILocator Maps  Page 50

Locator Maps: Phase I Interpretive Locations

E5

E5

E1

Type E1
Large Sloper
Free-standing

Type E5
Wall Mount
Vertical

6’-
0"

E5

NHL

NHL

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 132



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Wayfinding Locations: Phase IILocator Maps  Page 51

Locator Maps: Phase II Wayfinding Locations

Type D
Directory Map

6’-
0"

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices
Auditorium
Community House

Dining Hall
CMF Office
Lodging Offices

Types P1 and P2
Pedestrian Directional

P2
P2

D

D

D

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 133



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Interpretive Locations: Phase IILocator Maps  Page 52

Locator Maps: Phase II Interpretive Locations

E6

Type E1
Large Sloper
Free-standing

E10

E7

E7
E1

E10

6’-
0"

Type E6
Flush Wall Mount
Horizontal

Type E7, E8, E9, E10
Tour Locator

7

E1/E8

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 134



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Wayfinding Locations: Future PhasesLocator Maps  Page 53

Locator Maps: Future Wayfinding Locations

Type D
Directory Map

6’-
0"

D

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 135



     

  
    

Master Signage Plan              February 27, 2009

Colorado Chautauqua National Historic Landmark     
Interpretive Locations: Future PhasesLocator Maps  Page 54

Locator Maps: Future Interpretive Locations

E2

Type E1
Large Sloper
Free-standing

E7

E1

Type E5
Wall Mount
Vertical

6’-
0"

E1

E7

E7

E5

E5

E3/E5

E1/E8

E1/E8

E3/E5

Type E2
Small Sloper
Free-standing

Type E3
Large Sloper
Wall Mount

Type E7, E8, E9, E10
Tour Locator

7

E1

Attachment G-3: Chautauqua Master Signage Plan

Agenda Item 5C     Page 136



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 140



Item Amount Group Costs

Civic Area 8,700,000                                 8,700,000                

Hill Residential Pedestrian Lighting 2,000,000                                 

Hill Commercial District Event Street 750,000                                    

Hill Commercial District Irrigation and Street Tree Improvements 520,000                                    3,270,000                

Boulder Creek Path Lighting 1,040,000                                 

Boulder Creek Pathway Improvements 885,000                                    1,925,000                

Arapahoe / 13th Street Underpass -                                             -                            

Eben Fine Park Stream Bank Restoration 700,000                                    700,000                    

Dairy Center 3,850,000                                 3,850,000                

Museum of Boulder 4,000,000                                 4,000,000                

Public Arts Program 600,000                                    600,000                    

Chautauqua Pedestrian Safety Access / Lighting 1,500,000                                 1,500,000                

Contingency  added $100,000 655,000                                    655,000                    

Total 25,200,000                              25,200,000              

Est. Revenue 25,200,000                               25,200,000              

Over/(Under) -                                             -                            

 Community, Culture and Safety Investments - 0.28% total for three years $25.2M - reduction of $2.4M from .30%

Attachment J: .28% Temporary Sales and Use Tax Option

Agenda Item 5C     Page 141



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 142



Item Amount Group Costs

Civic Area 8,700,000                                 8,700,000                

Hill Residential Pedestrian Lighting 2,000,000                                 

Hill Commercial District Event Street 750,000                                    

Hill Commercial District Irrigation and Street Tree Improvements 520,000                                    3,270,000                

Boulder Creek Path Lighting 1,040,000                                 

Boulder Creek Pathway Improvements 885,000                                    1,925,000                

Arapahoe / 13th Street Underpass -                                             -                            

Eben Fine Park Stream Bank Restoration -                                             -                            

Dairy Center 3,850,000                                 3,850,000                

Museum of Boulder 4,000,000                                 4,000,000                

Public Arts Program 600,000                                    600,000                    

Chautauqua Pedestrian Safety Access / Lighting - reduced $250K 1,250,000                                 1,250,000                

Contingency-Increased by $150K 705,000                                    705,000                    

Total 24,300,000                              24,300,000              

Est. Revenue 24,300,000                               24,300,000              

Over/(Under) -                                             -                            

 Community, Culture and Safety Investments - 0.27% total for three years $24.3M - reduction of $3.3M from .30%

Attachment K: .27% Temporary Sales and Use Tax Option

Agenda Item 5C     Page 143



 

 

 

 

This Page Intentionally Left Blank 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 144



 

Project Information Sheet 

What is the Chautauqua Pedestrian Safety, Access and Lighting Improvements Project? 

The Chautauqua Pedestrian Safety, Access and Lighting Improvements Project addresses the south side 
of Baseline Road from the park boundary near 10th Street to west of Sixth Street. This Chautauqua 
Project fulfills the direction of the 2014 voter-approved Community, Culture and Safety Tax to improve 
pedestrian safety and incorporate Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)-compliant curbs and ramps 
along Baseline Road in the Chautauqua area.  The second component to the project will address the 
safety need for low-level lighting in the park along the walkway from the King’s Gate entrance to the 
parking lot east of the tennis courts.  The project is an inter-departmental City of Boulder project that 
honors the historic and natural character of the area while providing important safety improvements.  

Improvements 

The Chautauqua Project will provide the following improvements: 

 Construction of  5-foot wide sidewalks on the south side of Baseline Road from the park 
boundary near 10th Street to the end of on-street parking west of Sixth Street 

 Improved ADA-compliant pedestrian crossings along Baseline Road 

 Improved pedestrian connections from Baseline Road to Open Space and Mountain Parks 
designated access trails (per the West Trail Study Area Plan) and to existing Parks and 
Recreation paths 

 Native shrubs and plantings to replace non-native species and improve landscape conditions on 
the north edge of the Chautauqua meadow   

 Transit stop improvements, including an ADA-compliant ramp at  King’s Gate  

 Pedestrian lighting from the King’s Gate entrance to the parking lot east of the tennis courts 
interior to Chautauqua Park (no additional lighting will be installed along Baseline Road or  
OSMP public land) 

 Installation of way-finding elements within the Chautauqua project area-per the Colorado 
Chautauqua Association National Historic Landmark Master Signage Plan 

Funding 

The Chautauqua Project will cost around $1.5 million and is funded by the 2014 voter-approved 
Community, Culture and Safety Tax. 

Why is the Chautauqua Project needed? 

This section of Baseline Road serves an important role for the use of Chautauqua Park, Open Space and 
Mountain Parks trails and Chautauqua Association lodging, programming and venues. These three facets 
of Chautauqua, combined, attract more than half a million visitors per year.   
 



Currently, the lack of sidewalk on the south side of Baseline Road from west of Sixth Street east to King’s 
Gate creates a safety hazard. Pedestrians travel in the street increasing pedestrian-vehicle and 
pedestrian-bicycle conflict. The lack of sidewalks also impedes the mobility and access of area residents. 
Consequently, the project area has been identified in the City’s Missing Sidewalk Links program.   
 
The Transportation Master Plan (TMP) prioritizes providing travel options by constructing multimodal 
facilities. The project supports this TMP goal through construction of sidewalks and transit stop 
amenities. Additionally, this project provides OSMP the opportunity to implement the Council-approved 
West Trail Study Area Plan, which includes recommendations to reduce the number of damaging social 
trails on the north side of the Chautauqua Meadow. This project also aligns with the Colorado 
Chautauqua Association 2004 Cultural Landscape Assessment and Plan’s recommendations to restore 
historic views “in and from Chautauqua Park.” 

When will the Chautauqua Project begin? 

Vegetation pruning and removal is scheduled to take place in fall, 2016, followed by construction in fall 
and winter 2016-2017. 
 

  2015 2016 2017 

  Sept Oct Fall Winter Spring 

Board and Committee Presentations  
    

Public Meeting          

Preliminary and Final Design Development  
    

Vegetation Pruning & Removal          

Construction Start          

Construction Completion          

Construction Impacts 

Project construction is anticipated to begin in the winter of 2016 and will take six months to complete. 
 
The Chautauqua Project will remove small- and medium-sized trees along Baseline Road, including 
cherry trees that died in the November 2014 freeze and green ash trees that are in poor health and are 
susceptible to emerald ash borer, a destructive insect pest.  
 
Tree protection will be used for trees to be preserved, including the large white and red oaks on the 
north side of the park. The project will plant eight new trees in the park outside of the natural area. 

 
Additional construction impacts are to be determined: parking restrictions, pedestrian detours, 
vehicular lane narrowing, and bicycle detours may be in effect during construction. 

How can I get more information about this and other projects? 

To find the latest information about this project, visit the Chautauqua Project webpage or contact 
Melanie Sloan at 303-441-4934 or by email at sloanm@bouldercolorado.gov. 
 
 

https://bouldercolorado.gov/pages/chautauqua-pedestrian-safety-access-and-lighting
mailto:sloanm@bouldercolorado.gov


CITY OF BOULDER  
MEMORANDUM 

 
 

TO: Landmarks Board 
   
FROM: James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner, Planning, Housing + 

Sustainability 
 Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner, PH+S 
 Susan Richstone, Deputy Director, PH+S 
 Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager, 

PH+S 
 Courtland Hyser, Senior Planner, PH+S 
 Jean Gatza, Sustainability Planner, PH+S 

Caitlin Zacharias, Associate Planner, PH+S 
 
 
DATE: October 7, 2015 
 
SUBJECT:   Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 2015 Update – Briefing on 

Foundational Work, Community Kick Off, Focused Topics, and Next Steps 
 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this item is to provide an update on the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
(BVCP) 2015 Update and receive feedback on the foundational work to date (i.e., Trends 
Report, projections, fact sheets, and mapping); the community engagement plan and input so 
far; the initial focused topics for the BVCP update; and next steps for the 18-month project.  

Landmarks Board Role in the BVCP 
The BVCP is jointly adopted by the City of Boulder (“city”) (Planning Board and City Council) 
and Boulder County (“county”) (County Commissioners and Planning Commission).  While the 
Landmarks Board is not responsible for approving the plan, staff is seeking feedback and ideas 
from the board about relevant policy areas of the plan, including any policy topics related to 
historic preservation and the Historic Preservation Plan, as well as community engagement. The 
planning team will advance the feedback to the four approval bodies at their meetings in 
December 2015.   

Feedback 
Does the Landmarks Board have any questions about the foundational information (i.e., 
Community Profile, draft Trends Report, Subcommunity Fact Sheets, 2040 projections), or 
feedback about:  
 

1. Community engagement and next steps? 
2. Focused topics for the 2015 update and/or specific policy areas relevant to historic 

preservation? 
 

  

1 
 



BACKGROUND 
Plan Purpose and Joint Adoption 
The BVCP is the community’s plan for the future.  
The core components of the plan include policies and 
maps. The policies are intended to guide decisions about 
growth, development, preservation, environmental 
protection, economic development, affordable housing, 
culture and the arts, urban design, neighborhood 
character and transportation for the next 15 years. Two 
maps, namely the Land Use and Area I, II, III Maps, 
define the desired land-use pattern and location, type, 
and intensity of development.   
 
Despite its 15 year horizon, the BVCP is updated every 
five years to respond to changed circumstances or 
evolving community needs and priorities.   
 
Since the 1970s, the City of Boulder (“city”) (Planning 
Board and City Council) and Boulder County 
(“county”)(County Commissioners and Planning 
Commission) have adopted the plan jointly. The ongoing 
collaboration to address issues of shared concern is 
relatively unique among communities.    

2015 Update 
The webpage for the 2015 update and portal for 
interested participants to sign up for project updates is: 
www.bouldervalleycompplan.net. The webpage also includes a link to the 2010 plan and maps.  
The 2015 BVCP update will carry forward long-standing core values, as noted (above).  
Additionally, an updated plan will be able to more clearly and graphically convey the 
community’s vision; better align the city organization and its services; provide clear guidance 
and tools for implementation; and include metrics to monitor progress, among other goals for 
the update. 

Plan Implementation  
The plan is the overarching policy guide for 
the community.  As such, its policies tend to 
be less detailed than those that are found in 
the city’s 20+ master plans.  The BVCP is 
implemented through many means as shown 
in the graphic to the right.  The BVCP’s land 
use map sets parameters around future 
growth and guides development standards 
and zoning, and regulations in the Boulder 
Land Use Code are largely instrumental in 
guiding development to achieve plan goals 
consistent with the land use map.  The city 
and county closely adhere to the BVCP as 
guided by an intergovernmental agreement.   

BVCP Core Values 
(p. 9, 2010 Plan) 

 
1. Sustainability as a unifying 

framework to meet environmental, 
economic, and social goals 

2. A welcoming and inclusive 
community 

3. Culture of creativity and innovation 
4. Strong city and county cooperation 
5. A unique community identity and 

sense of place 
6. Compact, contiguous development 

and infill that supports evolution to a 
more sustainable urban form 

7. Open space preservation 
8. Great neighborhoods and public 

spaces 
9. Environmental stewardship and 

climate action 
10. A vibrant economy based on 

Boulder’s quality of life and economic 
strengths  

11. A diversity of housing types and 
price ranges 

12. An all-mode transportation system to 
make getting around without a car 
easy and accessible to everyone 

13. Physical health and well-being  
 
 

2 
 

http://www.bouldervalleycompplan.net/


Feedback and Input to date 
A summary of all the feedback to date, including input from boards and commissions, public 
events and online polls, and Board of County Commissioners (BOCC), Planning Board, 
Planning Commission, and City Council will be updated regularly and can be found on the 
project webpage.   
 
Staff also has met monthly with a BVCP Process Subcommittee (Elise Jones and Lieschen 
Gargano - Boulder County; Sam Weaver, Macon Cowles, John Gerstle, and Leonard May - City 
of Boulder) to brief them on Update progress and receive guidance on ways to effectively 
develop and implement public involvement opportunities. 

Work Plan and Schedule  
The project began earlier this year with focus on the technical foundational work and 
development of a community engagement plan and kick off events.  The plan process will 
continue through summer 2016.  Input and guidance received to-date from elected officials, 
boards and commissions, and the public has resulted in continual refinements to the process 
and approach for the 2015 BVCP update schedule.  The four phases will each entail extensive 
community dialogue and engagement. The project timeline is on the project webpage, here.   
 

Phase 1—Foundations and Community Engagement Plan (to August 2015)  
Phase 2—Issues Scoping with Community (through fall 2015) 
Phase 3—Analyze and Update Plan Policies and Maps (fall 2015 - early 2016) 
Phase 4—Prepare Draft Plan for Adoption, Extend IGA (to mid 2016) 

Implementation steps, such as changes to code and zoning map updates would be completed 
following plan adoption. 
 
During Phase 1—Foundations/Community Engagement Plan—the planning team is 
completing the background data collection, projections, Trends Report, creation of 
subcommunity fact sheets, and preparation for interactive, 3D, and visualization maps.     
 
The short Phase 2—Issues Identification—currently underway is aimed at working with the 
community to refine and solidify the priority issues to be addressed through the 2015 BVCP 
update through 2016.  
 
Phase 3—Plan Analysis and Updated Policies and Maps—is a longer phase starting in the 
fall aimed at doing the substantive work to develop choices and analysis for the plan update as 
well as the “housekeeping” updates to align it better with plans and policies.  Several 
events/milestones will provide opportunities for the community to help shape the plan.  
 
During this phase, the team will advance the 3D modeling and visualization tools to help convey 
conditions, options, and tradeoffs.  Policy refinements and additions (e.g., adding arts and 
culture, climate commitment policies, local foods, etc.) will also occur with community input.  
Gaps in metrics to measure plan outcomes will be identified and the full set of measurements 
further refined.  Finally, the Land Use Plan and Area maps will be updated, reflecting input and 
analysis from the public request process as well as scenarios and analysis.  
 
Finally, Phase 4—Draft Plan and IGA—will synthesize all the previous phase deliverables in a 
draft plan for consideration/adoption.  Additionally, the “Comprehensive Development Plan 
Intergovernmental Agreement” (IGA) between the city and county (valid through Dec. 31, 2017) 
will need to be updated before its expiration.      

3 
 

https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/2015-bvcp-update-background
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/2015-work-plan-boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-1-201508061058.pdf


Community Engagement 
The city and county are aiming for an open and engaging update process that is focused on 
critical issues.  The process should result in a useful, relevant, and updated plan completed in 
2016.  The update will entail extensive, authentic community dialogue and engagement as 
described in the Community Engagement Plan.  A Draft Community Engagement Plan can be 
found on the project webpage.  Staff has continued to refine the engagement plan based on 
feedback and has worked with a consultant, Heather Bergman to make improvements to it.  
Recent and ongoing engagement events include:   
 

• Kickoff Event - A communitywide “Boulder 2030” kickoff event was held on Monday, 
August 31 at Chautauqua.  The event included previews of videos and presentations 
about the plan and its role, information about current conditions and trends, interactive 
ways of capturing community input, and family activities.  About 225 members of the 
public attended the event, excluding staff and support personnel.  

• Culturally-Appropriate Engagement – Staff and decision-makers seek a meaningful 
engagement process with Boulder’s immigrant communities and culturally-appropriate 
venues and processes. The approach focuses on one-on-one conversations with 
community leaders and spokespeople, building on their knowledge and trust within the 
community; working with bilingual partners at events or “pop-up” meetings using 
comment forms in Spanish and English; partnering with Intercambio to get input from 
immigrant students in English classes.  

• Outreach with Civic, Businesses, and Community Groups - Staff is in the process of 
reaching out to civic, nonprofit, and other organizations and offering to have a city staff 
member join them to talk about the update process and hear input.   

• Pop-Up Meetings - “Pop-up” meetings in conjunction with events and at gathering 
places will occur around town in August and September.  Their purpose is to provide 
information, increase awareness about the plan process, invite people to engage, and 
ask initial questions about what people love and consider to be issues facing the 
community.   

• Youth Engagement – Some of the pop-up meetings and other events are geared for 
younger segments of the community – children, youth, and university students.  YOAB 
and Growing Up Boulder are partnering with the planning team.    

• BVCP Statistically Valid Survey – Staff with RRC Associates worked with the four 
approval bodies to develop a survey and get feedback in August.  In mid-September, 
RRC will be distributing the survey to 6,000 households with follow-up focus groups.  It is 
expected that results of the survey and focus groups will be available in November.   

• Boards and Commissions – the planning team will be updating city boards and 
commissions on the plan and inviting early input between September and December.  
Dates for meetings with boards and commissions are identified under “Next Steps.”  

• Local Listening Sessions – The city (and in some cases the county) will coordinate 
local listening sessions around the community in the fall to share the fact sheets and 
information about the local community and hear from community members about issues 
of relevance in different parts of the community.  The process committee will advise on 
best timing and locations for local listening sessions.  

• Data and Trends Discussions – The planning team also held several drop in sessions 
geared to allow discussion of the more technical aspects of the project -- data, trends, 
forecasts and maps.  
 

4 
 

https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan


 
ANALYSIS AND FOUNDATIONAL WORK 
This section highlights the work completed to date to aid in future conversations about the 2015 
plan update.   

Community Profile  
The 2015 Community Profile, partially updated in April and mostly complete as of Aug. 31, 
2015, provides a snapshot of the Boulder community. It can be found here.   

2040 Projections 
During each five year update, the city updates the long term (i.e., 25 year) projections for 
housing units and jobs.  Projections give a broad sense of what type, location, and pace of 
housing and jobs might occur communitywide based on current adopted policies—reflecting 
what could happen under current zoning and reasonable assumptions regarding demographic 
and household trends and economic growth. They help inform conversations about the kind of 
future Boulder wants and potential changes to current policies.  They do not represent a “given.”  
For example, in the past, the city has made changes to land uses – from commercial and 
industrial to mixed use and residential – based on the projections and community-defined 
priorities and desired future outcomes. Once the plan and projections are updated, city 
departments such as transportation, parks, and utilities use them to plan for system needs in 
long range master plans.    
 
Projections have their limitations for planning.  They are not particularly helpful when it comes to 
discussing quality or character of development or social issues (e.g., diversity, cost of housing, 
types of future jobs and incomes, etc.). Additionally, they are not useful at the site-specific level 
because the methods of calculation are based on broad assumptions.   
 
In general, the BVCP projections are based on a Geographic Information Systems model 
estimating capacity.  Attachment C contains the full report, maps, sources of data, and 
methodology that accompany the projections.  For additional details, refer to the 2015-2040 
BVCP Projections Methodology on www.BoulderValleyCompPlan.net.  
 
The 2040 projection results indicate existing housing units of 45,700 in the city limits; 104,800 
people, and 98,500 jobs in the city and potential by 2040 for almost 6,300 new future housing 
units (including almost 1,000 new CU housing units) in the city, 18,200 new people (including 
group quarters), and 18,500 new jobs.  Growth rates are based on an average residential rate of 
0.6% and an average non residential rate of 0.7% annually.  Current zoning allows greater 
capacity for jobs than housing, with housing reaching capacity by 2040 and an additional 34,200 
jobs possible beyond 2040.   

Subcommunity and Regional Fact Sheets   
The city and county have prepared a series of ten Fact Sheets: one for each of the nine Boulder 
subcommunities, and one for Area III (located outside of the city but within the BVCP planning 
area). The sheets document existing land use, facilities, and demographic conditions at the local 
level and include historic information.  Draft versions are on the project website and can be the 
basis for local Listening Sessions and focused planning at the local level to better understand 
needs that are more specific to localized areas rather than the entire Boulder Valley or citywide.   
The sheets are also being digitized to create online “stories” with interactive maps and data. 

Trends Report and Top Trends 
The Trends Report highlights Boulder’s trends and presents information at the city, county, and 
regional scales and organizes the information according to the sustainability framework. The 
5 
 

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/2015-boulder-community-profile-1-201508301152.pdf
http://www.bouldervalleycompplan.net/
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan


latest draft is online (available here) and incorporates input received from elected officials, 
boards, commissions, and city and county staff as well as some local agencies including the 
school district, CU, and others. For the community kickoff, the planning team distilled the cross-
cutting trends into the posters and in the presentation, and as summarized below.   
 

1. Boulder has Potential for Redevelopment—Mostly in the Northeastern Part of the 
Community   

2. Boulder Continues to be a Center for Employment in the Region   
3. Boulderites are Changing How they Travel – At least within the City  
4. The Community is Taking Action and Getting more Prepared for Climate Change and 

Other Threats 
5. Boulder’s Housing Types and Availability are Shifting Toward Multi-Family Units; Costs 

are Rising   
6. Population is Growing and Aging  
7. Social Disparities Exist; Some are Widening 
8. People Seek more Walkable Neighborhoods  
9. Healthy Living and Eating Continues as a Way of Life  
10. Quality of Life is High  

Interactive Mapping and 3D and Visualization 
The planning team is working with ESRI to develop online interactive story board maps for 
different parts of the community.  Online maps will have the ability to display different conditions 
and data as well as 3D buildings and topography.  These maps can be the basis for scenario 
testing and analysis and visualization later in the planning process.  

Focused Topics for the 2015 Update 
At previous meetings of the Planning Board, Planning Commission, City Council, and the Board 
of County Commissioners have continually refined a list of focused topics for the 2015 Plan 
update.  Some of the initial ideas evolved from findings of the Consultant Report from late 
2014/early 2015 which incorporated feedback from several city boards, and the most recent 
community kickoff helped to further shape the topics, which generally are noted below. 

“21st Century” Opportunities and Challenges 
The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan will integrate with other plans, initiatives, and emerging 
issues including: 

• Aging Population – Age-friendly community (i.e., programs and policies to address 
anticipated needs of an aging population by 2040) 

• Arts and Culture (e.g., policies from the Community Cultural Plan, work of the library, 
and other programs)  

• Biodiversity (e.g., policies from urban wildlife, integrated pest management, and open 
space programs)  

• Climate Action and Alternative Energy (e.g., policies and goals relating to the Climate 
Action plan and renewable energy goals)  

• Community character – diversity (i.e., goals emerging from the Design Excellence 
project and Form Based Code pilot)   

• Local Food (e.g., improving upon existing goals in the plan and incorporating new 
initiatives and programs relating to health, wellness, and local foods).  

• Resilience / Regional issues (i.e., incorporating work from the 100 Resilient Cities 
grant program and coordination with the city’s Chief Resilience Officer)  

6 
 

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/BVCP_2015_Update_Trends_Report-1-201508251716.pdf


Growth Management and Livability/Housing 
The city and county may identify possible changes to the land use map in focused areas or 
policies to accomplish community goals such as housing or growth management, or to adjust 
the jobs and housing mix.  Questions to address include but are not limited to: What should be 
the future mix and rate of growth of jobs and housing?  Where are appropriate locations for 
future housing and what types are needed to address “missing middle” income ranges? 

Neighborhoods and Character 
The city has been hearing a lot of interest from neighborhoods in the past year to improve 
communications, address land use incompatibilities, and address other service and 
infrastructure needs.  The BVCP update can potentially address topics such as:  Are there 
additional policies to preserve existing neighborhoods and housing?  What programs, services, 
and infrastructure might be necessary to improve neighborhoods lacking such services?  How 
can neighborhoods be more resilient and communicate better in times of emergency?   

Improve Plan Document / Update IGA  
Additionally, the 2015 BVCP plan can become one that:   

• retains its long standing values but that contains a clearer, more graphic vision and 
values; 

• has stronger links between the policies and actions and implementation; and  
• is measurable with metrics and tied to data.     

 
Renewal of the City/County Intergovernmental Agreement should also occur and be initiated 
well in advance of its expiration on Dec. 31, 2017.  
 
NEXT STEPS 
Mid-Sept. Survey invitation mailed to 6,000 households; survey available online  
Oct. 2  Change request period closes and staff begins review and analysis of requests 
Mid-Oct.  Survey focus groups 
Nov/Dec Local listening tour around different parts of Boulder Valley 
Dec. 15  Joint Study Session of the City Council and Planning Board  to discuss Survey 

and focus group results; initial screening of requests; and focused topics for plan 
options and analysis  

Dec./Jan. (TBD) Discussion with Planning Commission and Board of County 
Commissioners 

 
Upcoming City Boards and Commissions: 
Sept. 28 Parks and Recreation Advisory Board (PRAB) 
Oct. 5 Downtown Management Commission (DMC) 
Oct. 7 Landmarks Board 
Oct. 7  Environmental Advisory Board (EAB) 
Oct. 7 Boulder Design Advisory Board 
Oct. 12 Transportation Advisory Board (TAB) 
Oct. 14 Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) 
Oct. 19 Human Relations Board (HRC) 
Oct. 21  Boulder Arts Commission (BAC)  
Nov. 16 Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) 
Dec. 2 Library Commission 
 

 

7 
 



DATE:  October 7th, 2015    

TO:   Landmarks Board 

FROM:  James Hewat, Marcy Cameron 

SUBJECT:  Update Memo 

 

 

Landmarks Board Appointments 

On September 15th, the City Council appointed George Clements (design professional) and 

Brianna Butler (member at large) to the Landmarks Board. Welcome George and Brianna!  

 

747 12th Street – Landmark Designation 

The landmark designation and lot subdivision of 747 12th St. was approved by the City Council 

at its September 1st, 2015 meeting. Update at meeting.   

 

University Hill Commercial District Open House 

Staff is working to submit a Determination of Eligibility for the district. Update at meeting.  

 

Certified Local Government Grant – Historic Resource Survey Plan  

We have a signed contract with History Colorado for funding to hire a consultant to assist in the 

preparation of a Historic resource Survey Plan. Update at meeting. 

 

Chautauqua Pedestrian Improvements 

See attached. 

 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Update 

See attached. 

 

Comprehensive Planning and Sustainability Calendar 

See attached. 
 

 



Monthly Planner

Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri

1
CC Meeting, 6 p.m. in CC

*Study Session Summary for 8/11 
Form-Based Code Pilot (S. Assefa)

*1st reading annexation ordinance for 3 
properties (B. Johnson/C. Meschuk)

*1st reading Building Performance 
Ordinance (K. Tupper)

*Declaration of September 2015 as 
Boulder Pollinator Appreciation Month(R. 
Abernathy)

*747 12th Street Landmarking (J. Hewat)

*Call-up: 2775 ValmontRoad (B oulder 
Food Park) use Review (C. Van Sc haack)

2
PB Meeting, 5pm in CC

*SPARK Site Review (E. 
McLaughlin)

LB, 6 p.m. in Chautauqua

Community House

EAB 6-8pm, 1777 West

Conference Room

3
PB Meeting, 3pm in CC

*SPARK Site Review Continuation 
(E. McLaughlin)

4

7

CITY HOLIDAY

8
CC SS, 6 p.m. in CC

9 10
BOZA Meeting, 5 p.m. in

CC

11
Design

Guidelines

Working Group

Mtg, 3 - 5PM,

Park Central 401,

1739 Broadway

14
DMC Mtg, 5:30 p.m.,

1777 West Conference

Room

15
CC Meeting, 6 p.m. in CC

*Study Session Summary for 7/30 
Climate Committment item(B. 
KenCairn)

*IP: Call-up 2440 & 2490 Junction Pl.
- Site Review & Use Review (C. Van 
Schaack)

*747 12thStreet Landmarking (J. 
Hewat)

*IP: Call-up 5530 Spine Rd/Alexan 
Gunbarrel Apts. Use Re view (C. Van 
Schaack)

16
Design tour of recent

downtown buildings for

PB, LB, BDAB, DMC &

CC, 10:30 a.m. - 1:30

p.m., 1918 13th Street

UHCAMC, 4-6pm, 1777

West Conference Room

17
BJAD, 4-6 p.m., 1777 West Conf.

Room

BVCP Joint Mtg with PB & Planning
Commission, West Snr. Center, 5:30

p.m.

PB Meeting, 5:30pm, West Senior
Center

*Civic Area C.E.A.P (S. Assefa)

*BVCP Update (L. Ellis)

CC SS, 6 p.m. in CC

*Mobile Home Policy (J. Sugnet)

*Resilience Strategy Study Session (G.
Guibert)

18

21
AMPS Joint Mtg with PB, TAB,
EAB & Planning Commissions,
First Pres. Church, Oerter Hall,

6-8 p.m.

Design Guidelines Working Group
Mtg, 11:00am - 1:00 pm, Boulder
Creek Meeting RM, Main Library

1001 Arapahoe Ave.

FBC Working Group, 1:30-3 p.m.
in Boulder Library Boulder Creek

Room

22 23
BDAB, 4 p.m. in Boulder

Library Arapahoe

Conference Room

24 25

28
AMPS Open House, Shine
Restaurant & Gathering

Place, 5-7 p.m.

FBC Working Group,

2-4 p.m. in Park

Central, Conf Room

401

29
Special CC Meeting, 6p.m.

in CC

*2nd reading Building Performance 
Ordinance (K. Tupper )

*Marijuana Ordinance

30
Aug 2015

M T W T F S S
1 2

3 4 5 6 7 8 9
10 11 12 13 14 15 16
17 18 19 20 21 22 23
24 25 26 27 28 29 30
31

Oct 2015
M T W T F S S

1 2 3 4
5 6 7 8 9 10 11
12 13 14 15 16 17 18
19 20 21 22 23 24 25
26 27 28 29 30 31

September 2015
Planning, Housing and Sustainability Departmental Calendar

Amended: September 24, 2015

Last Planning Board Meeting: September 17, 2015



Monthly Planner

Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri

1
PB Meeting, 6pm in CC

*2801 Jay Rd. (S. Walbert)

*3303 Broadway Concept Plan 
(S. Walbert)

2

5
DMC Mtg, 5:30 p.m.,

CC

6
CC Meeting, 6 p.m. in CC

*2nd reading annexation ordinance for 3 
properties (B. Johnson/C. Meschuk)

*Call-up: Vacation of Street Light 
Easement at 3295 Longwood Ave (S. 
Wal bert)

*1st Reading Designate 2322 23rd Street 
as Local Historical Landmark (J. Hewat)

*7/30 West Fourmile/Ponderosa Study 
Session Summary  (C. Meschuk)

*Call-up: 3390 ValmontS 'PARK Site 
Review Approval (E. McLaughlin)

*TVAP Connections Plan (E. McLaughlin)

7
BDAB, 4 p.m. in Park

Central 401 Conference

Room

LB, 6 p.m. in CC

EAB 6-8pm, 1777 West

Conference Room

8
BOZA Meeting, 5 p.m. in

CC

9

12
Design Guidelines

Working Group Mtg,

11:00am - 1:00 pm,

Fishbowl Conf Rm,

1777 Broadway

13
CC SS, 6 p.m. in CC

*Boulder JunctionUpdate (D. Driskell)

*Briefing: Development Fee Study (S. 
Richstone)

14
BDAB Retreat, 4-7 p.m.,

Wild Sage Common

House - 1650 Zamia St.

15
BJAD, 4-6 p.m., 1777

West Conf. Room

PB Meeting, 6pm in CC

*2751 30th St. Concept Plan 
Review (C. VanSchaak)

*AMPS (J. Sugnet)

*Meadows Club expansion at 
5555 Racquet Ln. Site and Use 
Review (C. VanSchaak)

16

19 20
CC Meeting, 6 p.m. in CC

*2nd Reading Designate 2322 23rd 
Street as Local Historical Landmark 
(J. Hewat)

*3rdRdg Building Performance 
Ordinance (K. Tupper )

*Study Session Summary for 9/17 
Resilience Strategy (G. Guibert)

21
UHCAMC, 4-6pm, 1777

West Conference Room

22
PB Study Session, 3-6

Open House, PB Meeting

6pm in CC

*Housing Boulder Action Plan 
Update (D. Driskell)

*Planning Board discussion of 
Draft Form-Based Code for 
Boulder Junction Phase I (S. 
Assefa, K. Guiler)

23

26 27
CC SS, 6 p.m. in CC

28
Design Guidelines

Working Group Mtg,

11:00am - 1:00 pm,

Boulder Creek Meeting

Rm, Main Library, 1001

Arapahoe Ave.

29
Tentative: PB Meeting,

6pm in CC

*Planning Board discussion of 
Draft Form-Based Code for 
Boulder Junction Phase I (S. 
Assefa, K. Guiler)

30

Sep 2015

M T W T F S S

1 2 3 4 5 6

7 8 9 10 11 12 13

14 15 16 17 18 19 20

21 22 23 24 25 26 27

28 29 30

Nov 2015

M T W T F S S

1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8

9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22

23 24 25 26 27 28 29

30

October 2015



Monthly Planner

Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri

2
DMC Mtg, 5:30 p.m.,

CC

3
CC Meeting Cancelled -

Election Day

4
LB, 6 p.m. in CC

EAB 6-8pm, 1777 West

Conference Room

5
PB Meeting, 6pm in CC

*2560 28th St. Rezoning             
(C. VanSchaack)

*311 Mapleton (BCH Mapleton 
Campus) Concept Plan (E. 
McLaughlin)

6

9 10
CC Meeting, 6 p.m. in CC

*Boulder Civic Ar ea Pha se I Park 
Development Community 
Environmental AssessmentProcess 
(CEAP) (J. Haley)

*1st Reading Rezone 0.8 Acre of 38 5
S Broadway (E. McLaughlin)

*SS Summary - Boulder Junction 
Update (E. Ameigh/D. Driskell)

*Zero Waste Str ategic P lan ( J. 
Harkins)

11
CITY HOLIDAY

12
BOZA Meeting, 5 p.m. in

CC

CC SS, 6 p.m. in CC

*AMPS (J. Sugnet)

13

16 17
CC Meeting, 6 p.m. in CC

*1st reading Ordinance and draft 
FormBased Code (K. Guiler)

18
UHCAMC, 4-6pm, 1777

West Conference Room

19
BJAD, 4-6 p.m., 1777

West Conf. Room

*4525 Palo Pkwy Anne x &  
Concept Plan(S. Walbert)

*Consideration of anOrdinance to 
Adopt FBC (S. Assefa , K. Guile r)

20

23 24
CC SS Cancelled

25 26
CITY HOLIDAY

27

30
Oct 2015

M T W T F S S
1 2 3 4

5 6 7 8 9 10 11
12 13 14 15 16 17 18
19 20 21 22 23 24 25
26 27 28 29 30 31

Dec 2015
M T W T F S S

1 2 3 4 5 6
7 8 9 10 11 12 13

14 15 16 17 18 19 20
21 22 23 24 25 26 27
28 29 30 31

November 2015



Monthly Planner

Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri

1
CC Meeting, 6 p.m. in CC

*2nd reading Ordinance and draft 
FormBased Code (K. Guiler)

*2nd Reading Rezone 0.8 Acre of 
385 S Broadway (E. McLaughlin)

2
LB, 6 p.m. in CC

EAB 6-8pm, 1777 West

Conference Room

3
PB Meeting, 6pm in CC

*90 ArapahoeAnnex (E. 
McLaughlin)

4

7
DMC Mtg, 5:30 p.m.,

CC

8
CC SS, 6 p.m. in CC

9
BDAB, 4 p.m. in 1777

West Conference Room

10
BOZA Meeting, 5 p.m. in

CC

11

14 15
Joint CC/PB Meeting, 6

p.m. in CC

*BVCP Update (L. Ellis)

16
UHCAMC, 4-6pm, 1777

West Conference Room

17
BJAD, 4-6 p.m., 1777

West Conf. Room

PB Meeting, 6pm in CC

*BVCP Update (L. Ellis)

18

21 22
CC SS Cancelled

23 24
CITY HOLIDAY

1 - 5PM

25
CITY HOLIDAY

28 29
CC SS Cancelled

30 31
CITY HOLIDAY

1 - 5PM

Nov 2015

M T W T F S S

1

2 3 4 5 6 7 8

9 10 11 12 13 14 15

16 17 18 19 20 21 22

23 24 25 26 27 28 29

30

Jan 2016
M T W T F S S

1 2 3
4 5 6 7 8 9 10
11121314151617
18192021222324
25262728293031

December 2015



Monthly Planner

Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri

1
CITY HOLIDAY

4 5
CC Meeting, 6 p.m. in CC

6
LB, 6 p.m. in CC

7
PB Meeting, 6pm in CC

8

11 12
CC SS, 6 p.m. in CC

13
BDAB, 4 p.m. in 1777

West Conference Room

14
BOZA Meeting, 5 p.m. in

CC

15

18 19
CC Meeting, 6 p.m. in CC

20 21
PB Meeting, 6pm in CC

22

25 26
CC SS, 6 p.m. in CC

27 28 29

Dec 2015

M T W T F S S

1 2 3 4 5 6

7 8 9 10 11 12 13

14 15 16 17 18 19 20

21 22 23 24 25 26 27

28 29 30 31

Feb 2016

M T W T F S S

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

8 9 10 11 12 13 14

15 16 17 18 19 20 21

22 23 24 25 26 27 28

29

January 2016


	10.07.2015 LB meeting agenda
	PUBLIC HEARING PROCEDURES

	Item 2 - 9.2.15 DRAFT LB Minutes
	September 2, 2015
	900 Baseline Road, Chautauqua Community House
	6:00 p.m.
	BOARD MEMBERS:
	STAFF MEMBERS:
	Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney
	James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner
	Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner
	Public Hearing
	Abby Daniels, 1123 Spruce Street, Director of Historic Boulder, spoke in support of landmark designation.
	Kathryn Barth, 2940 20th Street, spoke in support of landmark designation.
	Motion

	Item 4 - Statistical report
	Item 5A - 410 Highland Ave
	TO:   Landmarks Board
	PROPOSED RELOCATION OF EXISTING GARAGE
	CRITERIA FOR THE BOARD’S DECISION
	ANALYSIS
	DESIGN GUIDELINES ANALYSIS:


	Item 5B - 800 Arapahoe Ave
	Item 5C - 1236 Canyon Blvd Bandshell
	Item 6A - Chautauqua Improvements_Proposed_Preliminary_Design
	Item 6A - Chautauqua sidewalk_project narratives
	Executive Summary and Recommendation
	Impacts, Feedback, Background & Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A - Ordinance
	Attachment G - Chautauqua Improvements PAYGO attachment for July 22
	Attachment G-1 - Baseline West-Chautauqua Concept Design
	Attachment G-2 - Master Exterior Lighting Plan
	Attachment G-3 - CCA_Master_Signage_Plan
	Attachment J - .28 Temp Sales and Use Tax Option
	Attachment K - .27 Temp Sales and Use Tax Option

	Item 6A - Chautauqua-Information-Sheet-Final-091615
	Item 6B - BVCP update
	City of Boulder  MEMORANDUM
	PURPOSE
	Landmarks Board Role in the BVCP
	Feedback

	BACKGROUND
	Plan Purpose and Joint Adoption
	2015 Update
	Plan Implementation
	Feedback and Input to date
	Work Plan and Schedule
	Community Engagement

	BVCP Core Values
	(p. 9, 2010 Plan)
	ANALYSIS AND FOUNDATIONAL WORK
	Community Profile
	2040 Projections
	Subcommunity and Regional Fact Sheets
	Trends Report and Top Trends
	Interactive Mapping and 3D and Visualization

	Focused Topics for the 2015 Update
	“21st Century” Opportunities and Challenges
	Growth Management and Livability/Housing
	Neighborhoods and Character
	Improve Plan Document / Update IGA

	NEXT STEPS

	Item 6C - Update memo
	Item 7 - Calendar



